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1INTRODUCTION 
AND WELCOME

Ocean Reef Marina. Artist impression only



1.1 ABOUT DEVELOPMENTWA
DevelopmentWA is a Government Trading 
Enterprise established in September 2019  
through the merger of LandCorp and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority.

We operate under the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 to provide, oversee and enable 
the revitalisation of land, infrastructure, facilities and services for the social and 
economic needs of the State.

DevelopmentWA is managed via an independent Board of Directors and reports 
to Parliament through the Minister for Finance; Lands; Sport and Recreation; 
Citizenship and Multicultural Interests.

1.2 ABOUT THIS REPORT
This report presents our performance for the financial year 1 July 2020 to  
30 June 2021 and adheres to the requirements set out in the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992 and Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the Government of Western 
Australia Public Sector Commission Annual Reporting Framework.

This Annual Report sits alongside the 2020-21 Sustainability Report, which uses 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards to assess our social, economic and 
environmental performance across the State. 
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1.3 MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHAIRPERSON
This annual report provides a 
very complete account of the role 
DevelopmentWA plays across the 
Western Australian community. 

The document also provides a narrative 
on the way in which the organisation 
invests to meet the future challenges of  
a big state. 

A strong and timely government 
response has assisted the Western 
Australian economy to adjust to COVID-19 
pandemic challenges across the State. 
DevelopmentWA has been pleased to 
have played its part through supporting 
or facilitating economic stimulus and job-
creation measures.

Specifically, DevelopmentWA’s 
charter enables us to play a critical 
role in delivering more affordable land 
in regional areas to help boost local 
economies, drive business investment, 
and support local jobs in the building 
and construction sectors, as well as 
supporting vital sectors such as transport 
and logistics. 

The privilege of our role connects us to a 
hugely diverse portfolio of projects right 
across the State, from Broome North 
in the Kimberley to Middleton Beach in 
the Great Southern region. Our work 
includes the development of exciting 
new coastal precincts like Ocean Reef 
Marina, the revitalisation of landmark 
locations at Subi East and the East Perth 
Power Station, planning for METRONET 
precincts like the area surrounding the 
new Bayswater Station, and the growth 
of strategically important industrial hubs 
including the Australian Marine Complex, 
Peel Business Park and a new Automation 
and Robotics Precinct at Neerabup. 

We are also continuing to reshape our 
organisation by progressing the transfer 
of the Department of Communities’ land 

development and associated commercial 
functions. This step, part of government 
reform to ensure stronger financial 
accountability and transparency controls, 
will significantly increase the reach of 
our portfolio across the State and ensure 
we can continue to play a significant role 
in delivering a range of valued housing 
outcomes for all Western Australians.

This year, we have welcomed a new 
Minister for Lands, with the Hon. Dr 
Tony Buti MLA stepping into the role in 
March 2021 following the retirement of 
his predecessor, the Hon. Ben Wyatt 
MLA. Former Minister Wyatt and Minister 
Buti – together with the Minister for 
Planning, Transport and Ports, the Hon. 
Rita Saffioti MLA – have provided strong 
leadership for DevelopmentWA through 
a time of great change, and I would like 
to acknowledge and thank them all for 
their vital contribution and for the role the 
agency plays.

The achievements of the past 12 months 
are the result of a tremendous effort 
from an extensive network of people 
and partner organisations.  My sincere 
thanks go to my fellow Directors, the CEO 
Frank Marra and the DevelopmentWA 
Executive and particularly the men and 
women of our workforce for their energy 
and focus during this challenging time. 
I am also very grateful to our partners, 
stakeholders and suppliers for their 
contribution, collaboration and  
ongoing support. 

I also want to acknowledge the 
contribution of Simon Read who retires 
from the Board with effect from  
1 September. Simon has chaired the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee since 
2010. He has been pivotal in strengthening 
the commercial, risk and audit disciplines 
that underpin our approach to corporate 
stewardship. These are key elements, 

systems and capabilities that ensure the 
financial health and sustainability of the 
work we perform for government.

Reflecting on the past decade, I firmly 
believe there is no better place to live, 
work or invest than Western Australia. 

As my time in the DevelopmentWA 
boardroom also concludes with this 
report, I am quietly confident that the 
agile capabilities, strong values and 
expertise described in this report and 
represented by the organisation position 
it to continue to play a valued and 
influential role across the state.

George McCullagh – Chair
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1.4 MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
What a difference 12 months makes. 
Where this time last year there was 
considerable uncertainty about how the 
COVID-19 pandemic would impact our 
State, there is now renewed optimism, 
confidence and drive to restart, reshape 
and revitalise Western Australia.

Following the merger of LandCorp 
and the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority in September 2019 and the 
ongoing integration of staff and projects 
from the Department of Communities, 
DevelopmentWA introduced a new 
organisational structure in December 
2020.  

This new structure, along with the $547 
million in assets from the Department of 
Communities, positions DevelopmentWA 
to better respond to market conditions 
and Government priorities, particularly 
the supply of affordable and social 
housing.

As part of the State’s comprehensive 
response to COVID-19, DevelopmentWA 
is delivering almost $300 million in 
additional projects and incentives to help 
drive economic recovery and support a 
pipeline of new jobs.  

A key part of this response is the Regional 
Land Booster program which has allowed 
us to reset our regional land portfolio 
with a combined $116 million in incentives 
offered across 1,095 development-ready 
industrial, commercial and residential 
lots in regional areas across the State. 

This initiative has delivered fantastic 
results, with 290 lots contracted to date 
across 42 regional towns. Significant 
sales have been achieved in Karratha, and 
lots transacted in a number of smaller 
regional towns – some of which had seen 
no sales activity in several years. The 
flow-on effects of these sales will benefit 
our regions for years to come by growing 
communities, creating jobs and boosting 
local economies.

Across the State, we’re continuing to 
drive and deliver a range of major projects 

across our residential, commercial and 
industrial portfolios.

On the banks of the Swan River, plans for 
the revitalisation of the East Perth Power 
Station are moving forward to spark 
new life into this historic landmark. On 
the doorstep of the Perth CBD the Subi 
East redevelopment is taking shape, 
with demolition of Princess Margaret 
Hospital well underway and the first 
lots set to come to market before the 
end of the year. The Subi East Master 
Plan was finalised in October 2020 
following the most comprehensive 
engagement process ever undertaken 
by DevelopmentWA.  This extraordinary 
urban renewal will revitalise the gateway 
between Subiaco and the CBD and raise 
the bar on planning and design for inner-
city living. 

Looking to the coast, the world-class 
Ocean Reef Marina development 
is progressing well, with the two 
marina breakwaters currently under 
construction and expected to be 
complete by the end of 2022.  To the 
north, Alkimos Central city centre is set 
to completely revolutionise the area as 
a transit-focused, pedestrian-friendly 
hub, underpinned by the future Alkimos 
station being delivered by METRONET. 

At Middleton Beach in Albany, a hotel 
proponent has been secured and works 
are underway on the Middleton Beach 
activity centre including our innovative 
Duettes product, which will demonstrate 
homes with flexible living and working 
spaces.  In the Kimberly region, Broome 
North continues to develop into a thriving 
and sustainable community, with the 
Waranyjarri Estate recognised as WA’s 
only Envirodevelopment and Waterwise 
accredited regional development.

DevelopmentWA’s Industrial Lands 
Authority (ILA) has also been incredibly 
busy this year, driving projects of 
strategic importance to our State. At the 
world-class Australian Marine Complex 
(AMC) in Henderson, an $87.6 million State 

Government-funded investment will 
see a major wharf upgrade, new vessel 
transfer path, road intersection upgrades 
and a new shipbuilding hall – creating 
almost 600 local jobs and positioning 
Western Australia to secure high value 
future defence industry projects.

In the regions, Peel Business Park is 
a great example of the work the ILA 
does in supplying strategically-located 
industrial land to support WA’s economic 
prosperity. Stage 1 at this innovative 
estate is now complete, with businesses 
benefiting from more than $20 million in 
major infrastructure extension works, 
and we are now engaging with industry on 
Stage 2. 

I would like to thank our Chairman George 
McCullagh, Board Directors and the 
whole team at DevelopmentWA for their 
dedication and tireless efforts through 
the most challenging of years in recent 
memory. My sincere thanks also go to 
our valued partners – from our leaders in 
State Government through to industry 
and the communities in which we work. 
The outcomes we have delivered in the 
past year are something to be proud 
of, and could not have been achieved 
without your continued support.

The future for Western Australia is bright. 
We look forward to continuing to shape it 
together.

Frank Marra - Chief Executive
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2PURPOSE

Smart Sun Pilot, Broome North.



2 2.1 OUR VISION AND VALUES
SHAPING OUR STATE’S FUTURE
Operating throughout Western Australia, DevelopmentWA has a unique capacity to 
shape and create sustainable communities and deliver projects for tomorrow.

As the WA Government’s central development agency, we are focused on working 
closely with industry and the community to deliver our strategic objectives.

We partner with the private sector, ensuring our State is positioned for growth by 
creating great places for people to live, work, visit and do business.

Our people are at the heart of everything we do. Their skill and expertise ensure 
DevelopmentWA remains a highly capable, innovative and solutions-focused 
organisation.

Our Values

Our values are central to our culture, underpinning the way we work and guiding our 
relationships with each other, our partners, stakeholders and customers.  Developed 
in early 2021, our new values of Brilliance, Alliance, Courage and Integrity reflect the 
collective principles of our organisation.

BRILLIANCE
Always Striving.  
Never Settling.

We relentlessly pursue 
brilliance in all aspects of 
our work. Our agility drives a 
solutions-focused, can-do 
approach to challenges.

ALLIANCE
Stronger Together.

Our strength comes from our 
diversity. We engage, listen 
and learn from each other, the 
community, our stakeholders, 
suppliers and partners. We 
are strongest when we work 
together.

COURAGE
Backing Ourselves  
& Each Other.

We lead through our Collective 
commitment to innovation 
and action. We bring a can-
do attitude and dedication to 
our work, our goals and our 
culture. Always seeking new 
perspectives and exploring  
new ways of thinking. 

INTEGRITY
Integrity at our Core.

Integrity is reflected in 
everything we do. Each and 
every day. We are unwavering 
in our commitment 
to transparency and 
professionalism.
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2.2 OPERATING  
ENVIRONMENT
The 2020-21 financial year was challenging across the globe, with the health, 
economic and social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic taking its toll.  

The global economy has experienced a severe downturn as countries seek to 
contain the virus and, although not as severely impacted by the virus as other 
countries, the Australian economy is experiencing the biggest contraction since 
the 1930s.  

However, through effective containment of the virus coupled with targeted 
stimulus measures, the Western Australian economy fared relatively well over  
the year.  

During the year, Western Australia enjoyed minimal restrictions which saw 
comparatively strong consumer spending, with domestic and international border 
restrictions leading to a drop in the unemployment rate to 4.7 per cent.  

Through the WA Recovery Plan, the State Government has committed to a range 
of rail, road, health and other infrastructure projects, ensuring a strong pipeline 
of construction activity. The performance of the manufacturing industry also 
improved over the year, particularly in the machinery and equipment, building 
materials and chemicals sectors.

The increase in work and study from home arrangements resulted in reduced 
demand for office space and education facilities. However, the number of 
residential building approvals increased significantly, thanks to low interest rates 
and government stimulus grants.

FUTURE DIRECTION – GOVERNMENT REFORM
On 25 November 2019, the Premier of Western Australia announced reform 
measures to improve accountability and transparency in the Western Australian 
public sector.  This included separation of a portion of the Housing Authority, 
with land development and related commercial functions to be merged with 
DevelopmentWA.  

The first phase included the transfer of englobo land assets and Tranche 1 land 
development projects totalling $136 million.  This occurred on 16 February 2021 
and comprised approximately 500 undeveloped land bank assets and land 
development projects with no private equity, including Allure Estate, The Amble 
Estate, Jindowie and Clydesdale Park.

The second phase comprised the Housing Authority’s remaining commercial land 
development projects, assets and functions, including Banksia Grove, Brabham, 
Byford, Cassia, Dalyellup Beach, East Green, Ellenbrook, Golden Bay, Harrisdale 
Green, Ocean Springs, Oyster Harbour, Seacrest and Wellard.  This transfer of 
approximately $411 million in assets occurred on 1 July 2021.

As part of these reforms, DevelopmentWA will continue to work with the 
Department of Communities to ensure the State’s social and affordable housing 
needs are met.  A dedicated steering committee has been established to support 
the coordination of land and social housing delivery. 

OneOneFive Hamilton Hill. Artist impression only
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2.3 OUR STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES
WHAT WE DELIVER FOR 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA
DevelopmentWA is focused on four 
strategic objectives to deliver the 
transformative projects that support 
the social and economic prosperity of 
Western Australia.

Sustainable Communities 

Planning and developing high quality 
major projects, transport-oriented 
development, urban regeneration 
projects, rail station precincts and 
affordable land options for new 
communities.

Prosperous Industry

Facilitating economic diversification 
and jobs growth in industrial areas 
throughout Western Australia.

Resilient Regions 

Working with stakeholders across the 
State to deliver projects and land for 
growing communities which support 
regional economic development and job 
creation.

Capable and Innovative Organisation

Creating a culture of innovation that 
is creative, collaborative, solutions-

focused and pursues continuous 
improvement. Supporting high 
capability and capacity through solid 
commercial and financial disciplines, an 
excellent workforce, robust systems, 
and strong stakeholder and community 
support. 

We are well positioned to deliver 
on projects that support the State 
Government’s priorities of developing a 
strong economy, investing in our future, 
creating liveable environments and safe 
communities. 

Our vision also aligns with the 
Government’s focus on achieving 
real change and better outcomes for 
Aboriginal Western Australians and 
building thriving, sustainable regional 
communities. 

PLANNING AND 
REVITALISATION
Under the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Act 2011, we direct, oversee 
and enable land revitalisation within five 
redevelopment areas: Central Perth, 
Armadale, Midland, Scarborough and 
Subiaco.

Within these areas – in consultation with 
local governments and communities – 
we assess development applications 
and create planning schemes, Design 
Guidelines, policies and frameworks 
to deliver on the vision of the 
redevelopment areas.

In 2020-21, 188 Development 
Applications were approved, totalling 
$844.3 million. These included a 58 and 
21 storey mixed-use development at 
Elizabeth Quay; the Subi East Public 
Realm, Stage 2 of Bob Hawke College 
and 132 new residential dwellings – 
including a 5-storey development – in 
Subiaco; a 24-storey Build-to-Rent 
development in Scarborough; and a 
Lifestyle Village, comprising 97 new 
dwellings, in Wungong.

Perth City Link. Artist impression only
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Armadale

Wungong

Alkimos Central
Alkimos Vista

Champion Lakes

Kwinana Education Precinct

Rockingham City Centre

Cockburn Central West

Jindowie, Yanchep

Allara, Eglinton

Murdoch Health and Knowledge Precinct

Kensington Mixed Use Precinct

Ocean Reef Marina

Airport Link, Forrestfield

Joondalup CBD 

Highland Range, Jane Brook

Bushmead

Midland

Claremont on the Park

Montario Quarter, Shenton Park
Subi East

Alkimos Beach

Redcliffe

Shoreline, Cockburn Coast

Seville Grove

Kelmscott

Mandurah Junction

Karnup

Port Kennedy

The Amble, Girrawheen

Sugargum Estate, Kiara

Cannington
Bentley 360

Allure, Ferndale

OneOneFive, Hamilton Hill

Knutsford Precinct

WGV @ White Gum Valley
East Village, Fremantle

Yanchep

Waterbank

East Perth Power Station

Elizabeth Quay

Perth City Link

Scarborough

Banksia Grove

Sienna Wood, Hilbert/Haynes

Mahala Estate, Forrestdale 

Kara, Treeby

The Village at Wellard

Golden Bay

Harrisdale Green

Toreopango, Yanchep

BrabhamEast Green, Greenwood

Beenyup Grove, Byford

Burt Street, Fremantle

Folio 195, Perth

Brighton Estate, Butler

Eden Beach, Butler

Ellenbrook

Casuarina

Cassia Rise, Parmelia

Cassia Glades, Kwinana

Cassia North,
Parmelia

Access Park, Forrestfield

Kwinana Industrial Area

Rockingham Industry Zone

Australian Marine Complex

Pinjarra Industrial

Meridian Park, Neerabup

The Quadrangle

Cockburn Commercial Park

Nambeelup

Forrestdale, Business Park West

Bellevue

Latitude 32 Industry Zone
Crossroads Industrial

LEGEND
 Residential/Mixed-use

 Assets from Department  
 of Communities

 Industrial

PERTH METROPOLITAN 
PROJECTS

This plan shows some of the projects in 
which DevelopmentWA is constructing, 
planning or investigating future land 
releases as of JULY 2021.

Not all projects have been committed to.



PROJECTS WITHIN THE PERTH 
METROPOLITAN AREA

STATEWIDE 
OPERATIONS

Kimberley

Pilbara

Gascoyne

Mid West

Goldfields-Esperance

Wheatbelt

Great SouthernSouth West

Port Hedland

Bunbury

PERTH
KIMBERLEY

  Blue Haze Industrial
  Browse LNG Precinct
  Broome North Waranyjarri Estate
  Broome North Gurjarra
  Broome Road Industrial Park
   Halls Creek
  Kununurra, Coolibah Estate
  Kununurra, Lakeside Park
  Weaber Plain Light Industrial, 
Kununurra

PILBARA 
  Anketell SIA
  Ashburton North SIA - Onslow
  Baynton West, Winyana Road
  Boodarie SIA
  Burrup SIA
  Gap Ridge Industrial Estate
  Gap Ridge Homemaker Centre
  Hedland Junction, Wedgefield 
Industrial Estate

  Karratha City Centre
  Madigan at Baynton West
  Mulataga
  Newman Horizons
  Newman LIA
  Newman Town Centre
  Onslow, Barrarda Estate
  Port Hedland East
  South Hedland Osprey
    South Hedland Town Centre

LEGEND
 Residential/Mixed Use

 Industrial

 Assets from Dept of Communities

	 Head	Office

	 Regional	Office

LIA: Light Industrial Area

SIA:	Strategic	Industrial	Area

GASCOYNE
   Carnarvon Cornish Street 
  Carnarvon NorthWater
 Exmouth Marina Village
  Exmouth Nimitz Estate

MID WEST
  Narngulu Industrial Estate
  Oakajee SIA
    Seacrest, Batavia Coast Marina

Various RDAP projects, including:
  Green Head
  Kalbarri
  Leeman
 Morawa
  Mt Magnet LIA
  Nabawa

GOLDFIELDS-ESPERANCE
  GreenView at Karlkurla
  Karlkurla Rise
  Anzac Drive Industrial Estate
  Anzac Drive West Industrial Estate
  Mungari SIA
  Lot 350 Kalgoorlie

WHEATBELT
  Avon Industrial Park

Various RDAP projects,  
including:

  Cervantes
 Cunderdin
   Dalwallinu
   Darkan
  Dowerin
   Hyden
  Moora
   Narrogin
  Williams

SOUTH WEST
 Buckingham Way
  Bunbury Glen Iris
  Bunbury Koombana North
  Bunbury Tuart Brook
  Bunbury Waterfront
  Collie LIA
  Kemerton SIA

 Picton Enterprise Park
  Manjimup Cherry Glades
  Shotts SIA

GREAT SOUTHERN
  Albany Middleton Beach
  Clydesdale
  Denmark LIA
  Emu Point
  Katanning
  Oyster Harbour
  Mirambeena SIA
  Mount Barker LIA
  Yerriminup Industrial Area

Various RDAP projects, 
including:

  Gnowangerup
  Wagin
  Woodanilling



2.4 SUSTAINABLE  
COMMUNITIES
We are delivering transformational 
projects across the Perth metropolitan 
area and collaborating with industry to 
create connected and sustainable urban 
environments. 

Ocean Reef Marina

The long-awaited development of Ocean 
Reef Marina as a landmark waterfront 
precinct began construction in August 
2020, with initial earthworks creating 
the first of 8,600 construction jobs at 
this iconic project north of Perth. 

Construction on the two-kilometre 
breakwaters is now under way following 
the completion of environmental 
approvals to ensure the protection of 
the marine environment and local flora 
and fauna. 

Construction of the new breakwaters 
is expected to be completed in mid to 
late 2022, while the first residential 
lots, which will play an important role 
in attracting more than $650 million in 
private sector investment, are set to be 
released in late 2023.

When complete, Ocean Reef Marina 
will be an iconic destination providing 
recreational, tourism, residential and 
boating facilities for Perth’s northern 
suburbs.

Subi East

This is one of the most significant 
urban redevelopments ever undertaken 
in Western Australia. The creation 
of a modern gateway for Subiaco is 
breathing new life into one of our most 
established suburbs and creating 
development opportunities for 
residential, recreation, community and 
commercial uses.

Works are expected to begin later in 
2021 on heritage landscaping around 
Subiaco Oval, as well as other high-
quality improvements that will fulfil 
the vision of a connected city village. 
At the opposite end of the 35ha Subi 
East area, major demolition works have 
commenced at the former Princess 
Margaret Hospital. 

Alkimos Central

At Alkimos Central city centre we are 
creating a transit and pedestrian-
oriented development. The Alkimos 
train station delivered by METRONET 
has been a key driver in the design 
of Alkimos Central, maximising the 
potential use of public transport.

Centred around the culturally significant 
pinnacles, Alkimos Central will capture 
and merge the unique personality 
of the coastal location with a more 
dense, flexible and active urban form. 
It will feature attractive streetscapes, 
engaging public places and buildings 
underpinned by ecological design 
principles and a wide variety of uses.

Around 60,000 people are expected 
to call the Alkimos-Eglinton district 
home. Our planning has focused on 
ensuring residents are connected to 
adjacent DevelopmentWA residential 
communities at Alkimos Beach and 
Alkimos Vista via public transport links, 
roads and pathways. 

METRONET East

This redevelopment precinct includes 
three train stations at Bayswater, High 
Wycombe and Midland. With the project 
areas now in place, DevelopmentWA 
is working with stakeholders and the 
community to prepare the planning 
framework, including a Redevelopment 
Scheme and Design Guidelines to guide 
future development. 

Perth City Link

In the heart of Perth, this 13.5ha 
development continues to evolve 
as we work to connect the CBD and 
Northbridge for the first time in more 
than 100 years. As part of the $1.5 billion 
City Deal, the centrepiece of Perth City 
Link will be Edith Cowan University’s 
world-class Creative Industries, 
Business and Technology Campus, 
bringing more than 9,200 students and 
staff into the CBD. 

Work has also commenced on the 
project’s next mixed-use development, 
the Perth Hub by Far East Consortium, 
which will see a mix of apartments, food 
and retail options and a 250-room hotel.

East Perth Power Station

The 8.5ha East Perth Power Station 
precinct is set to be transformed into a 
contemporary community destination 
along the Swan River foreshore. 
Australian Capital Equity and Fiveight 
have entered into an Exclusive Working 
Period as the Preferred Proponents to 
progress a residential, commercial, 
recreational and tourism precinct, with 
an investment of over $300 million.
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2.5 PROSPEROUS  
INDUSTRY
We deliver industrial land to drive economic growth and social prosperity. We engage 
directly with industry stakeholders to identify needs and provide industrial estates 
to meet market demands, support industry and facilitate economic development. 

DevelopmentWA’s Industrial Lands Authority sold more than 50ha of general 
industrial land in 2020-21.  Construction activity on this land is expected to create 
667 full-time jobs and, when fully developed, this is expected to grow to 1,681 ongoing 
jobs with an annual economic output of $581 million.

Australian Marine Complex

The Australian Marine Complex (AMC) is a world-class centre of excellence for 
manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, service and repair for the marine, defence, 
resource and oil and gas industries. 

The AMC is enhancing opportunities created by the clustering of industries and has 
become Australia’s leading marine industrial estate.

The construction of a new vessel transfer path, scheduled for completion in 
September 2021, will bolster Western Australia’s case to secure high value defence 
industry projects and allow the AMC to support the Royal Australian Navy’s new 
Arafura Class offshore patrol vessels when they are launched in 2022. 

Three additional projects being delivered at the AMC include a new shipbuilding 
facility, a major wharf extension and road intersection upgrades. 

Peel Business Park

Part of the multi-million-dollar Transform Peel project, Peel Business Park in 
Nambeelup is a strategically-located industrial estate designed with a focus on  
agri-innovation and sustainability. 

The 1,000ha Business Park provides the ideal home for agri-food and agri-
processing operators, as well as ancillary light, general, transport and  
logistics industries. 

Australian Marine Complex
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Stage 1 construction is now complete 
with new businesses operating from the 
Park, and expressions of interest for 
Stage 2 of the project now available.

Energy sustainability is a key feature 
of the estate, with Australia’s first 
renewable energy industrial microgrid 
now online at Peel Business Park. An 
onsite 1.2MW solar array and 2.5MWHr 
battery energy storage system 
generates, moderates, stores and 
powers businesses throughout the 
Park with 50 to 100 per cent renewable 
energy.

Meridian Park

Meridian Park is situated off Flynn Drive 
within the 1,000ha Neerabup Industrial 
Area, north of Wanneroo, and comprises 
390ha of industrial land. 

The development is designed to meet 
the industrial needs of Perth’s north-
west corridor, with the City of Wanneroo 
population forecast to grow to 370,000 
by 2041.

Adjacent to Meridian Park is the 
emerging Australian Automation and 
Robotics Precinct (AARP), a leasehold 
area of 51ha with the potential for 
further expansion to 90ha. 

The AARP will serve as an area for 
testing, research and development, 
and training in automation, remote 
operations, and robotic systems and 
equipment. It will include multiple test 
beds for the testing of equipment and a 
common user facility building, with the 
aim of delivering a facility which allows 
developers and companies to test, 
develop, showcase and grow their work 
in a technology cluster eco-system.

Gap Ridge

With 128 lots planned over 260ha, 
Gap Ridge is becoming one of the 
largest regional industrial estates in 
WA. Developed as part of the State 
Government’s regional development 
initiatives, the estate provides a base 
for businesses to tap into the billions 
of dollars of projects underway in the 
region. 

Gap Ridge is strategically located en 
route to the Port of Dampier and is 
ready for immediate development. 
Primarily designed for transport and 
logistics, laydown and warehousing, it 
can cater for a wide range of businesses 
supporting the Pilbara’s major 
industries.

Orion Industrial Park

Orion Industrial Park is set to transform 
95ha of former limestone quarries 
in Perth’s south into a high-quality 
industrial area servicing a range of 
industries. 

Located immediately east of 
Henderson’s Australian Marine Complex 
(AMC) within the Latitude 32 Industry 
Zone, it is well positioned to service the 
expanding AMC and its defence, marine 
support and fabrication industries. 

The first lots at Orion were released 
in June 2021. Covering 28ha, this 
release is expected to create up to 471 
construction jobs and a further 881 
ongoing jobs on completion.

Orion will ultimately become home to up 
to 100 businesses, with lots ranging from 
3,300sqm to 3.5ha, supplying 66ha of net 
saleable area to the industrial market. 

The project aims to build on the success 
of another Latitude 32 Industry Zone 
estate, Flinders Precinct, with all lots in 
the Precinct now under offer or sold.

Meridian Park, Neerabup



Hedland Junction, Wedgefield

Hedland Junction comprises approximately 270ha and offers a variety of lots 
to meet the growing demand in the Pilbara. Demand for land has experienced a 
significant increase resulting in 10 of the 12 lots in Stage 2 selling over the last 12 
months, and Stage 3 planned to be released to market in the coming months to 
meet this demand.

Lot 350 Great Eastern Highway, Kalgoorlie

Located approximately 2.5km south-west of Kalgoorlie, Lot 350 will provide 
industrial lots ranging in size from 1.5 ha to more than 20ha, with provision 
for a future intermodal terminal. Construction of the first stage of the 209ha 
development will commence in 2021 and provide a site for a new gas-fired  
power station. 

Rockingham Industry Zone

Strategically located within an integrated industry hub, the 1,500ha Rockingham 
Industry Zone comprises several precincts accommodating warehousing, 
transport, logistics, fabrication works and some maritime- related industries. 
One of these precincts, the Clipper Precinct, is currently being developed to 
create nine General Industrial lots ranging from 0.5ha to 2.3ha. These lots have 
been released to the market with three lots currently under offer and strong 
interest shown for the remaining lots. Once established, the Clipper Precinct is 
expected to create 310 ongoing jobs and deliver an annual economic output of  
$114 million.

Forrestdale Business Park West

This 140ha master-planned industrial area sits within the Armadale 
Redevelopment Scheme 2 and Forrestdale Business Park West Development 
Contribution Scheme. 

The Development Contribution Scheme is currently constructing $23 million in 
infrastructure upgrades including Ranford Road, Anstey Road and improving  
Allen Road to a High Wide Load capacity. 

When complete, Forrestdale Business Park West will create 1,493 ongoing jobs 
and contribute $1.6 billion annually to the local economy.

Duettes, Middleton Beach Albany. Artist impression only
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2.6 RESILIENT  
REGIONS
These projects align with our priorities 
to deliver land developments that attract 
business investment, create local jobs 
and build new communities in regional 
areas.

Regional Land Booster

The $116 million Regional Land Booster 
program was launched in July 2020 as 
part of the State Government’s response 
to COVID-19 recovery.  

Through this program, incentives 
were applied to more than 100 regional 
projects across Western Australia 
to drive new development and boost 
construction activity.  

After one year of the program, 290 lots 
have been contracted across 42 regional 
towns, with a combined value of more 
than $65 million.  

Construction on these lots is expected 
to generate 976 jobs with an estimated 
private sector investment of $321 
million.

Middleton Beach

Albany’s Middleton Beach is being 
developed as a mixed-use precinct and 
visitor destination, including a landmark 
new hotel with absolute beach frontage.

A 3,700sqm site contracted in December 
2020 will see the development of a 
new four-star-plus hotel, five to seven 
storeys, with 80 to 100 rooms. Work is 
also progressing on four parcels of land 
across 13,171sqm to prepare them for 
private development.

Adjacent to the activity precinct 
is an exciting mixed-use housing 
development featuring a new housing 
product known as Duettes. 

Duettes are multi-storey, medium-
density homes with the ground floor 
purpose designed for use as a work 
place, but also suitable as a separate 
apartment for multigenerational or 
tenanted living.

These will be constructed and sold by 
DevelopmentWA as part of Stage 1 of 
the Middleton Beach Activity Centre 
redevelopment.

Broome North

Waranyjarri Estate is the first residential 
estate for Broome North and was 
the first regional development to 
have achieved EnviroDevelopment 
accreditation. The development 
provides a mix of affordable housing and 
is home to the Broome North primary 
school, eight parks, a community 
garden, bookshare and active social and 
community groups. 

Located 5km north of the existing town 
centre, Broome North will ultimately 
double the size and population of 
Broome, with up to 4,800 new homes 
for approximately 13,000 residents. It 
will help ensure a long-term supply of 
affordable land, accommodating a mix of 
housing types. 

Waranyjarri Estate comprises 10 smaller 
land release stages, with homes for 
around 1,600 residents. Approximately 
60 per cent of all residences are single 
houses, 20 per cent smaller duplex or 
triplex lots and 20 per cent grouped 
housing sites.

GreenView at Karlkurla, Kalgoorlie

The second stage of the GreenView at 
Karlkurla development in Kalgoorlie has 
been released and the estate is now well 
established as one of Kalgoorlie’s most 
desirable residential areas. 

This estate, which overlooks the 
Kalgoorlie Golf Course, will ultimately 
yield up to 2,000 homes to meet the 
city’s future housing needs.

There is strong demand for quality 
housing in Kalgoorlie, which is predicted 
to grow in population by 30 per cent  
by 2030.

Lots at GreenView cater for all lifestyles, 
from first homebuyers to growing 
families and downsizers.

Bunbury Waterfront

The Transforming Bunbury’s 
Waterfront initiative is led by the South 
West Development Commission, in 
partnership with DevelopmentWA, the 
City of Bunbury and Department of 
Transport. 

DevelopmentWA is managing the 
$10.8 million Stage 2 redevelopment of 
Casuarina Drive which will see the area 
greatly enhanced through the creation of 
a waterfront promenade with improved 
pedestrian and cycle links, as well as 
picnic areas, barbecue facilities and 
a new playground. Landscaping and 
revitalisation works along Casuarina 
Boat Harbour, service upgrades and 
expanded car parking will offer modern 
public amenities to locals and visitors 
and activate the precinct as a new 
destination for everyone to enjoy.  The 
Casuarina works were completed in July 
2021, with 60 per cent of the work value 
undertaken by local businesses.

Madigan at Baynton West

Karratha’s newest residential 
community has experienced a surge 
in sales thanks to the Regional Land 
Booster program.  Since the program’s 
launch in July 2020, 25 lots have been 
contracted at Madigan Estate and an 
additional 17 at Baynton West.  68 new 
lots at Madigan Estate were released to 
market in 2020-21 to meet this  
strong demand.
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2.7  A HIGHLY CAPABLE AND 
INNOVATIVE ORGANISATION
People are at the heart of 
DevelopmentWA.  

By recruiting a diverse workforce, 
building a cohesive culture and 
facilitating an environment of 
development and improvement, 
DevelopmentWA is positioned as an 
employer of choice.  

Employees are offered a range of 
training opportunities to encourage 
professional development and 
innovation.  In 2020-21, this included 
a two-week series of workshops and 
presentations highlighting best-practice 
community engagement.

DevelopmentWA’s Graduate Program 
also continued in 2020-21, with two 
recent graduates hired to participate 
in the 12-month, organisation-wide 
program.

Training opportunities, coupled with 
robust procurement and development 
processes, help to embed a culture of 
innovation and collaboration to shape 
better environmental, social and design 
outcomes across the State.

Examples of this include a dedicated 
program to ensure meaningful 
engagement with local Aboriginal 
people; an innovative waste avoidance 
and resource recovery initiative; and a 
pilot program designed to reduce energy 
usage in Broome.

Aboriginal Development Manager 
program

The Aboriginal Development Manager 
(ADM) program has been co-designed 
in consultation with Noongar Elders to 
provide opportunities for Aboriginal 
Stakeholders to be engaged in land 
development projects.

It is an emergent program that brings 
Aboriginal participation to the heart of 
land development projects in Western 
Australia, and builds capacity for 
Aboriginal businesses. This program 
aims to understand and reflect the 

cultural significance  of projects through 
direct input from Aboriginal Elders and 
Traditional Owners.

The pilot program involves ADM 
consultants having input on three 
significant developments: the Subi East 
Redevelopment, Alkimos Central and 
Ocean Reef Marina.

DevelopmentWA is committed to 
building trust with Aboriginal people, 
refining the program and applying it to 
other projects across Western Australia.

OneOneFive waste avoidance

OneOneFive Hamilton Hill, the 
redevelopment of the former Hamilton 
Senior High School site, tested the limits 
of what is possible in resource recovery 
and waste management on a land 
development project.

The total material recovered was 10,242 
tonnes and the total reuse and recycling 
(by weight) on the project was 96 per 
cent, with 86 per cent reused onsite.

The volume of material reused onsite 
resulted in 1,000 less truck movements, 
the saving of 9,000 litres of diesel and 
663 tonnes of CO2-e avoided. Increased 
onsite costs to complete the crushing 
process and keep recovered materials 
suitably stored and organised were 
offset by reduced transport and landfill 
levy costs. 

DevelopmentWA is now exploring 
opportunities for new ways of 
demonstrating the potential for recycled 
and recovered materials in other land 
development projects.

Smart Sun

The innovative Smart Sun pilot program, 
in partnership with Horizon Power, 
provided a heavily discounted renewable 
energy package to eligible homes and 
homesites within Stage 10 of Waranyjarri 
Estate in Broome.

It was designed to empower 
participating households to significantly 
reduce their energy use, their reliance 
on the power grid and ultimately save 
money on their energy bills, all through 
the uptake of renewable energy sources.

The results of this pilot have exceeded 
expectations, with participants saving 
an average of $2,500 per annum on 
their electricity costs and a 30 per 
cent reduction in Horizon Power’s 
connection costs.  The findings are now 
able to be applied to other grid and land 
development challenges for regional 
projects of the future.
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2.8 PERFORMANCE 
HIGHLIGHTS

188
DAs approved

$374m annual 
economic 
output

Total value of approved DAs

$844.3

M
ILLION

*Based on the Department of Communities affordability price points.

sold across metropolitan Perth at 
an affordable price*

SUSTAINABLE COM
M

UNITIES 420
residential dwelling unit 
equivalents created in 
the metropolitan area 
from new land releases

$800 million expected to be 
invested in built form on lots 
sold, delivering 3,500 jobs.

84%

single resid ential lo
ts

sold across regional WA 
at an affordable price*

97%

single resid ential lo
ts

RESILIENT REGIONS
290 INDUSTRIAL AND RESIDENTIAL LOTS 
CONTRACTED AS PART OF THE REGIONAL 
LAND BOOSTER CAMPAIGN, CREATING:

41
residential dwelling 
unit equivalents 
created in WA’s 
regional areas from 
new land releases



PROSPEROUS INDUSTRY

50.4ha
of General 
Industrial  
land sold

667 CONSTRUCTION JOBS 
1681 ONGOING JOBS

$581
annual economic 
output

M
IL

L
IO

N

161 
GENERAL 

INDUSTRIAL 
LOTS

available across the 
State, including 55 
created in 2020-21

three options to 
lease signed in 
strategic	industrial	
areas,	expecting	to	
deliver 3,600 jobs 
during	construction,	
and 561 jobs ongoing



96 contracts 
signed with Aboriginal 

businesses to the 
value of $2.6 million

91%
staff retention rate

40% women in 
management

93% customer 
satisfaction rating 

with the overall land 
purchase process

OUR NEW CORPORATE VALUES – BRILLIANCE, 
ALLIANCE, COURAGE, INTEGRITY

MINIMUM SUSTAINABILITY STANDARDS TO 
GUIDE PROJECT SUSTAINABILITY OUTCOMES

DEVELOPMENTWA’S STRETCH  
RECONCILIATION ACTION PLAN 2020-23

LAUNCHED
40 

projects 
 in our  

innovation 
pipeline

HIGHLY CAPABLE AND INNOVATIVE ORGANISATION
38



Dividends to Government

$168.7m

Total revenue 

$596.9 
million

Metropolitan 
$240.5m

ILA  
$205.1m

Regional  
$151.3m

AWARDS

WINS

ULI Asia Pacific Awards for 
Excellence – Civic/Public – Yagan 
Square, Perth (August 2020)

IPAA Achievement Awards – Best 
Practice in Collaboration across 
Government Agencies – WGV, White 
Gum Valley (December 2020)

Australian Steel Industry Awards 
(submitted by Aurecon) – Award for 
Steel Clad Buildings – Yagan Square, 
Perth (December 2020)

PIA Awards for Planning Excellence 
– Healthy Active by Design – Montario 
Quarter, Shenton Park  
(September 2020)

WasteSorted Awards – Waste 
Initiative of the Year – OneOneFive 
Hamilton Hill (May 2021)

WAAA Apartment Awards for 
Excellence – Precinct Rejuvenation – 
Claremont on the Park (May 2021)

FINALIST

ULI Asia Pacific Awards for 
Excellence – Residential or Planned 
Communities – WGV, White Gum Valley 
(August 2020)

WasteSorted Awards – Waste Team of 
the Year – Subi East, Subiaco 
 (May 2021)

Clean Energy Council Awards – 
Innovation – Smart Sun, Broome  
(June 2021)

COMMENDED

Stormwater Western Australia – 
Excellence in Integrated Stormwater 
Design – WGV (November 2020)



3GOVERNANCE 
DISCLOSURES

Scarborough Foreshore



3 3.1 CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT
COMMITMENT
DevelopmentWA is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. 
Our approach includes a commitment to robust governance standards that are 
fundamental to the sustainability of our operations and performance, and foster 
a culture of compliance which values ethical behaviour, personal and corporate 
integrity, accountability and respect for others.

DevelopmentWA’s main corporate governance practices provide a framework to 
ensure we act with exemplary standards of corporate behaviour. We use a range of 
benchmarks to guide our practices, including the Public Sector Management Act 1994, 
Public Sector Commission Principles of Good Governance for Boards and Committees 
and the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations as determined by 
the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) (to the extent they can be applied). These 
practices ensure, at a minimum, standards set out in the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992, Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996 and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 are achieved.

The Minister for Lands has portfolio responsibility for DevelopmentWA.
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PERFORMANCE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
In September 2019 the Western 
Australian Land Authority (WALA) 
and Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority (MRA) integrated to form 
DevelopmentWA. The Boards of both 
entities have common directors 
appointed. The reference to the Board 
includes both Boards unless stated 
otherwise. 

BOARD ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Board of Directors recognises 
accountability to the WA Government 
and Minister for Lands. This requires 
the Board to deliver the objectives 
and functions set out in the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992 and 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Act 2011.

The Board is accountable to the 
Government for DevelopmentWA’s 
performance with responsibility for:
•  setting out corporate directions, 

submitting the annual Statement 
of Corporate Intent and five-year 
Strategic Development Plan, including 
financial targets, to the Minister;

•  providing strategic direction and 
approving significant strategic 
corporate objectives;

•  maintaining communication with the 
Minister and Government; 

•  maintaining working relationships 
with Management;

•  developing and maintaining 
relationships with key stakeholders, 
including Government and business 
partners;

•  evaluating Board performance;
•  evaluating performance of the Chief 

Executive;
•  planning for Board and Management 

succession; 
•  monitoring financial and corporate 

performance;
•  considering and approving half-yearly 

and annual reports;
•  assessing social, economic and 

environmental performance;
•  reviewing, ratifying and monitoring 

appropriate systems of risk 
management and legal compliance; 

•  satisfying itself that appropriate 
internal control mechanisms are in 
place and are being implemented;

•  determining the scope of authority 
(and any limits on authority) which is 
delegated to the Chief Executive or 
any other officer;

•  ensuring appropriate resources are 
available to senior management; and

•  maintaining an emphasis on audit 
activities.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board comprises seven 
independent Directors appointed by the 
Minister for Lands in accordance with 
relevant provisions of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 and 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 
1992. 

Under the WALA Act, at least four of the 
directors are required to have relevant 
experience in housing, industry, 
commerce, finance, land development, 
town planning or engineering to provide 
a set of relevant experiences and 
knowledge. The skills and experiences 
of Directors on the Board during the 
reporting period are set out in the 
Directors’ Report. 

The MRA Act requires that of the seven 
Board members:
•  one is to be an appointed member 

of the Board or management of 
the Western Australian Planning 
Commission (WAPC) nominated by the 
WAPC;

•  one member, who in the opinion of 
the Minister, has knowledge of or 
experience in local government; and

•  each of the others is to be a person 
who, in the opinion of the Minister, 
has relevant qualifications. A relevant 
qualification is knowledge of, and 
experience in, one or more of the 
fields of urban planning, business 
management, property development, 
financial management, engineering, 
transport, housing and community 
affairs. 

Board members are remunerated 
according to Public Sector Commission 
guidelines.  

The Chairperson and Deputy 
Chairperson are appointed by the 
Minister for Lands.

Directors may be appointed for a term 
of up to three years. The Minister 
may reappoint Directors for a further 
term. The Chief Executive may not be 
appointed as a Director. 

The Board induction process includes 
briefings with the Chief Executive 
and senior management, provision of 
information on key corporate and Board 
policies, strategic plans and relevant 
project site visits.

It is expected Directors undertake 
professional development to maintain 
skills required to discharge their duties. 
This may include approved industry 
seminars and education courses.

THE BOARD AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The Board is responsible for the 
appointment and employment contract 
of the DevelopmentWA Chief Executive 
subject to obtaining the Minister’s 
approval.

Day-to-day oversight and management 
of operations are the responsibility of 
the Chief Executive who reports to the 
Board on issues including:
•  corporate strategies;
•  human resources;
•  annual budgeting;
•  managing day-to-day operations;
•  risk management;
•  operations and major project 

challenges and milestones; and
•  strategic marketing and 

communications.

The role of the Acting Chief Executive 
Officer under the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 is 
maintained as an executive position 
within DevelopmentWA.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Three Board committees operated 
during the year to focus on specific 
areas:
•  Audit and Risk Management (WALA 

and MRA);
•  Governance and Remuneration 

(WALA); and
•  Statutory Planning (WALA). 

Each committee reviews its Terms of 
Reference and membership annually, 
with any proposed changes submitted 

24 
DEVELOPMENTWA  
ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21



to the Board for approval. Minutes of 
all committee meetings are provided 
the next Board meeting. A Director may 
attend committee meetings even if he or 
she is not a member of the committee.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

This committee assists the Board to 
fulfil its corporate governance and 
oversight responsibilities in relation 
to accounting policies, financial 
reporting, internal control systems, risk 
management systems and the internal 
and external audit functions. 

The committee has direct access to 
external auditors, internal auditors and 
senior management. The committee 
meets regularly, meeting external 
auditors at least twice a year and 
internal auditors more frequently. 
External auditors are appointed in 
accordance with DevelopmentWA’s 
governing legislation.

The committee comprises three 
Board Directors (not including the 
Board Chairperson) appointed by the 
Board and has a charter setting out its 
responsibilities.

Governance and Remuneration 
Committee

This committee assists the Board in 
ensuring that appropriate and effective 
policies, plans and practices are in place 
in relation to: corporate governance; 

Board, committee and Chief Executive 
performance management; Board 
and Executive succession and 
remuneration; and human resources 
standards oversight.

The committee comprises three Board 
Directors appointed by the Board and a 
charter sets out its responsibilities and 
key activities. It meets at least twice a 
year.

Statutory Planning Committee

This committee is the decision-making 
body for the Western Australian 
Land Authority’s statutory planning 
responsibilities as defined in the Hope 
Valley-Wattleup Redevelopment Act 
2000  and Perry Lakes Redevelopment 
Act 2005.

The committee comprises three Board 
Directors (not including the Board 
Chairperson) appointed by the Board and 
a charter sets out its responsibilities 
and key activities. It meets at least twice 
a year.

LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEES 
Land Redevelopment Committees 
(LRCs) have been established for 
each Redevelopment Area to enable 
community and Local Government 
involvement in the development and 
delivery of urban renewal projects. 
The five committees (for Armadale, 
Central Perth, Midland, Scarborough 

and Subiaco) have planning powers 
delegated by the MRA Board and provide 
advice on local planning matters. The 
MRA Act provides that an LRC consist of 
five members appointed by the Minister 
of whom:
•  one is to be a member of the MRA 

Board of Management nominated by 
the MRA;

•  one is to be a person nominated in 
accordance with section 81 of the MRA 
Act; and

•  each of the others is to be a person 
who in the opinion of the Minister, has 
a relevant qualification. A relevant 
qualification is knowledge of, and 
experience in, one or more of the 
fields of urban planning, business 
management, property development, 
financial management, engineering, 
transport, housing, tourism 
development, planning, the law or 
community affairs. 

Members of the LRCs are appointed for 
a term no longer than two years and may 
be reappointed.

At present, two Board members and two 
common members have been appointed 
across all five LRCs. A Local Government 
member has also been appointed to 
each LRC.

A charter sets out the responsibilities 
and key activities of the LRC’s.

Breakwater construction  
at Ocean Reef Marina
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BOARD MEETINGS
Board meetings are held at such times 
and places as the Board determines. The 
Chairperson sets the agenda for each 
meeting in consultation with the Chief 
Executive. Any Director may request 
to have a matter added to the agenda. 
Comprehensive papers on matters for 
consideration by the Board are provided 
to the Directors.

The Chief Executive, Corporate 
Secretary and other members of the 
senior management group attend the 
Board meetings by invitation.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
Directors have access to information via 
the Corporate Executive Group.

The Directors, Board and committees, 
in carrying out their duties, may seek 
external legal and expert advice at 
DevelopmentWA’s expense after 
consultation with the Chairperson. 

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
The Board Chairperson is responsible 
for reviewing Board performance, 
monitoring the contribution of individual 
Directors and counselling them on areas 
that may improve Board performance. 

Each Board committee reviews its 
performance annually against its 
charter, which is then reported to 
the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee.

The performance evaluation of the Chief 
Executive is undertaken by the Board 
though the Chairperson. A performance 
agreement and targets are set and 
reviews are undertaken a minimum of 
twice annually.

Executive performance evaluation is 
undertaken by the Chief Executive in line 
with agreed performance agreements 
and targets which are reviewed twice 
annually. 

DevelopmentWA has a strong culture 
of achievement via performance 
agreements for all staff which clarify 
roles and responsibilities, goals and 
targets (aligned to the annual business 
plan) as well as specific development 
plans.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
A Conflict of Interest policy is in place 
detailing management of such matters. 
This policy accords with standards set 
by the Western Australian Public Sector 
Commissioner.

New Directors appointed to the Board 
declare financial and pecuniary interests 
at their first meeting. A standing 
protocol dictates where a Director would 
disclose an interest in any item on the 
Board meeting agenda. Disclosures are 
recorded in the meeting minutes, with 
a copy placed into a Declarations of 
Interest Register.

Any Director who considers he or she 
has a conflict of interest is required to 
give other Directors immediate notice. 
These interests are recorded in the 
Declarations of Interest Register.

Where a Director makes a declaration 
of a conflict, the Board may allow the 
Director to partially participate in 
discussion of the agenda item, make a 
statement to the Board prior to leaving 
the meeting room or request the 
Director leave the meeting immediately.

The Conflict of Interest Policy also 
applies to staff and contractors who, 
when conflicted, are required to make a 
formal disclosure to the Chief Executive 
who determines the management 
action required. These interests are also 
recorded in the Declarations of Interest 
Register.

ETHICAL STANDARDS 
DevelopmentWA’s governing legislation 
requires DevelopmentWA and its 
employees to comply with:
•  any Acts governing their conduct 

(including those mentioned above); 
•  Public Sector Commissioner’s 

instructions;
•  applicable human resource 

management standards and 
principles; and

•  applicable codes of ethics and 
conduct.

Employees are also required to:
•  act with integrity in the performance 

of official duties and are to be 
scrupulous in the use of official 
information, equipment and  
facilities; and

•  exercise proper courtesy, 
consideration and sensitivity in their 
dealings with members of the public 
and employees.

The DevelopmentWA Code of Conduct 
incorporates all these requirements and 
provides guidance on a set of principles 
that reflects its approach to business 
and applies to anyone working for or 
on behalf of DevelopmentWA including 
Board, executive, staff and internal 
contractors and consultants. The Code 
of Conduct is part of the onboarding 
process, available to staff at all times via 
the intranet and document management 
system and supported by training and 
awareness-raising sessions. 

DevelopmentWA adopts a risk-
based, precautionary and proactive 
approach to its operations, with zero 
tolerance to fraud and corruption. 
DevelopmentWA manages risk related 
to corruption across all operations at a 
corporate level. This involves a system 
of procedures that include: a Code 
of Conduct; fraud audits and training 
(including accountable and ethical 
decision making training); Directors 
and officers liability insurance risk 
assessments; corporate risk register; 
and a series of policies. These policies 
address the key areas of:
•  values and ethics;
•  trade practices;
•  procurement and tendering;
•  gifts;
•  occupational health and safety;
•  equal employment opportunity;
•  continuous disclosure of conflicts of 

interest; and
•  personal duties and responsibilities.

The Governance and Remuneration 
Committee reviews the Code of Conduct 
as part of a regular review process, prior 
to approval by the Board. 

SHAREHOLDER
The Minister for Lands has portfolio 
responsibility for DevelopmentWA. The 
Minister for Planning is also engaged on 
projects and planning as required.

MINISTERIAL REPORTING
Governing legislation sets out reports 
which are to be provided to the Minister.
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DevelopmentWA’s Strategic 
Development Plan and Statement of 
Corporate Intent provide the Minister 
with details on activities, key objectives, 
strategies and operational targets. 
Both are submitted to the Minister for 
approval annually, with the consent of 
the Treasurer. 

The Minister tables the annual 
Statement of Corporate Intent in 
Parliament. The document was provided 
within the timeframes prescribed in 
legislation.

Beyond the legislative requirements, 
there is a commitment to ensuring 
the Government is fully informed on 
significant activities and developments. 
This commitment is achieved by 
provision of information and advice to 
the Minister for Lands, and includes, but 
is not limited to, annual reports, half-
yearly reports and budget submissions 
as well as responses to specific 
requests from Parliament, Members of 
Parliament, agencies and the public.

MINISTERIAL DIRECTION
The Minister may give directions 
in writing to the Board of Directors 
with respect to the performance of 
the functions prescribed under the 
legislation. The Board has maintained a 
procedure with respect to responding to 
Ministerial direction. 

There were no Ministerial directions 
during the reporting period.

MINISTERIAL APPROVALS
The WALA Act requires DevelopmentWA 
to obtain the Minister’s approval for 
transactions in which the consideration 
is equal to or exceeds five percent of the 
value of total reported assets as set out 

in the most recent annual report. There 
have been six transactions approved by 
the Minister in 2020-21.

Section 47(4) of the MRA Act provides:

“if the Minister approves a draft 
redevelopment scheme the content 
of which is, in the Minister’s opinion, 
significantly different to any 
recommendation given by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission under 
section 46, the Minister must cause 
notice of the difference to be laid before 
each House of Parliament or dealt with 
under section 132, within 14 days after the 
scheme start day”.

No Ministerial Approvals were received 
between 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

MINISTERIAL RECOMMENDATIONS
Section 29(1) of the MRA Act states:

“the Governor must not make regulations 
under section 30 or 31 that declare land to 
be, or add land to a Redevelopment Area 
except on the recommendation of the 
Minister”.

Section 29(5) of the MRA Act provides:

“if the Minister recommends the making 
of regulations the content of which is, 
in the Minister’s opinion, significantly 
different to any recommendation made 
by the Western Australian Planning 
Commission under this section, the 
Minister must cause notice of the 
difference to be laid before each House 
of Parliament or dealt with under section 
132, within 14 days after the day on which 
the Minister’s recommendation is given”.

No Ministerial Recommendations of this 
nature were received between 1 July 
2020 to 30 June 2021. 

MINISTERIAL REVIEW
Section 48 of the WALA Act requires 
the Minister to carry out a review of 
the operation and effectiveness of the 
WALA Act within six months after every 
fifth anniversary of the commencement 
of the Western Australian Land Authority 
Act Amendment 2004. In the course 
of this review the Minister must have 
regard to: 
(a) effectiveness of the operations of 

the Authority;
(b) need for the continuation of the 

functions of the WALA; and
(c) other matters as appear to the 

Minister to be relevant to the 
operation and effectiveness of  
this Act.

The last review commenced in mid-2020 
with the Report approved by the Minister 
on 1 February 2021. The review found 
the WALA Act was robust and fit for 
purpose.

Section 133 of the MRA Act requires that 
the Minister must carry out a review of 
the operation and effectiveness of the 
MRA Act as soon as is practicable after 
the fifth anniversary of section 133 (the 
Review). The Review must have regard 
to:
(a) the need for the continuation of the 

MRA Act; and
(b) any other matters that appear to the 

Minister for Lands to be relevant to 
the operation and effectiveness of 
the MRA Act.

The last review was tabled in Parliament 
on 18 February 2020.
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CORPORATE COMPLIANCE DISCLOSURES
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The provisions of the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 1992 apply to DevelopmentWA 
and statistics relating to applications received for this reporting period are shown 
below. We work with applicants to facilitate full disclosure of documents where 
appropriate. 

An Information Statement in accordance with the FOI Act, providing information 
about DevelopmentWA and how to make an FOI request is available at  
http://www.developmentwa.com.au

FOI STATISTICS 2020-21

Access applications received 9

Applications transferred to another agency 0

Applications withdrawn 0

Applications processed 8

  Access in full 0

  Edited access 8

  Documents not found/do not exist 0

  Access refused 0

  Access deferred 0

  Access given (s.28) 0

Applications carried over from previous years 0

Internal reviews received 3

External reviews received 1

RECORDS MANAGEMENT
In accordance with section 61 of the State Records Act 2000 and the State Records 
Commission Standards (Standard 2 - Principle 6), DevelopmentWA has an approved 
Recordkeeping Plan. The plan describes how records are created, maintained, 
managed and disposed of in accordance with DevelopmentWA’s standards and 
principles. Regular reviews of recordkeeping practices and systems are conducted 
and any opportunities for improvement addressed. 

The DevelopmentWA onboarding process for all staff and contractors includes 
online records management training, including information on employees’ roles 
and responsibilities and how they comply with the approved Recordkeeping Plan. 
Completion of the course is monitored and documented and there is an opportunity 
to provide feedback on course content. 

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE 
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2003 facilitates the disclosure of public interest 
information and provides protection for those who make disclosures and those who 
are the subject of disclosures. 

DevelopmentWA has one officer who can assist with enquiries and implement 
internal procedures developed to ensure compliance with obligations under the Act. 
No disclosures were received during the period.

UNAUTHORISED USE OF CREDIT CARDS 
During the 2020-21 reporting period there were no instances of  
personal expenditure. 
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SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY 
Diversity and Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) for all employees and prospective 
employees is promoted in the workplace. Diversity targets have been defined and 
incorporated into our EEO Management Plan and Reconciliation Action Plan with 
specific focus on employment of Aboriginal Australians, people with disabilities and 
females in senior roles. To achieve this, policies and strategies are in place to create 
awareness and eliminate discrimination and harassment, particularly on grounds 
covered by EEO legislation. Our diversity targets and performance are monitored and 
reported to the Board annually.

DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN
DevelopmentWA believes that people with a disability should have equal opportunity 
to access its services, facilities and information. In accordance with Part 5 of the 
Disabilities Services Act 1993, the MRA established a new Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) for the period 2017-2022. This involved conducting workshops 
with staff across the organisation and public consultation. The feedback sourced 
through this consultation shaped the new strategies for the MRA DAIP for the 2017-
2022 period. Employee induction processes and ongoing policy implementation 
increased employee awareness of disability and access issues, addressing desired 
outcomes in accordance with Schedule 3 of the Disability Services Regulations 2004 
during 2020-21.

PRICING POLICIES 
In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Regulations 2011, the 
MRA provides planning services in accordance with fees prescribed at Schedule 5 of 
the Regulations. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND MANAGEMENT 
Day-to-day operations are subject to regulation under both Commonwealth and 
State environmental legislation applicable to any Australian commercial entity. 
These include:
•  Waterways Conservation Act (WA) 1976;
•  Environmental Protection Act (WA) 1986; 
•  Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act (Commonwealth) 1999; 
•  Contaminated Sites Act (WA) 2003; and 
•  Biodiversity Conservation Act (WA) 2019.

Claremont on the Park
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REPORTABLE EXPENDITURE
The Electoral Act 1907 (Section 175 ZE) requires the disclosure of certain categories 
of expenditure. Details of the organisations contracted and the amounts paid for the 
financial year are as follows:

DEVELOPMENTWA

Advertising $ 1,282,229

The Brand Agency

Rare Pty Ltd

Media Advertising $ 492,637

Carat Australia Media Services Pty Ltd

Initiative Media

Market Research $ 78,354

Research Solutions

Painted Dog

Faster Horses

Direct mail $ 0

Polling $ 0

Total Expenditure $ 1,853,220

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk Management is the culture, processes and structures that are directed towards 
taking advantage of potential opportunities while managing potential adverse 
effects. DevelopmentWA’s risk appetite is set by the Board and supported by the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee and framework that aligns to ISO 31000:2018 
Risk Management Guidelines, the international standard for risk management.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is an efficient and effective mechanism 
that provides transparency, focus and independent judgement over the framework, 
ensuring a consistent approach to the identification, measurement and evaluation of 
risks and opportunities across our business. 

Our risk management process cascades from the strategic plan through to 
operational and project plans. The risk management plans are monitored quarterly 
by the steering committee which instigates mitigation changes based on emerging 
risks. Internal audits are undertaken regularly to confirm processes are operating 
effectively and ensuring the risk culture is consistent with the Board’s risk appetite 
and risk priorities. 

In general, our risk appetite is ‘low’, with exception in areas of safety and health, 
fraud, corruption, misconduct and wilful breaches of confidentiality, where risk 
appetite is “zero”. 

‘Moderate’ risk is tolerated subject to the identification of potential opportunities, 
risks and effective mitigation controls in areas such as: commercial activities  
(i.e. partnering, complex sales transactions, long term leasing), planning  
and development regulation, relationship and partnering, organisational and  
commercial sustainability, market leadership and innovation, and planning  
and development control.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND INJURY MANAGEMENT
WESTERN AUSTRALIA’S NEW WORK 
HEALTH AND SAFETY BILL 2019
The new Work Health and Safety Bill was 
passed as the Work Health and Safety 
Act 2020 (WHS Act) and assented to by 
the Governor on 10 November 2020. The 
WHS Act will not commence until the 
workplace health and safety regulations 
have been finalised, which is set to occur 
in early 2022. To align to the new laws, 
previous references to ‘Occupational 
Safety and Health’ matters are now Work 
Health and Safety (WHS) matters.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC RESPONSE 
Since the declaration of the global 
pandemic, DevelopmentWA held regular 
Crisis Management Team meetings 
throughout 2020-21. Since mid-2020, 
the Crisis Management team has 
focused on COVID-19 pandemic recovery 
strategies, lessons learnt and the 
organisation’s preparedness for future 
outbreaks and shutdowns. The business 
responded very positively to three 
lockdowns that occurred in February, 
April and June 2021, and transitioned 
seamlessly into a work-from-home 
environment. 

WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY (WHS) 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
DevelopmentWA operates within 
the guidance of AS/NZS 4801:2001 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Management Systems. Our internal WHS 
management system is monitored and 
audited on a cyclical basis. The WHS 
system adopted by DevelopmentWA 
provides the foundations for designing, 
implementing, monitoring, reviewing 
and continually improving the safety and 
health of its people and business. The 
overall objective of the management 
system is to instil the appropriate 
behaviours and processes within the 
organisation to drive consistent and 
effective application of WHS at an 
organisation, project and operational 
level. In May 2021, DevelopmentWA’s 
WHS Policy and WHS Management Plan 
were updated to align with Western 
Australia’s new WHS laws.

WORKSAFE ACCREDITATION 
In accordance with the Public Sector 
Commissioner’s Circular 2018−20 Code 
of Practice: Occupational Safety and 
Health in the Western Australian Public 
Sector, CEOs in Western Australia are 
required to ensure that an assessment 
of their agency’s occupational safety 

and health management system has 
been completed within the past five 
years using a recognised assessment 
tool, such as the WorkSafe Plan. 
DevelopmentWA currently holds 
Platinum WorkSafe Plan Accreditation, 
which is the highest an organisation  
can achieve. 

WHS TRAINING 
Staff undertake a compulsory and 
assessed online WHS training module 
every two years. In 2020-21, 100 per cent 
of staff met this requirement. All new 
staff members and contractors receive 
a face-to-face WHS orientation session. 
DevelopmentWA’s WHS intranet page 
and online training module has been 
updated with new content and graphics 
to align with the new WHS laws.

In addition, all project-related staff are 
trained and issued with a Construction 
Induction Card (White Card). This course 
is mandatory for anyone who works on 
a construction site in Australia. WHS 
training in specific areas such as: 4WD 
training, Performance Driver Training, 
First Aid training and Mental Health 
First Aid training is available to staff 
subject to Manager approval and/or job 
requirements.

Crossroads Industrial, Forrestdale.



WHS COMMITTEE
DevelopmentWA has an internal WHS Committee that meets quarterly to discuss 
health, safety and wellbeing issues providing a systematic and proactive way to 
address issues and discuss WHS matters. 

WHS PERFORMANCE 
The table below outlines our performance against key WHS measures for 
DevelopmentWA’s employees.

MEASURES 2020-21 2019-20 2019-18 TARGETS

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0

Lost time injury and 
disease incidence rate

0 0 0 0

Lost time injury and 
severity rate

0 0 0 0

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work (i) within 13 weeks

N/A N/A N/A Greater than 
or equal to 

80%

Percentage of injured 
workers returned 
to work (ii) within 26 
weeks

N/A N/A N/A Greater than 
or equal to 

80%

Note: Minor first-aid injuries have not been included in the injury rates.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE TO INJURY MANAGEMENT
A commitment is in place to provide injury management support to all workers 
who sustain a work-related injury or illness, with a focus on safe and early returns 
to meaningful work and in accordance with the Worker’s Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981.

Railway Square, Midland
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3.2 DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Board of Directors presents its report for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS
Persons who held the office of Director during the course of the year were as follows:

DATE FIRST APPOINTED

DIRECTOR WALA BOARD MRA BOARD APPOINTMENT TERM

George McCullagh 
(Chairperson)

28 September 2010* 1 January 2018 30 June 2021

Rebecca Field 
(Deputy)

1 January 2018** 1 January 2018** 31 December 2021

Jane Bennett 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 31 December 2021

Alan Carpenter 30 September 2020 30 September 2020 30 June 2023

Dale Page 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 30 June 2023

Simon Read 27 April 2010 1 January 2018 30 June 2021

Simon Reed 16 October 2019 1 January 2020 31 December 2021

Kylee Schoonens 1 September 2016 1 January 2018 29 September 2020

* Director G McCullagh was subsequently appointed WALA Deputy Chairperson 22 June 2015 and 
WALA and MRA Chairperson 1 January 2018.
** Director R Field was subsequently appointed WALA and MRA Deputy Chairperson 16 October 
2019.

The qualifications, experience and particular responsibilities of each Director are set 
out below.

CURRENT DIRECTORS:
George McCullagh was initially appointed Director of the Western Australian Land 
Authority Board on 28 September 2010. George became Deputy Chairperson in June 
2015 and as of 1 January 2018 chairs the Western Australian Land Authority and 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Boards. George was previously a Partner 
with the international consulting firm Deloitte. He has worked as a consultant in 
independent practice providing commercial and advisory services to a range of 
planning, infrastructure, transport and redevelopment organisations in Western 
Australia. George is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Rebecca Field was appointed to the Western Australian Land Authority and Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Boards on 1 January 2018 and was appointed Deputy 
Chairperson on 16 October 2019. Rebecca is the Chairperson of the WALA Board’s 
Governance and Remuneration Committee and a member of the joint MRA and WALA 
Audit and Risk Management Committee and WALA Statutory Planning Committee. 
She is a partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth. Known for her combination of excellent 
technical ability, good commercial sense and strategic thinking, Rebecca advises 
clients on the legal, strategic and risk management issues associated with property 
development and redevelopment projects and the sale, acquisition and leasing of large 
commercial, retail, industrial, pastoral, agricultural and tourism assets. Rebecca also 
has many years’ experience in property and development finance, and is a graduate of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
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Simon Read was appointed to the 
Western Australian Land Authority 
Board on 27 April 2010 and as of  
1 January 2018 was appointed to the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Board. Simon chairs the joint MRA and 
WALA Audit and Risk Management 
Committee. His hands-on skill set has 
been honed over 25 years of working 
with Australia’s leading corporate 
recovery specialists. He has specialised  
knowledge in corporate reconstruction, 
turnaround and business improvement. 
Simon currently runs a consulting 
business specialising in the complex 
area of security and the role of the 
Personal Property Securities Act. He 
has worked across many industries 
with significant experience in forestry, 
mining, engineering, finance and 
property. Simon is a Graduate of 
the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Chartered Accountant.

Jane Bennett was appointed to the 
Western Australian Land Authority 
and Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Boards on 1 January 2018 
and is a member of the WALA Board’s 
Statutory Planning Committee. Jane 
is Chairperson of the Central Perth, 
Midland and Scarborough Land 
Redevelopment Committees and 
member of the Armadale and Subiaco 
Land Redevelopment Committees. With 
extensive experience as a practising 
town planner in local government 
and private practice, she has been 
instrumental in the planning and delivery 
of major residential, commercial and 
industrial projects in Western Australia, 
as well as major government and 
institutional projects. Jane is a strong 
advocate for, and actively involved 
in, the planning reform agenda. She 
holds a Bachelor of Arts in Urban and 
Regional Planning, a Masters in Business 
Administration and is a graduate of 
the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Jane was made a Fellow of 
the Planning Institute of Australia in 
2015 for her contribution to planning. 
Jane is an owner and Director at CLE 
Town Planning and Design and is a 
member of the Western Australian 
Planning Commission. Jane is a UDIA 
WA Councillor and Chair of the Planning 
Committee.

Dale Page was appointed to the 
Western Australian Land Authority 
and Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Boards on 1 January 2018 
and is a member of the WALA Board’s 
Statutory Planning Committee. Dale 
was also a member of the WALA 
Governance and Remuneration 
Committee. Dale is Chairperson 
of the Armadale and Subiaco Land 
Redevelopment Committees and a 
member of the Central Perth, Midland 
and Scarborough Land Redevelopment 
Committees. As Director of Planning 
and Community Development at the 
City of Joondalup since 2010, Dale is 
responsible for statutory and strategic 
urban planning, building approvals, 
environmental health, planning and 
building compliance, community 
development activities and the City 
of Joondalup’s four libraries. Dale has 
considerable experience in delivering 
land development projects throughout 
Western Australia, previously working 
in senior roles at the East Perth and 
Subiaco Redevelopment Authorities and 
LandCorp.

Simon Reed was appointed to the 
Western Australian Land Authority 
Board on 16 October 2019 and 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Board on 1 January 2020. Simon is a 
member of the joint MRA and WALA 
Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and the WALA Board’s Governance and 
Remuneration Committee. Simon is 
also head of the Perth Corporate Group 
for law firm Herbert Smith Freehills. 
Simon has over 20 years of experience 
as a corporate lawyer, advising both 
listed and private companies as well 
as government and statutory bodies. 
Simon specialises in governance 
matters, mergers and acquisitions, 
capital markets and corporate re-
constructions. He has acted for 
clients in a range of sectors including 
mining, energy, financial services, 
manufacturing and property. Simon 
has strong relationships with key 
stakeholders in the Australian corporate 
regulatory landscape.

Simon holds a Bachelor of Laws with 
honours and a Bachelor of Economics. 
Simon also holds a Graduate Diploma 

of Applied Finance and Investment 
(corporate finance major) from FINSIA. 
He was previously a Board member for 
WA Music.

Alan Carpenter was appointed to the 
Board on 30 September 2020 and 
is a member of the WALA Board’s 
Governance and Remuneration 
Committee. Alan is a former Premier of 
Western Australia. He also served as 
State Development Minister and held 
numerous portfolios during his time as 
a member of the Western Australian 
Parliament. A senior journalist before 
entering politics, Alan went on to be 
Wesfarmers’ Executive General Manager 
Corporate Affairs for nine years before 
retiring in December 2018. Alan has also 
been a Board member for HIF (Health 
Insurance Fund of Australia) and is a 
Member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

DIRECTORS WHOSE TERM ENDED 
DURING THE PERIOD:
Kylee Schoonens was appointed to 
the Western Australian Land Authority 
Board on 1 September 2016 and as of 
1 January 2018 was appointed to the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Board. She chaired the Board’s 
Statutory Planning Committee, was 
a member of the WALA Governance 
and Remuneration Committee and 
was Chairperson of the Midland and 
Scarborough Land Redevelopment 
Committees. As an experienced 
Architect and Director of her own 
architectural practice, Kylee has led 
the design and delivery of many aged 
care, multi-residential, retirement and 
community projects across Western 
Australia. 
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
Details of attendance by Directors at Board meetings and Board Committee meetings is set out below:

DIRECTOR WALA BOARD MRA BOARD AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE

GOVERNANCE AND 
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE

STATUTORY PLANNING 
COMMITTEE

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend1

George 
McCullagh

10 10 10 10 42 12 22

Rebecca Field 10 10 10 10 4 4 2 2 22 1

Simon Read 10 10 10 10 4 4

Kylee 
Schoonens3

2 2 3 3 12 1 1

Jane Bennett 9 10 10 10 12 2 2

Dale Page 8 10 9 10 12 2 2 2 2

Simon Reed 9 10 9 10 3 4

Alan 
Carpenter4

8 8 7 7 12 12

1 Indicates the number of meetings held during the period of each Director’s tenure.
2 Directors may attend Committee meetings as an observer where they are not members.
3 Director’s appointment term ended 29 September 2020.
4 Director’s appointment term commenced 30 September 2020.

DevelopmentWA Board
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Western Australian Land Authority (WALA, trading as DevelopmentWA), is 
a publicly owned State Government Trading Enterprise established under the 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992. The Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority (MRA) was established pursuant to the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Act 2011 and began operations in January 2012 as an amalgamation of 
four existing redevelopment authorities across metropolitan Perth. 

The Government determined that WALA would provide activities and services for 
DevelopmentWA, including servicing the MRA functions. Both sets of legislation 
(WALA Act and MRA Act) are currently still applicable, which has required a flexible 
and responsive approach to developing plans for the future to set the new entity up 
for success. DevelopmentWA is managed via an independent Board of Directors 
and reports to Parliament though the Minister for Lands. 

A key requirement of the WALA legislation is to act in accordance with commercial 
principles which requires being cost efficient, endeavouring to achieve or surpass 
financial targets and ensuring that no project undertaken is expected to achieve 
less than the hurdle rate of return. The WALA Act also requires WALA to provide or 
promote the provision of land, infrastructure, facilities and services for the social, 
economic and environmental needs of the State. 

The MRA was created with the purpose of delivering redevelopment projects of 
strategic significance in the Perth metropolitan area. A key requirement of the 
MRA legislation is to plan, undertake, promote and coordinate the development 
of land in redevelopment areas in the metropolitan region. The MRA Act specifies 
redevelopment area objectives, being: to build a sense of place; to promote 
economic wellbeing; to promote urban efficiency; to enhance connectivity; to 
promote social inclusion; and to enhance environmental integrity.

There have been changes to the nature of principal activities during the  
financial year. 

In November 2020, the Government approved Housing Authority Machinery of 
Government reforms including changes to the Housing Authority’s development 
role and moving Housing Authority land assets, land development projects and 
relevant staff to DevelopmentWA. The movement of Tranche 1 assets, projects and 
staff occurred in February 2021, with the movement of Tranche 2 on 1 July 2021. 

Further information can be found in Section 2.2 Future direction – Government 
Reform.

Shoreline, North Coogee
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - WALA
DevelopmentWA seeks to deliver returns to our shareholder based on the following 
framework:
• To act in accordance with existing legislation;
• Perform functions in a cost-efficient and financially sustainable manner;
• Endeavor to surpass long-term financial targets specified within our Strategic 

Development Plan;
• Ensure that no new project has an expected return below that specified within the 

Strategic Development Plan.

OPERATING RESULTS 2020-21 
($M)

2019-20 
($M)

2018-19 
($M)

2017-18 
($M)

2016-17 
($M)

Profit Before Income 
Tax Equivalents

12.693 3.532 9.742 9.648 22.915

Income Tax 
Equivalents Expense

3.883 1.201 2.988 2.874 5.002

Net Profit 8.810 2.331 6.754 6.774 17.913

RETURNS TO THE STATE
As specified in section 32 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, 
DevelopmentWA pays rates and taxes.  The following table outlines payments to 
Government in the last five years in respect of rates, taxes and dividends.

The Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 specifies determination of the 
dividend by the Board and Minister. The Board of Directors is required to make a 
dividend recommendation to the responsible Minister as soon as practicable after 
the end of each financial year. The Minister is required to consult with the Treasurer 
and either accept the recommendation or otherwise determine the dividend payable 
by DevelopmentWA.

The Treasurer determines the date the dividend is paid.

OPERATING RESULTS 2020-21 
($M)

2019-20 
($M)

2018-19 
($M)

2017-18 
($M)

2016-17 
($M)

Dividends Paid 168.666 8.443 37.869 53.779 43.219

Land Tax 43.908 41.815 40.626 42.969 47.357

Income Tax Expense 3.883 1.201 2.988 2.874 5.002

Local Government 
Rate Equivalents

6.109 7.510 7.780 7.009 8.147

Stamp Duty 19.008 1.163 0.590 1.336 0.785

Total Returns to 
Government

241.574 60.132 89.853 107.967 104.510
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LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND FUTURE RESULTS
We will continue to work with Government, stakeholders and customers to deliver the 
functions set out in the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

Expected future trading results, as set out in DevelopmentWA’s 2021-22 Statement 
of Corporate Intent are below:

($M)

Sales Revenue (GST exclusive) 433.5

Sundry Revenue 140.4

Cost of Land Sold (328.1)

Estate Costs (72.8)

Operating Costs (115.1)

Profit before Interest and Tax 57.9

Net Interest Expense (5.1)

Income Tax Expense (15.3)

Profit after Income Tax 37.5

Payments to Government (through the Consolidated Fund) are expected to total 
around $142.1 million from 2021-22 operations.  This includes tax equivalents 
and stamp duty on land acquisitions. Consistent with Government policy, 
DevelopmentWA will retain its dividend in 2021-22.

Broome North Community Garden
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration arrangements for key personnel refers to non-executive Directors 
of the Board and Executives responsible for planning, directing and controlling 
operations.

Policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments for key personnel is 
designed to attract, retain and engage appropriately qualified and experienced 
Directors and Executives. The Governance and Remuneration Committee assists the 
Board by ensuring that appropriate and effective policies, plans and practices are 
in place in relation to remuneration arrangements and meets regularly to consider 
relevant matters.

EMOLUMENTS
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
In accordance with Section 13(c) of Schedule 3A of the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992, the following tables show the nature and amount of each element 
for each Director.

The remuneration of Directors is determined following independent advice from 
remuneration consultants and the Public Sector Commission and approved by the 
Minister. Remuneration is in the form of salary and superannuation contributions.  
No further post-employment benefits are paid to Directors.

Director remuneration covers fees for attendance at Board and committee 
meetings. Directors are not remunerated separately for Board and committee 
attendance.

DIRECTOR PERIOD OF MEMBERSHIP DURING  
REPORTING PERIOD

FEES  $

George McCullagh 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 110,157

Rebecca Field 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 72,518

Jane Bennett 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 53,129

Alan Carpenter 30 September 2020 to 30 June 2021 39,233

Dale Page 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 53,129

Simon Read 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 53,129

Simon Reed 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 53,129

Kylee Schoonens 1 July 2020 to 29 September 2020 13,895
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The MRA Act provides for remuneration to be paid to members of the Board, 
as determined by the Minister on recommendation from the Public Sector 
Commissioner. In May 2020 the Board recommended to the Minister for Lands the 
suspension of payments of fees for MRA Board members (with effect from 1 July 
2020) reflecting the efficiencies gained from administrative reform of the merger 
with the Western Australian Land Authority.

Superannuation, at the required amount (9.5 per cent), is paid on fees as required 
under the Superannuation Guarantee Administration Act 1992.

DIRECTOR SUPERANNUATION $

George McCullagh 10,465

Rebecca Field 6,889

Jane Bennett 5,047

Alan Carpenter 3,727

Dale Page 5,047

Simon Read 5,047

Simon Reed 5,047

Kylee Schoonens 1,320

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Other than those disclosures reported in Section 5 (WALA Note 20 Related Party 
Disclosures), no Directors have received benefits, or are entitled to receive any 
benefit (other than included in the total amount of emoluments received or due 
and receivable by Directors) by way of a contract made by DevelopmentWA with 
the Director, a firm of which the Director is a member, or with an entity in which the 
Director has a substantial interest.

LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEES
In 2020-21, the following number of LRC meetings were held:

LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEES

Armadale
Central 

Perth
Subiaco Scarborough Midland

Number of 
meetings 8 5 7 7 5
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POSITION COMMITTEE MEMBER TYPE OF REMUNERATION PERIOD OF MEMBERSHIP ACTUAL REMUNERATION

Armadale Land Redevelopment Committee

Chairperson Ms Dale Page Not eligible 12 months $0

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde Sessional 12 months $2,100

Member Prof. Geoffrey London Sessional 12 months $2,160

Member Jane Bennett Not eligible 9 months $0

Member Cr Ruth Butterfield Sessional 12 months $2,160

Alternate Member Mr David Hartree Sessional 8 months $0

Alternate Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith Sessional 8 months $0

Central Perth Land Redevelopment Committee

Chairperson Ms Kylee Schoonens Not eligible 3 months $0

Chairperson Ms Jane Bennett Not eligible 9 months $0

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde Sessional 12 months $1,966

Member Prof. Geoffrey London Sessional 12 months $1,751

Member Ms Dale Page Not eligible 4 months $0

Member Ms Dianne Bain Sessional 3 months $810

Alternate Member Joshua Topelberg Sessional 3 months $270

Alternate Member Mr David Hartree Sessional 8 months $0

Alternate Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith Sessional 8 months $0

Midland Land Redevelopment Committee

Chairperson Ms Kylee Schoonens Not eligible 3 months $0

Chairperson Ms Jane Bennett Not eligible 9 months $0

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde Sessional 12 months $1,200

Member Prof. Geoffrey London Sessional 12 months $1,350

Member Ms Dale Page Not eligible 12 months $0

Member Cr Charlie Zannino Sessional 12 months $1,080

Alternate Member Mr Dan Bull Sessional 3 months $810

Alternate Member Ms Margaret Thomas Sessional 1 months $270

Alternate Member Mr David Hartree Sessional 8 months $0

Alternate Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith Sessional 8 months $0

Scarborough Land Redevelopment Committee

Chairperson Ms Kylee Schoonens Not eligible 3 months $0

Chairperson Ms Jane Bennett Not eligible 9 months $0

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde Sessional 12 months $1,800

Member Prof. Geoffrey London Sessional 12 months $1,890

Member Ms Dale Page Sessional 4 months $0

Member Cr Bianca Sandri Sessional 12 months $1,890

Alternate Member Mr David Hartree Sessional 8 months $270

Alternate Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith Sessional 8 months $0

Subiaco Land Redevelopment Committee

Chairperson Ms Dale Page Not eligible 12 months $0

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde Sessional 12 months $2,100

Member Prof. Geoffrey London Sessional 12 months $2,430

Member Ms Jane Bennett Not eligible 4 months $0

Member Mr Murray Rowe Sessional 12 months $1,620

Alternate Member Mr David Hartree Sessional 8 months $270

Alternate Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith Sessional 8 months $0



Montario Quarter, Shenton Park
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EXECUTIVE EMOLUMENTS
The Chief Executive and Executives receive a salary and superannuation 
contributions in line with Government entitlements. Where eligible, the private 
use component of a vehicle is provided. Decisions are made within the context of 
organisational and individual performance, and consistent with equivalent bodies, 
industry benchmarks, existing government policy and the industrial relations 
system. 

A total fixed remuneration (TFR) approach applies with flexible remuneration 
packaging arrangements, in line with industry best practice. This means that, 
although the components of the TFR or package may vary between remuneration 
reviews, the total amount remains constant. 

Superannuation is paid according to legislation and availability of other benefits  
(e.g. vehicles), subject to organisational policy and eligibility requirements.

Staff remuneration is reviewed annually. The Board is responsible for the 
remuneration of the Chief Executive which is also reviewed annually (in line with 
Minister approved contract of employment). The Chief Executive, in line with the 
policy set by the Governance and Remuneration Committee and the Board, sets 
Executive remuneration based on annual salary survey data and advice from 
independent remuneration consultants as well as a range of other factors including 
performance and the public sector context.

Employees in management roles, including Executives, are employed on individual, 
market-based contracts. No short or long term incentives, loans, grant options, 
rights or shares to key management personnel are provided. 

Performance of the Chief Executive and Executives is monitored against agreed 
criteria.

In accordance with Section 13(c) of Schedule 3A of the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992, the details of emoluments provided to the five named officers 
receiving the highest emoluments are provided for the financial year by element  
of remuneration:

SALARY ELEMENT

EXECUTIVES SALARY PAID $

Frank Marra 515,726

Dean Mudford 403,182

Kerry Fijac 337,908

Fiona Barclay 330,145

John Hackett 308,213

SUPERANNUATION ELEMENT
Executives are paid superannuation in 
accordance with the Superannuation 
Guarantee Administration Act 1992 
and the State Superannuation Act 
2000. Currently the prescribed level 
under the Superannuation Guarantee 
Administration Act 1992 is 9.5% of salary. 
Two Executives (Frank Marra and Kerry 
Fijac) are members of both the Gold 
State fund administered by GESB and 
receive approximately 15% of their salary 
in contributions to superannuation. 
Gold State Super was a defined benefit 
super scheme open to WA public sector 
employees until 1995.

EXECUTIVES SUPER PAID $

Frank Marra 79,535

Dean Mudford 38,302

Kerry Fijac 51,626

Fiona Barclay 31,364

John Hackett 29,280
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
During the reporting period, Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance was 
maintained to ensure Directors and Officers are adequately covered. 

The policy indemnifies Directors and Officers from loss which he/she becomes 
legally obligated to pay on account of any claim first made against him/her during 
the policy period for an insured act committed before or during the policy period.

The Authority has entered into deeds of indemnity with each Director and Officer 
to indemnify the Director and Officer in relation to certain liabilities incurred whilst 
a Director or officer of the Authority.

At the date of this report, no claims have been made against the Directors’ and 
Officers’ insurance policy.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in the Directors’ Report and 
financial statements, unless otherwise shown or indicated. 

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board.

George McCullagh  Simon Read   
Chairperson   Director 

31 August 2021

 

OTHER BENEFITS  
(MOTOR VEHICLE) ELEMENT
Other benefits cover the private use 
component of a vehicle, for those 
eligible. The value of the car to the 
remuneration package is based on 
private use component of the lease and 
operating costs plus Fringe Benefits 
Tax (FBT). All DevelopmentWA vehicles 
attract a contribution from the employee 
to reduce FBT. 

EXECUTIVES VEHICLE BENEFIT $

Frank Marra 22,392

Dean Mudford 13,642

Kerry Fijac 13,655

Fiona Barclay 12,916

John Hackett 6,510

Subi East. Artist impression only.
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Australian Marine Complex, Henderson
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4KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS  
2020-21

Yagan Square



4 4.1 CERTIFICATION OF KEY 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper 
records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of 
the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

George McCullagh
Board Chairperson

31 August 2021 

Simon Read
Audit and Risk Management  
Committee Chairperson

31 August 2021
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4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
The MRA Agency Level Desired Outcome is:

‘To deliver vibrant, attractive and active 
Redevelopment Areas by building a Sense of 
Place, enhancing Connectivity and Environmental 
Integrity, and promoting Economic Wellbeing, 
Urban Efficiency, and Social Inclusion through 
providing for the planning and redevelopment of 
those areas.’  

This outcome is guided by the MRA Redevelopment Area Objectives as prescribed 
in the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Regulations 2011. Regulation 14 
Redevelopment Area Objectives section 30(5)(c) states:

The objectives of each Redevelopment Area are as follows, to: 
•  build a sense of place by supporting high quality urban design, heritage 

protection, public art and cultural activities that respond to Perth’s environment, 
climate and lifestyle;

•  promote economic wellbeing by supporting, where appropriate, development 
that facilitates investment and provides opportunity for local businesses and 
emerging industries to satisfy market demand;

•  promote urban efficiency through infrastructure and buildings, the mix of land 
use and facilitating a critical mass of population and employment;

•  enhance connectivity and reduce the need to travel by supporting development 
aimed at well-designed places that support walking, cycling and public transit;

•  promote social inclusion by encouraging, where appropriate, a diverse range 
of housing and by supporting community infrastructure and activities and 
opportunities for visitors and residents to socialise; and

•  enhance environmental integrity by encouraging ecologically sustainable 
design, resource efficiency, recycling, renewable energy and protection of the 
local ecology.

The Redevelopment Area Objectives define the outcomes that the MRA intends to 
deliver within its Redevelopment Areas. These Redevelopment Area Objectives 
apply to all of the MRA’s Project Areas within its Redevelopment Areas.  

A single set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) is in place to measure the 
delivery of these Redevelopment Objectives. Each Redevelopment Area Objective 
is represented by a KPI that best reflects the individual Redevelopment Area 
Objective, and each KPI attempts to provide a useful measurement at any stage of 
the project cycle.
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4.3 AGENCY DESIRED OUTCOME
Agency Desired Outcome

To deliver vibrant, attractive and active redevelopment areas by building a sense of place, enhancing connectivity and 
environmental integrity, and promoting economic wellbeing, urban efficiency and social inclusion.

Redevelopment Objectives

Sense of Place

To build a sense of 
place by supporting 
high quality urban 
design, heritage 
protection, public art 
and cultural activities 
that respond to 
Perth’s environment, 
climate and lifestyle.

Economic Wellbeing

To promote 
economic wellbeing 
by supporting, 
where appropriate, 
development 
that facilitates 
investment 
and provides 
opportunities for 
local businesses and 
emerging industries 
to satisfy market 
demand.

Urban Efficiency

To promote urban 
efficiency through 
infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix 
of land use and 
facilitating a critical 
mass of population 
and employment.

Social Inclusion

To promote social 
inclusion for 
various people in 
the redevelopment 
area by requiring 
diverse and 
affordable housing 
and supporting 
community 
infrastructure, 
activities and 
opportunities for 
visitors and residents 
to socialise.

Connectivity

To enhance 
connectivity 
by supporting 
development aimed 
at well-designed 
places that support 
walking, cycling and 
public transit. 

Environmental 
Integrity

To enhance 
environmental 
integrity by 
encouraging 
ecologically 
sustainable 
design, resource 
efficiency, recycling, 
renewable energy 
and protection of the 
local ecology.

Key Performance Indicators

User Satisfaction

The concept of 
Sense of Place is 
best experienced 
and enunciated by 
the users of the 
Redevelopment Area. 
In order to measure 
sense of place, it is 
acknowledged that 
each Redevelopment 
Area, project and 
its associated 
precinct are at 
different stages 
of development 
and in turn, may 
not be suitable for 
surveying. User 
satisfaction will 
measure the level 
of satisfaction of 
the users of the 
Redevelopment 
Areas.

Investment 
Generated

The MRA invests 
money into 
Redevelopment 
Areas to stimulate 
the investment by 
other parties into the 
area. The proportion 
of investment 
made by private 
industry and/or non 
MRA government 
bodies into the 
Redevelopment 
Area is an indicative 
measure of the 
economic activity 
that has been 
produced from the 
MRA investment. 

Land Use Volume 
and Mix

A critical mass of 
population is best 
measured through 
the capacity of 
buildings produced 
through the 
Redevelopment. 
These measures 
must include 
the mix of land 
use – residential, 
commercial, retail 
and industrial that 
might be included in 
MRA Redevelopment 
Areas.

Housing Stock 
Diversity 

Redevelopment 
Areas require a 
mixture of housing 
sizes to ensure 
the needs of the 
demographic mix of 
an area are catered 
for and to ensure 
consistency of 
measurements.  
Housing Stock 
Diversity will be 
based on the number 
of bedrooms in a 
dwelling.  This will 
represent a range 
of size of dwellings. 
The diversity 
of the housing 
stock delivered 
by the MRA in the 
Redevelopment Area 
is the most accurate 
measure to gauge 
social inclusion.

Public Transit 
Access

Access of residents, 
workers and visitors 
to public transport 
options is an 
important gauge of 
connectivity within 
the Redevelopment 
Area. 

Green Star Rating

The Green Star 
Rating system 
provides a measure 
of the environmental 
integrity and 
efficiency of 
the built form 
developed within 
the Redevelopment 
Area.  This measure 
will demonstrate 
the environmental 
integrity and 
efficiency of 
commercial 
buildings.

Services

Delivery of Major Projects

Key Efficiency Indicator - Overheads to Inventory and Profit

The MRA exists to acquire land, develop land and sell land.  The costs 
it incurs to deliver these services speaks to the efficiency of the 
organisation.  The inventory of land assets held and the gross profit 
achieved through sales are two of the main metrics applicable to 
the MRA so a ratio of these metrics relative to the net operational 
overheads will track the efficiency of the Authority over time.

Statutory Planning Control

Key Efficiency Indicator - Statutory Planning Determination 
Timeframes

Determining Statutory applications is one of the most important and 
visible services the MRA provides to external parties who wish to 
develop in the Redevelopment Area.  The efficiency of these services 
is tied directly to critical services delivery and has the ability to 
impact the MRA reputation.
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4.4 ARMADALE 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA1

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13

BASELINE

2018/19 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2019/20 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21

TARGET 
SCORE

2020/21 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:

 – Project area quality
 – Project area amenity
 – Project area vitality

80% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

The survey is conducted at the initiation 
of each project to establish a baseline, 
then once the project is normalised or 
every five years, whichever is the earlier. 
The survey was conducted in the 2016/17 
year, and therefore is not required to be 
conducted in 2020/21.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA 
investment compared to 
MRA investment.

51:1

$60,886,296
:

$650,983
(93.53:1)

$49,419,598
:

$1,546,079
(31.96:1)

$163,517,115
 : 

$50,742
(3,222.52:1)

$97,852,058
:

$1,643,495
(59.54:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming development applications, 
as such performance against 
the investment generated KPI is 
significantly impacted by market 
performance. 
Predicted development applications 
forecasts were exceeded in 2020/21. 
There was a significant increase in 
dwellings due to market conditions 
resulting from the COVID stimulus 
and the approval of a lifestyle village 
and multiple grouped dwelling 
developments at Wungong.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved 
Development Application 
residential units.² 
Square metres of 
approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space.

83 Units
75,366m²

284 Units
32,509m²

214 Units
11,062m²

316 Units
37,601m²

558 Units
41,089m²

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved 
diverse residential 
dwellings according to 
number of bedrooms (1, 2 
and 3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage).

1 0%
2 0%
3+ 100%

1 0%
2 0%
3+  100%

1 0%
2 0%
3+  100%

1 0%
2 1%
3+ 99%

1 10%
2 9%
3+ 81%

There were no grouped dwelling sites 
approved in 2020/21 for Armadale 
however in Wungong, a lifestyle 
village and multiple grouped dwelling 
developments were approved.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved 
dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public 
transport nodes/stops.

17% 
dwellings

81 dwellings
(28.5%)

25 dwellings
(11.7%)

129 
dwellings

(40.8%)

205 
dwellings

(36.7%)

The number of approved dwellings in the 
area was more than forecast in 2020/21, 
which can be largely attributed to the 
Wungong Urban Water Project Area as 
detailed above.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green 
Star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings.

4 Star  0
5 Star  0
6 Star  0

4 Star  14
5 Star  0
6 Star  0

4 Star  6
5 Star  0
6 Star  0

4 Star 16
5 Star  0
6 Star 0

4 Star 14
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

The targeted number of development 
applications did not meet the original 
forecast. Those approved were within 
the expected 4 -star Green Star rating 
where relevant.

1 The Armadale Redevelopment Area comprises the Armadale and Wungong Urban Project Areas.
² Includes serviced apartments.
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4.5 CENTRAL PERTH 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA3

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13

BASELINE

2018/19 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2019/20 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21

TARGET 
SCORE

2020/21 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction 
against:

 – Project area quality
 – Project area amenity
 – Project area vitality

90% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

The survey is conducted at the 
initiation of each project to establish 
a baseline, then once the project 
is normalised or every five years, 
whichever is the earlier. The survey 
was conducted in the 2016/17 year, 
and therefore is not required to be 
conducted in 2020/21.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA 
investment compared to 
MRA investment.

1.7 : 1

$617,000,000
:

$28,369,322
(21.75:1)

$71,000,000
:

$ 13,895,422
(5.11:1)

$1,003,470,160
: 

$1,839,000
(545.66:1)

$367,000,000
:

$13,255,111
(27.69:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming development applications, 
as such performance against 
the investment generated KPI is 
significantly impacted by market 
performance. 
The number of approved residential 
units in the area in 2020/21 was less 
than forecast however m2 increased. 
Estimates were based on projections 
of development approvals at 
Elizabeth Quay and Perth City Link 
that were not determined due to 
market conditions delaying further 
applications at Perth City Link.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved 
Development Application 
residential units.⁴ 
Square metres of 
approved commercial, 
retail and industrial 
space.

41 Units
36,808m²

703 Units
64,718m²

83 Units
523m²

1,151 units
41,785m²

237 Units
54,704m²

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved 
diverse residential 
dwellings according to 
number of bedrooms (1, 2 
and 3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage).

1 14.6%
2 48.8%
3+ 36.6%

1 62%
2 32.8%
3+ 5%

1 4%
2 65%
3+ 31%

1 20%
2         No Target
3+ 10%

1 15%
2 30%
3+ 55%

The sole development application 
approved within the Central Perth 
Redevelopment Area included less 
single bedroom dwellings than the 
20% target. A variation was sought 
on an individual merit basis and 
approved in recognition that the 
application was located within the 
Elizabeth Quay Precinct which has 
previous and future development 
approvals expected to maintain a 
precinct wide mix in accordance 
with the targets. The applicable 
Development Policy 9, Affordable 
and Diverse Housing specifies 
percentage targets for 1 bedroom 
and 3+ bedroom dwellings but no 
target for 2 bedroom dwellings. 

Public Transit Access
Number of approved 
dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public 
transport nodes/stops.

100% 
dwellings

703 
dwellings

(100%)

83 dwellings
(100%)

1,151 dwellings
(100%)

237 dwellings
(100%)

The approved development is within 
a walkable catchment as anticipated.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green 
Star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings.

4 Star  4
5 Star  2
6 Star  0

4 Star 0
5 Star  4
6 Star  0

4 Star  0
5 Star  1
6 Star  0

4 Star  0
5 Star  3
6 Star  0

4 Star  0
5 Star  1
6 Star  0

The approved development at 
Elizabeth Quay will achieve a 
minimum 5-star Green Star rating in 
accordance with the Green Building 
Policy and the appropriate Design 
Guidelines. 

3 The Central Perth Redevelopment Area comprises the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, New Northbridge,  
Claisebrook Village and East Perth Power Station Project Areas.
⁴ Includes hotel rooms.
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4.6 MIDLAND 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA5

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13

BASELINE

2018/19 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2019/20 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21

TARGET 
SCORE

2020/21 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction 
against:

 – Project area quality
 – Project area amenity
 – Project area vitality

76% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not  
applicable

Not 
applicable

The survey is conducted at the 
initiation of each project to establish 
a baseline, then once the project 
is normalised or every five years, 
whichever is the earlier. The survey 
was conducted in the 2016/17 year, 
and therefore is not required to be 
conducted in 2020/21.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA 
investment compared  
to MRA investment.

4.6 : 1

$25,000,000
:

$93,525
(267.31:1)

$0.00
:

$531,362 
(0:1)

$265,652,460
:

 $355,000
(748.32:1)

$150,000
:

$1,119,472
(0.13:1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming development applications, 
as such performance against 
the investment generated KPI is 
significantly impacted by market 
performance.  
Development applications predicted 
for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the Midland Project area were not 
received due to market conditions 
delaying further applications and 
forecast lots not being released to 
the market as a result, negatively 
impacting both the investment 
generated ratio and the land use 
volume and mix. Private development 
was significantly reduced due to 
market conditions delaying further 
applications.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved 
Development Application 
residential units.⁶ 
Square metres of 
approved commercial, 
retail and industrial 
space.

15 Units
8,485m²

0 Units
12,719m²

0 Units
0m²

0 Units
49,202m²

0 Units
289m²

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved 
diverse residential 
dwellings according to 
number of bedrooms (1, 2 
and 3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage).

1 53.3%
2 40%
3+ 6.7%

Nil Nil
1 20%
2 No Target
3+ 10%

Nil

The forecast residential 
development applications in Midland 
were not received in 2020/21, due to 
market conditions delaying further 
applications.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved 
dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public 
transport nodes/stops.

100% 
dwellings Nil Nil Nil Nil

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green 
Star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings.

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 3
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 0
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

⁵ The Midland Redevelopment Area comprises the Midland Project Area.
⁶ Includes serviced apartments.
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4.7 SCARBOROUGH 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA7

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13

BASELINE

2018/19 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2019/20 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21

TARGET 
SCORE

2020/21 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction 
against:

 – Project area quality
 – Project area amenity
 – Project area vitality

81%⁸ Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not  
applicable

Not 
applicable

The survey is conducted at the 
initiation of each project to establish 
a baseline, then once the project 
is normalised or every five years, 
whichever is the earlier. The survey 
was conducted in the 2016-17 year, 
and therefore is not required to be 
conducted in 2020/21.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA 
investment compared to 
MRA investment.

$89,825,135
:

$3,562,897
(25.2:1)

$38,100,000
:

$0
(1:0)

$4,409,065
:

$144,294
(30.56:1)

$600,789,755 
: 

$0
(1:0)

$152,500,000
:

$9,970
(15,295.88: 1)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions of 
incoming development applications, 
as such performance against 
the investment generated KPI is 
significantly impacted by market 
performance.  
State investment in the Scarborough 
project area is majority completed, 
investment in Scarborough is now 
predominantly private.  
The number of approved residential 
units in the area in 2020/21 was 
less than forecast, however the 
commercial/retail floor space 
increased slightly. The forecast 
development applications in the area 
were not received in 2020/21 due to 
market conditions delaying further 
applications.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved 
Development Application 
residential units.⁹ 
Square metres of 
approved commercial, 
retail and industrial 
space.

236 Units
2,496m²

80 Units
214m²

18 Units
0m²

829 Units
9,800m²

214 Units
11,480m²

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved 
diverse residential 
dwellings according to 
number of bedrooms (1, 2 
and 3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage).

1 38%
2 54%
3+ 8%

1 8%
2 35%
3+ 56%

1 16%
2 67%
3+ 17%

1 20%
2 No Target
3+ 10%

1 47%
2 38%
3+ 15%

The targeted dwelling diversity was 
generally consistent with the minimum 
targets in Development Policy 9, 
Affordable and Diverse Housing.
The applicable Development Policy 
9, Affordable and Diverse Housing 
specifies percentage targets for  
1 bedroom and 3+ bedroom dwellings 
but no target for 2 bedroom dwellings

Public Transit Access
Number of approved 
dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public 
transport nodes/stops.

236 
dwellings

(100%)

80 dwellings
(100%)

18 dwellings
(100%)

829 
dwellings

(100%)

214 dwellings
(100%)

All approved developments are within a 
walkable catchment.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green 
Star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings.

4 Star 1
5 Star  0
6 Star  0

4 Star 1
5 Star  1
6 Star  0

4 Star  2
5 Star  0
6 Star  0

4 Star  4
5 Star  0
6 Star  0

4 Star 2
5 Star 1
6 Star 0

One development will achieve a 5-star 
Green Star rating and the other two 
development applications received will 
achieve a minimum 4-star Green Star 
rating in accordance with the Green 
Building Policy and the appropriate 
Design Guidelines.

⁷ The Scarborough Redevelopment Area comprises the Scarborough Project Area. 
⁸ The User Satisfaction survey was conducted in 2016/17 
⁹ Includes serviced apartments
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4.8 SUBIACO 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA10

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2012/13

BASELINE

2018/19 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2019/20 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21

TARGET 
SCORE

2020/21 

ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction 
against:

 – Project area quality
 – Project area amenity
 – Project area vitality

82% Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not  
applicable

Not 
applicable

The survey is conducted at the 
initiation of each project to 
establish a baseline, then once 
the project is normalised or every 
five years whichever is the earlier. 
The survey was conducted in 
the 2016-17 year and therefore is 
not required to be conducted in 
2020/21.

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA 
investment compared  
to MRA investment.

36.4 : 1

$21,890,000
:

$0
(1:0)

$8,000,000
:

$0
(1:0)

$68,092,120 
: 

$0
(1:0)

$78,625,000
:

$0
(1:0)

Non-MRA investment targets are 
estimated based on predictions 
of incoming development 
applications, as such performance 
against the investment generated 
KPI is significantly impacted by 
market performance.  
There was no capital spend in the 
Subiaco Redevelopment Area in 
2020/21, due to the project nearing 
completion for the MRA. 
The number of approved residential 
units and m2 forecast for the area 
in 2020/21 exceeded what was 
originally forecast. Bob Hawke 
College Stage 2 yielded slightly 
more than what was originally 
forecast. 

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved 
Development Application 
residential units.¹¹
Square metres of 
approved commercial, 
retail and industrial 
space.

101 Units
345m²

80 Units
76m²

23 Units
96m²

130 units
7,596m² 

133 Units
10,078m²

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved 
diverse residential 
dwellings according to 
number of bedrooms (1, 2 
and 3 bedroom) (minimum 
percentage).

1 49.5%
2 41.7%
3+ 8.8%

1        62%
2       23%
3+     13%

1       26%
2       30%
3+     44%

1               20%
2       No target
3+             10%

1               32%
2              26%
3+             42%

Development in the Subiaco 
Redevelopment Area exceeds the 
minimum housing diversity targets 
set out in Development Policy 9, 
Affordable and Diverse Housing 
and provides a balanced range 
of one, two and three bedroom 
dwellings.

Public Transit Access
Number of approved 
dwellings within walkable 
catchment of public 
transport nodes/stops.

100% 
dwellings

80 dwellings
(100%)

23 dwellings
(100%)

130 dwellings
(100%)

133 dwellings
(100%)

The targeted number of 
development applications were 
received as outlined above. All 
approved developments are within 
a walkable catchment.

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green 
Star rated (or equivalent) 
buildings.

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 1
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 2
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

4 Star 2
5 Star 0
6 Star 0

The new developments will achieve 
the minimum 4-star Green Star 
accordance with the Green Building 
Policy and the applicable Design 
Guidelines.

10 The Subiaco Redevelopment Area comprises the Subi Centro and Subiaco East Project Area.
11 Includes serviced apartments
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4.9 SERVICES 

SERVICES 2012/13

BASELINE

2018/19

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2019/20

ACTUAL 
SCORE

2020/21

TARGET 
SCORE

2020/21

ACTUAL 
SCORE

ANALYSIS

Delivery of major 
projects within MRA 
Redevelopment Areas
Key Performance Indicator
Ratio of net operational 
overheads to average 
inventory plus gross profit.

11% 9% 23% Not applicable Not applicable

This key performance 
indicator is no longer relevant 
due to the merger with the 
Western Australian Land 
Authority and the transfer 
of assets. MRA development 
assets have been transferred 
to DevelopmentWA. MRA 
has only retained inventory 
that is not undergoing 
active development, as 
such measuring this KPI is 
not relevant to the ongoing 
operation.

Statutory  
Planning Control
Key Performance Indicator
Median determination 
timeframe in days for 
development applications 
(standard * and major **), 
subdivision applications 
and structure plans

59 days

Armadale
Standard: 29 
Major: N/A

Armadale
Standard: 45 
Major: 88

Armadale
Standard: 90 
Major: 120

Armadale
Standard: 56 
Major: 177

Median determination 
timeframes for standard 
development applications 
were less than the target 
90 day period in all areas, 
maintaining efficient 
processing of these more 
minor developments.
The longer timeframes 
for major development 
applications in Armadale, 
Central Perth, Subiaco and 
Scarborough were a result 
of extensive design review, 
amendments to plans, and 
additional information being 
required.
No major development 
applications were received in 
Midland in 2020/21.

Central Perth
Standard: 61 
Major: 190

Central Perth
Standard: 62 
Major: 203

Central Perth
Standard: 90 
Major: 120

Central Perth
Standard: 52 
Major: 207

Midland
Standard: 90 
Major: 139

Midland
Standard: 60 
Major: N/A

Midland
Standard: 90 
Major: 120

Midland
Standard: 64 
Major: N/A

Subiaco
Standard: 55 
Major: 101

Subiaco
Standard: 66 
Major: 154

Subiaco
Standard: 90 
Major: 120

Subiaco
Standard: 75
Major: 144

Scarborough
Standard: 85 
Major: 140

Scarborough
Standard: 67 
Major: N/A

Scarborough
Standard: 90 
Major: 120

Scarborough
Standard: 75 
Major: 144

* Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires standard development applications to be approved within 90 days 
after the date on which the application is received. 
** Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires major development applications be approved within 120 days after 
the date on which the application is received.
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4.10 MRA METHODOLOGY 
NOTES TO ACCOMPANY 
EFFECTIVENESS RESULTS
USER SATISFACTION
The survey is conducted at the initiation of each project to establish a baseline, 
then once the project is normalised or every five years, whichever is the earlier. 
The survey was conducted in the 2016-17 year and therefore is not required to 
be conducted in 2020-21. The MRA has a target of 66% for the overall life of each 
Redevelopment Area.

INVESTMENT GENERATED
Results derived by:

MRA INVESTMENT:
•  Amount capitalised as inventory.
•  Plus any capitalised work on the MRA’s investment properties.
•  Plus the cost of works done by the MRA for other government agencies.
•  Plus the cost of works facilitated by the MRA within the Development 

Contribution Plans.

NON-MRA INVESTMENT:
•  Development applications approved in the period were filtered by 

Redevelopment Area, then by project and precinct.

A ratio is then sought after both non-MRA investment and MRA investment has 
been calculated. The formula is value of non-MRA investment ($) compared to 
MRA investment ($).

URBAN EFFICIENCY
NUMBER OF APPROVED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS FOR RESIDENTIAL UNITS
•  This was demonstrated by the number of approved development applications 

for residential, mixed use, change of use to residential and amendments 
approved in the last financial year per Redevelopment Area, then by project 
and precinct.

SQUARE METRES OF APPROVED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS FOR 
COMMERCIAL, RETAIL, AND INDUSTRIAL SPACE
•  This was demonstrated by the number of development applications approved 

in the last financial year per Redevelopment Area, then by project and 
precinct.

•  Development applications for small additions such as patios and fencing were 
not included.

•  Details of all approved floor space for applications were obtained from the 
Planning and Contract of Sale system (PACS).
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SOCIAL INCLUSION
•  Includes development applications 

approved in the last financial year in 
each Redevelopment Area.

•  The development applications were 
for residential, mixed use, change of 
use to residential and amendments to 
development applications. 

•  Development applications for mixed-
use developments which did not 
include residential or applications 
for transient residential such as hotel 
uses were not included.

•  Dwelling statistics for all approved 
residential dwellings were obtained 
from PACS. 

CONNECTIVITY
•  Results derived by using only:

 – Residential and mixed-use 
development applications;

 – Approved development 
applications; and

 –  Development applications approved 
in 2020-21 financial year were 
selected.

•  Straight Line Distance Analysis

 –  Development applications which 
were within walkable 400 metre 
distance of a bus stop and/or 
800 metre of transit stops were 
analysed. 

•  Walkable Distance Analysis 

 –  The list of development application 
lots within a straight line 400 metre 
to 800 metre distance of a transit 
stop were assessed to see if they 
were within 400 metre to 800 
metre via the road network. This 
was undertaken using Google Maps 
measurement tool as the transit 
stops are visible on Google Maps.

•  Final count of applicable development 
applications within walkable distance 
of transit stops by scheme area.

 –  The list of applicable development 
applications within walkable 
distance of transit was then sorted 
by project area.

ENVIRONMENTAL INTEGRITY
•  Results derived by only including 

development applications approved 
in the last financial year for each 
Redevelopment Area and then by 
project area and precinct.

•  These results were further refined 
by including only development 
applications for new commercial, 
industrial, mixed use, community 
or residential units excluding single 
dwellings.

•  Green Star conditions are only 
imposed when constructing new 
buildings.

•  Development approvals and individual 
files were reviewed to determine 
whether a (4/5/6 star) Green Star 
rating was imposed as a condition of 
the approval.

STATUTORY PLANNING 
CONTROL
•  The measure utilised was the average 

timeframe (in days) within which 
development applications (standard 
and major) were determined and 
applicants notified.

•  Subdivision applications are 
determined by the Western Australian 
Planning Commission (WAPC) within 
the Armadale Redevelopment Area, 
with the WAPC providing the MRA 
with a 42-day referral period prior to 
making a determination.
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Middleton Beach, Albany. Artist impression only
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

The Directors declare that: 

a)  in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992, including: 

i) giving a true and fair view of the Western Australian Land Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its 
performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

b)  in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Western Australian Land Authority will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Board Chairperson Audit and Risk Management Committee Chairperson

31 August 2021 

George McCullagh                      Simon Read
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      Auditor General

Page 1 of 2

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S OPINION
2021

Western Australian Land Authority

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of Western Australian Land Authority (the Authority), 
which comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2021, the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and 

 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
and the Directors’ declaration. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Authority are prepared in 
accordance with Schedule 3A of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 including:

 giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position at 30 June 2021 and of its 
performance for the year then ended; and

 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Authority in accordance with the 
Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & 
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I 
have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Other Information   
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information in the Authority’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include 
the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and accordingly, I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements
The Directors of the Authority are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Schedule 3A of 
the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and 
fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Authority’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government has 
made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Authority.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at 
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements of Western Australian Land Authority for 
the year ended 30 June 2021 included on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is 
responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on 
the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. If users of the financial statements are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from publication on the website, they are advised to refer to the 
hard copy of the audited financial statements to confirm the information contained in this website 
version of the financial statements.

Caroline Spencer 
Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia
3 September 2021
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      

Jun-21 Jun-20
 Note  $’000  $’000 

 Continuing operations 

 Operating revenue  2(a)  536,770  267,510 

 Operating expenses  2(b)  (427,687)  (177,680)

 Gross profit  109,083  89,830 

 Other revenue  2(a)  9,178  4,209 

 Estate holding expenses  (34,963)  (37,872)

 Employee benefit expenses  (28,313)  (22,351)

 Consultant expenses  (5,498)  (3,154)

 Advertising, public relations and sponsorship  (4,513)  (4,264)

 Impairment reversal/(loss) on trade receivables  1,543  (2,345)

 Other expenses   2(b)  (31,483)  (18,312)

 Results from operating activities  15,034  5,741 

 Finance income  2(a)  474  2,071 

 Finance costs  (2,815)  (4,280)

 Net finance costs  (2,341)  (2,209)

 Profit before income tax  12,693  3,532 

 Income tax expense  3  (3,883)  (1,201)

 Profit for the year  8,810  2,331 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  8,810  2,331 

The Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.     
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021     

Jun-21 Jun-20
 Note  $’000  $’000 

CURRENT ASSETS 

 Cash and cash equivalents  16(a),17  68,531  19,483 

 Receivables  4,17 14,486  52,812 

 Inventories 5 354,325  301,404 

 Other assets 9  4,050  6,870 

 Total current assets  441,392  380,569 

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 Receivables 4,17  8,901  8,691 

 Inventories 5  465,492  565,169 

 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 6  297,679  302,559 

 Right of use assets 7  4,899  7,023 

 Deferred tax assets 8  32,186  27,669 

 Other assets 9  43,107  28,282 

 Total non-current assets  852,264  939,393 

 TOTAL ASSETS  1,293,656  1,319,962 

 CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Payables 10,17  22,768  23,582 

 Borrowings 14  11,775  46,100 

 Current tax liabilities 11  7,172  657 

 Provisions 12  33,525  10,878 

 Lease liabilities 7  2,496  2,311 

 Other liabilities 13  14,927  10,985 

 Total current liabilities  92,663  94,513 

 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Provisions 12  1,426  2,156 

 Loans and borrowings 14  176,625  189,400 

 Lease liabilities 7  2,818  5,043 

 Other liabilities 13  37,906  36,810 

 Total non-current liabilities  218,775  233,409 

 TOTAL LIABILITIES  311,438  327,922 

 NET ASSETS  982,218  992,040 

 EQUITY 

 Contributed equity 15  701,821  551,787 

 Retained profits  280,397  440,253 

 TOTAL EQUITY  982,218  992,040 

The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.      
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 $’000  
Contributed 

Equity 

 $’000  
Retained  
Earnings 

 $’000  
Total 

 Balance at 1 July 2019 as previously stated  413,370  449,375  862,745 

 Opening balance adjustment on application of AASB15  (3,010)  (3,010)

 Balance at 1 July 2019 as restated  413,370  446,365  859,735 

 Total comprehensive income for the period 

 Profit for the year  -  2,331  2,331 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -  2,331  2,331 

 Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity 

 Dividends (note 23)  -  (8,443)  (8,443)

 Contributions of equity (note 15)  138,417  -  138,417 

 Balance at 30 June 2020  551,787  440,253  992,040 

 Balance at 1 July 2020  551,787  440,253  992,040 

 Total comprehensive income for the year 

 Profit for the year  -  8,810  8,810 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -  8,810  8,810 

 Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  - 

 Dividends (note 23) -  (168,666)  (168,666)

 Contributions of equity (note 15)  150,034  -  150,034 

 Balance at 30 June 2021  701,821  280,397  982,218 
    

The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.      
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      

Jun-21 Jun-20
 Note  $’000  $’000 

 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 Receipts from customers  253,918  224,194 

 Operating subsidies received (i)  324,700  73,839 

 Payments to suppliers and employees  (322,121)  (287,217)

 Interest received  568  212 

 Income tax paid  (160)  (1,982)

 Net cash generated from operating activities  16(b)  256,905  9,046 

 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 Payments for infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  (1,750)  (3,165)

 Proceeds from sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  15  - 

 Net cash (used in) investing activities  (1,735)  (3,165)

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 Proceeds from equity contribution  15,000  - 

 Proceeds from borrowings  -  58,500 

 Repayment of borrowings  (47,100)  (48,500)

 Payment of dividends  (168,666)  (8,443)

 Payment of lease liabilities  (2,548)  (2,306)

 Finance interest paid  (2,808)  (4,723)

 Net cash (used in) financing activities  (206,122)  (5,472)

 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  49,048  409 

 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  19,483  19,074 

 Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June   16(a)  68,531  19,483 

The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

(i) Included in Operating subsidy received is $166,336,000 for Regional Land Stimulus Funding.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Western Australian Land Authority (WALA) is the Western Australian Government’s land and property development agency with its office 
and principal place of business as follows: 

Level 2   
40 The Esplanade  
PERTH, WA 6000 

WALA is a not-for-profit (NFP) entity that is controlled by the State Government of Western Australia. 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Unless otherwise stated these policies are 
consistent with those adopted in the previous year. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 31 August 2021. 

a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992 and Australian Accounting Standards (AASB) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB). The financial statements do not apply AASB 8: Operating Segments, and AASB 120: Accounting for Government Grants 
and Disclosure of Government Assistance. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention. Accounting policies have 
been applied in a manner which ensures the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability. 

Fair value  

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between arm’s length market 
participants at the measurement date, or estimated using another valuation technique. 

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, WALA takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 

Fair value for measurement or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions 
that are within the scope of AASB 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in AASB 102 or value in use in AASB 136. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within their fair value hierarchy 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable 

• Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

b)  Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is both the functional and presentation currency of WALA. All values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000). 

c)  Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from the estimate. 
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised and in any affected future periods. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty 
and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial 
statements are described in the following notes: 

•  Note 2: Revenue, with reference to the partnering assessment under AASB 11 Joint Arrangements and grants to fund operating subsidy 
projects and holding costs

•  Note 2: Expenses, with reference to operating subsidy expenditure

• Note 4: Receivables, with reference to Note 17 Financial instruments  

• Note 5: Inventories, with reference to Net Realisable Value (NRV) assessments 

• Note 7: Right of use assets, with reference to lease liability  

• Note 17: Financial instruments  

• Note 19: Commitments  

• Note 20: Related party disclosures 

d)  Application of new and revised Accounting Standards 

In the current year, WALA has reviewed all new and revised accounting standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2020 thus, relevant to this 
financial year end.  

Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period (or prior periods) 

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement (a type of public private partnership) by a 
grantor that is a public sector entity by prescribing the accounting for the arrangement from the grantor’s perspective. 

Timing and measurement for the recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the arrangement and the 
accounting for associated liabilities is determined by whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public service 
provided.

WALA does not maintain any public private partnership that is within the scope of the Standard.

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business 

The Standard amends AASB 3 to clarify the definition of a business, assisting entities to determine whether a transaction 
should be accounted for as a business combination or as an asset acquisition. 

There is no financial impact for WALA.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material

The Standard principally amends AASB 101 and AASB 108. The amendments refine the definition of material in AASB 101. The 
amendments clarify the definition of material and its application by improving the wording and aligning the definition across 
AASB Standards and other publications. The amendment also includes some supporting requirements in AASB 101 in the 
definition to give it more prominence and clarifies the explanation accompanying the definition of material.

There is no financial impact for WALA.

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework

This Standard sets out amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other pronouncements to 
reflect the issuance of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) by the AASB.

There is no financial impact for WALA.
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AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards implementation of AASB 1059 

This standard amends AASB 16 Leases and AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors, to add a practical 
expedient to grantors of a Service Concession Arrangement that AASB 16 not be applied to service concession assets under 
AASB 1059, and to clarify the liability of grantors that use the retrospective approach for adoption of AASB 1059. 

WALA does not maintain any public private partnership that is within the scope of the Standard.

AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Interest rate Benchmark reform  

The Standard amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from 
the potential effects of the uncertainty caused by the interest rate benchmark reform. 

There is no financial impact for WALA.

AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure of the effect of new IFRS standards not yet released in Australia 

This amendment requires entities that assert compliance with IFRS standards to disclose information on the potential 
effect of an IFRS standard that has no yet been issued under Australian Accounting Standards. 

There is no financial impact for WALA.

AASB 2021-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 

This Standard amends AASB 16 Leases to extend by one year the application period of the practical expedient added to AASB 
16 by AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

There is no financial impact for WALA.

e) Changes in significant accounting policies 

There were no significant changes to WALA accounting policies during the year. There were no changes required upon implementation of 
AASB1059 to the results for the 2020-21 reporting period. 

f) Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Amendments listed below were in issue and, considered relevant for 
assessment at WALA, but not yet effective. 

Operative 
for reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or Joint Venture 

Clarification of the treatment of a gain or loss on transfer to an associate or joint venture resulting from 
the sale or contribution of assets involved in a business, and when not involved in a business. 

Will be applicable on the effective date of transfer of Housing Authority (Communities) assets. To be 
assessed when not deferred.

Deferred 
indefinitely
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AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 

This Standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify requirements for the 
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position as current or non-current. 

The amendments clarify that a liability is classified as non-current if an entity has the right at the end of 
the reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
The meaning of settlement of a liability is also clarified.

WALA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2023

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018–2020 and Other 
Amendments 

This Standard amends multiple standards from the issuance by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) in May 2020 of several IAS. 

This Standard amends: 

(a) AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards to simplify the application of AASB 
1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent in relation to the measurement of 
cumulative translation differences; 

(b) AASB 3 Business Combinations to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations; 

(c) AASB 9 Financial Instruments to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the 
terms of a new or modified financial liability is substantially different from the terms of the original 
financial liability; 

(d) AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment to require an entity to recognise the sales proceeds from 
selling items produced while preparing property, plant and equipment for its intended use and the 
related cost in profit or loss, instead of deducting the amounts received from the cost of the asset; 

(e) AASB 137 Impairment of Assets to specify the costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a 
contract will be loss-making; and 

(f) AASB 141 Agriculture to remove the requirement to exclude cash flows from taxation when measuring 
fair value, thereby aligning the fair value measurement requirements in AASB 141 with those in other 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

WALA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2022

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of 
Accounting Estimates 

AASB 2021-2 amends AASB Standards to improve accounting policy disclosures and clarify the 
distinction between accounting policies and accounting estimates. 

WALA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2023

g) Payables 

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when WALA becomes obligated to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. Payables have terms of 30 days. Payables are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

h) Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

An item of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment may be gifted or contributed to WALA. Under these circumstances, the deemed cost of 
the item is its market value as at the date it was gifted or contributed. 
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Subsequent costs 

The costs of replacing part of an item of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it 
is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to WALA and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of day-to-day maintenance and servicing of infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Depreciation is not charged on freehold land. Infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. Depreciation is provided for on the straight line basis to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated 
residual value. WALA reviews depreciation rates annually. 

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation for each class of depreciable asset unless another method 
provides a better estimate of useful life: 

 Buildings  25-40 years 

 Furniture & Office Equipment  4-10 years 

 Computer Equipment  3 years 

 Leasehold Improvements  3 years 

 Plant & Equipment  10 - 50 years 

 Infrastructure  22 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment costing less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition (other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 

Capital works in progress includes expenditure on assets which are under construction but not substantially complete at the reporting date. 

i) Employee benefits 

Wages, salaries, annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on the wage and salary rates, including related on-costs such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax 
that WALA expects to pay as at reporting date. Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits such as medical care and cars are expensed based on 
the net marginal cost to WALA as the benefits are taken by employees. 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date plus related on-costs. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, and periods of service. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions and pre-conditional leave entitled within 12 months are classified as current liabilities as WALA does 
not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The provision 
for conditional long service leave entitled later than 12 months is classified as a non-current liability, as WALA has an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

An actuarial assessment of long service leave as at 30 June 2021 was undertaken to determine the valuation used. 

Superannuation 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are due. 
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j) Contributed equity 

Capital contributions have been designated as contributions by owners and have been credited directly to contributed equity in the statement of 
financial position only when such contributions have been designated by the Department of Treasury as a contribution by the owner at the time 
of or prior to the transfer. 

k) Foreign currency 

All foreign currency transactions during the year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign 
currency monetary items at the reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at that date. Exchange differences are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

l) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), with the exception of: 

• GST incurred which is not recoverable from the taxation authority. This GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as 
part of an item of expense 

• Receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

m)  Income tax 

WALA entered into the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER) in 2001/02 whereby an equivalent amount in respect of income tax is payable 
to the Department of Treasury. The calculation of the liability in respect of income tax is governed by NTER guidelines agreed by the State 
Government. The Australian Taxation Office administers the NTER. 

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, WALA is required to comply with Accounting Standard AASB 112: Income Taxes. 

Current tax 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of 
income taxes payable or recoverable based on the taxable profit or loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the 
extent it is unpaid (or refundable). 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary 
differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered, or liabilities are settled. 

The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax 
asset or liability. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. 
Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from the recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences. 

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, WALA takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional 
taxes and interest may be due. WALA believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of 
many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve 
a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes WALA to change its judgement regarding the 
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period of such a determination. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets. This occurs when the 
transactions relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a basis or their tax assets, and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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n) Inventory – land held for sale 

Land held for sale comprising development properties is carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value (based on undiscounted cash flows).  
Land Inventory includes developed land, undeveloped land and includes the cost of acquisition and development. Amounts are disclosed as 
current where it is anticipated that land will be developed ready for sale within twelve months after reporting date. The net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 

o) Joint Operations 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations 
for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Investments in joint operations are accounted for by recognising amounts on a line by line basis 
in accordance with the accounting standards applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in relation to the group’s 
interest in the joint operation. 

Key judgements are applied when concluding if joint control does exist based on the decision making rights of the parties in relation to relevant 
key decisions associated with the operations /development agreements. Refer to Note1 (c).

p) Lease arrangements 

At inception of a contract, the company assess if the contract is, or contains a lease. A contract contains a lease if the contract conveys a right to 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

 A contract is assessed for; 

i) The use of an identified asset 

ii) If the substantial rights and control of the asset are transferred to the customer over the period of use 

iii) The customer has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefit of the asset over the period of use. 

Accounting for leases as lessee 

On inception of a lease contract, as lessee, WALA recognises a right of use asset and lease liability. Where the lease is short term, twelve months 
or less, or of low-value, under five thousand, the practical exemption is applied. Short term and low value lease expenses are disclosed under 
lease arrangements note 24. 

The right of use asset is initially measured at cost and is equal to the initial measurement of lease liability. After initial recognition right of use 
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation, impairment losses, and adjusted for any changes to the lease. Right of use 
assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the lease term. 

At the commencement date of the lease, lease liabilities are measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. 
The lease payments include fixed payments, less any incentives receivable and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. 
In calculating the present value of the lease payments, an incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date is used, as the implicit 
interest rate is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the lease liability increases by the accretion of interest and reduced by 
the payments made. The lease liability is adjusted for any lease payments made before the commencement date and any additional direct costs 
attributable to the lease. 

Concessionary Peppercorn Leases 

Leased assets arising from significantly below market leases are measured at fair value at the inception of the lease whereas the lease liability is 
recognised at present value of peppercorn lease payment amounts. The difference between the right of use asset and lease liability is recorded 
as income in the income statement under AASB1058. 

WALA has elected to measure concessionary leases at cost in accordance with AASB16 paragraphs 23–25, which incorporates the amount of the 
initial measurement of the lease liability. 

Accounting for leases as Lessor 

WALA is a lessor in a number of operating leases of industrial, grazing and residential property. These assets are recognised on the statement 
of financial position as items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment or inventory. Refer to Note 1(h) and Note 1(n) for accounting 
treatment. 
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q) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when WALA has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Onerous Contracts 

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous contract is considered to exist 
where WALA has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits 
expected to be received under it. 

r) Financial assets 

All financial assets, aside from long term trade receivables that have been present valued, are initially measured at fair value and adjusted for 
transaction costs (where applicable). Trade receivables that are not present valued are measured at transaction price. 

Analysis of the implementation of AASB 9 Financial Instruments and details regarding the classification, measurement and impairment of 
financial assets are contained in Note 17 Financial Instruments. 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate, is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the debt instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Commercial bills and term deposits with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that WALA has the positive intent and ability to 
hold to maturity are classified as cash investments and are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in the Statement of profit or loss are categorised under financial income 
and expenses, except for the impairment allowance of trade receivables which is presented separately on the Statement of profit and loss and 
other comprehensive income. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

WALA derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. 

If WALA neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, WALA 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If WALA retains all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset substantially, WALA continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 

s) Receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any impairment losses. Refer to accounting policies for financial assets 
under (r) financial assets. 

t) Impairment of assets 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of WALA’s assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there are any 
indicators of impairment. If any such indicators of impairment exist then, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount 
for intangible assets, that have an indefinite life or are not yet available for use, is estimated annually and whenever there is an indication of 
impairment. 
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An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that a loss has decreased or no longer 
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. 

Financial assets 

Aside from those trade receivables that are not present valued, financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transactions 
costs (where applicable). Upon implementation of AASB 9 Financial Instruments expected credit loss (ECL) ratios are calculated and applied to 
financial assets based on a more forward-looking analysis of anticipated credit losses. Financial assets are classified into risk portfolios and 
the anticipated ECL ratio is recalculated at each reporting date where it is assessed that the risk of default is likely to change over the life of the 
asset. 

Expected credit losses for the reporting period are calculated by applying the appropriate calculated ratio to the carrying amount of the financial 
asset. The financial asset is then reduced by this impairment amount. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the 
impairment allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the impairment allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 

Further analysis of the application of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to WALA financial assets and the resulting impairment judgments and 
calculations is contained in Note 17 Financial Instruments. 

u) Revenue recognition 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the WALA satisfies a performance obligation, by transferring a promised good or 
service to a customer and is based upon the transfer of control rather than the transfer of risks and rewards. 

If the consideration for the contract contains variable consideration, WALA estimates the amount of the consideration to which it is entitled, 
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated 
uncertainty with the variable consideration in resolved. 

Where WALA acts as an agent for the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority or any other government agencies, income is not recognised. The 
income received will net off the cost as per the principal and agent provisions in AASB 15 Revenue. 

WALA uses the practical expedient in AASB 15 Revenue and does not adjust the consideration for the effects of a significant financing component 
if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer of the goods or services to the customer, and when the customer pays 
for that good or service will be one year or less.  

Contract assets and contract liabilities are disclosed separately to identify assets and liabilities in relation to contracts with customers. 

Land Sales 

Contracts for land sales are assessed to identify the performance obligations contained in the contract. Typically, land sales contain one 
performance obligation when the transfer of the land is made to the customer. The transfer of the land would normally be at settlement, or when 
control of the land has transferred to the customer. At this point revenue is recognised.  

Royalty Revenue 

Contracts for royalty payments are earned when resources from the land are sold to a customer. The performance obligation is satisfied, when 
there has been a transfer to the customer, and revenue is recognised. 

Rental Income 

Rental revenue generated from operating leases, where WALA is a Lessor, is recognised as income on a straight line basis over the rental term in 
accordance to AASB 16 Leases. 
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Interest Income 

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the principal sum of the financial 
asset, in accordance with AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 

Participation Fee Income 

Participation fee revenue is recognised in the profit and loss in proportion to the sale of lots over the total precinct, at the reporting date. 

Project Management Revenue 

Project management revenue is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. 

Services earned free of charge 

Services received free of charge are recognised as revenue when and only when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would 
have been purchased if they had not been donated. Consequently, use of those resources is recognised as an expense. 

Unearned Revenue 

Unearned revenue comprises prepaid rental income, upfront capital lease payments and partnering agreement participation fees received but 
not yet earned. Unearned revenue is released to income as and when the services for which it was paid are delivered. 

Other Income 

Other revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that economic benefits will flow to WALA. 

v) Operating subsidy project funding 

WALA receives operating subsidy funding from the Department of Treasury and other government agencies in return for certain commitments 
that arise due to its obligations under the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992. The circumstances arise because:

1. WALA is specifically requested, or it is specifically approved to perform a community service obligation.

2. WALA could not perform the community service obligation as it would not comply with its own obligation to act on commercial principles; or

3. The commitment is of the kind that is generally not performed by businesses in the public or private sector.

Operating subsidy funding is transparently and consistently reported year on year, and recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income when received. Operating subsidy expenditure is incurred in the normal course of WALA business operations. 

Management exercise judgement to ensure that the matching principle is applied in a reporting period with regards to timing of receipt of 
operating subsidies and the related expenditure to which the subsidy was contemplated. Management believe that the economic resources of 
the entity are best reflected in this manner, when it is known that a subsidy grant will be received as it is the result of a past decision by the State 
Government.

As at 30 June2021 WALA had $27,378,002 (2020 $27,931,552) in unspent grant funding that had been received and not yet spent.

w) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with short periods from inception to 
maturity, are readily convertible to cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

x) Rounding 

All amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

y) Comparative amounts 

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial report is amended, comparative amounts are reclassified unless the 
reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are reclassified, WALA discloses: 

• the nature of the classification 

• the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified 

• the reason for the reclassification.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 2 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 Profit before income tax includes the following items of revenue and expense 

 a) Operating Revenue 

 Contracts with customers 

 Land sales  150,941  140,192 

 Royalties  3,317  1,049 

 Total operating revenue with customers  154,258  141,241 

 Grants to fund operating subsidy projects(i)  290,843  47,063 

 Property rent revenue  51,092  45,530 

 Property expenses recovery  6,137  7,172 

 Grants to fund operating subsidy projects - holding costs  33,857  25,933 

 Project management revenue  583  571 

 Total operating revenue  536,770  267,510 

 Other operating revenue 

 Participation fees  1,963  660 

 Other  7,215  3,549 

 Total other operating revenue  9,178  4,209 

 Non-operating revenue 

 Finance Revenue  474  2,071 

 Total non-operating revenue  474  2,071 

 Total other revenue   9,652  6,280 
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      
     

NOTE 2 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX CONTINUED
Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 b) Expenses from operating activities 

 Operating expenses 

 Cost of sales  (114,990)   (93,471)

 Operating subsidy project expenditure (i)  (274,439)   (47,520)

 Property management expenses  (38,258)   (36,689)

 Total operating expenses  (427,687)   (177,680)

 Other expenses from operating activities 

 Administration expenses  (2,628)   (3,235)

 Accommodation expenses  (1,070)   (875)

 Land study expenses  (14,275)   (1,797)

 Loss on sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  (14)  -   

 Depreciation and amortisation  (13,496)   (12,405)

 Total other expenses from operating activities  (31,483)   (18,312)

(i) Included in Grants and Operating subsidy project expenditure is $166,336,000 for Regional Land Stimulus Funding and Expenditure.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      
     

NOTE 3 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
The major components of tax expense and the reconciliation of the expected tax expense based on the effective tax rate at 30% (2020: 30%) 
and the reported tax expense in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as follows: 

 Current tax expense comprises: 

 Current year  8,913  2,302 

 Current tax expense - under provision in respect of prior years  (512)  (2,068)

 Current tax   8,401  234 

 Deferred tax expense  (4,923)  (1,242)

 Deferred tax expense - under provision in respect to prior years  405  2,209 

 Deferred tax  (4,518)  967 

 Total income tax expense  3,883  1,201 

 Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax accounting profit 

 Total profit for the year  8,810  2,331 

 Total income tax expense  3,883  1,201 

 Profit excluding income tax  12,693  3,532 

 Income tax using WALA’s domestic rate of 30% (2020: 30%)  3,808  1,059 

 Non-deductible expenses  181  1 

 Under provision in respect of prior years  (106)  141 

 Total income tax expense  3,883  1,201 
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      
     

NOTE 4 RECEIVABLES
Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
Current

Trade receivables 9,102  53,221 

 Expected credit loss  (167)  (2,518)

8,935  50,703 

 GST receivable  5,551  2,109 

 Total current receivables 14,486  52,812 

 Non-current 

 Trade receivables  8,901  8,691 

 Total receivables 23,387  61,503 

         

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for trade receivables is the carrying amount of the asset inclusive of any 
expected credit loss as shown in the table at Note 17 “Financial Instruments”. Refer Note 17 for further discussion of financial risks associated 
with receivables. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      
     

NOTE 5 INVENTORIES
Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 Current - land under development and developed land 

 at cost 270,307  256,094 

 at net realisable value  84,018  45,310 

 Total current inventories 354,325  301,404 

 Non-current - undeveloped land and developed land 

 at cost  435,113  550,355 

 at net realisable value  30,379  14,814 

 Total non-current inventories  465,492  565,169 

 Total Inventories 819,817  866,573 

 Land held for sale comprises 

 Cost of acquisition 410,621  460,777 

 Development costs  409,196  405,796 

 Total Inventories 819,817  866,573 

The valuations of developed land held for sale have been determined based on advice from independent valuers and real estate agents 
in accordance with WALA Valuation and Pricing policy. Land valued at net realisable value has been determined based on robust internal 
calculations. List prices are reviewed twice a year (depending on the type of land) except during static market conditions whereby prices may be 
reviewed less frequently under the instruction of a relevant delegated authority. 
The most recent valuations for undeveloped land were performed on land held at 1 January 2021. No adjustment has been made to the valuations 
for the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Management continue to monitor the COVID-19 situation on inventory.
Undeveloped land valuations were provided by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) (Valuation Services). All undeveloped 
land holdings will be independently valued every two years and metropolitan undeveloped land will be independently valued every year.
Market value of developed land and undeveloped land held at 30 June 2021 amounted to $1,448,235,938 (2020: $1,445,593,754).
At 30 June 2021 the write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to $2,867,989 (2020: $4,982,703). Inventory impairment 
expenses are included in operating expenses.
During the year, WALA received specifically approved operating subsidy funding of $166,336,000 to undertake a commitment to stimulate 
regional land developments. As part of the State Recovery Plan, the aim of the State Government, was to incentivise regional land (residential, 
commercial, tourism and industrial) activation via targeted incentives and regional land repricing to stimulate all sectors of the regional 
construction industry by attracting new private investment, facilitating development finance and growing employment in building trades and 
construction supply chains in regional WA. 
Consistent with these aims, WALA undertook an assessment of its regional inventories, and examined the impact of market forces and ways to 
contribute to economic stimulus. 
The result of this led to a change in WALA’s Valuation and Pricing Policy to ensure Act requirements were satisfied, after which, WALA was able to 
apply the value of the operating subsidy equivalent to the regional land portfolio being repriced to current Landgate values.  Regional inventory 
levels were written down to net realisable value in accordance with AASB102, resulting in an operating expense of $166,336,000 incurred by 
WALA to enact these price changes.
During the year $135,034,313 of inventories was transferred from the Housing Authority to WALA. The inventory was transferred at book value, 
through equity. Refer to Note 15.   
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 6 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Non-current

Freehold 
Land 

 $’000 

 Buildings 

 $’000 

 Infra- 
structure 

 $’000 

 Equipment 

 $’000 

 Total 

 $’000 

 Cost or deemed cost 

 Balance at 30 June 2019  85,514  45,366  27,191  214,889  372,960 

 Additions  10,189  28,391  -  9,068  47,648 

 Cost revisions  -  -  -  5  5 

 Disposals  (301)  -  -  (66)  (367)

 Balance at 30 June 2020  95,402  73,757  27,191  223,896  420,246 

 Additions  12,549 784  309  998  14,640 

 Cost revisions  -  -  -  50  50 

 Reclassification  9,715  (9,715)  -  -  - 

 Disposals  (8,549)  -  -  (709)  (9,258)

 Balance at 30 June 2021  109,117  64,826  27,500  224,235  425,678 

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Balance at 30 June 2019  -  (16,783)  (16,413)  (74,634)  (107,830)

 Disposals  -  -  -  66  66 

 Depreciation expense  -  (1,427)  (1,242)  (7,254)  (9,923)

 Balance at 30 June 2020  -  (18,210)  (17,655)  (81,822)  (117,687)

 Disposals  -  -  -  687  687 

 Depreciation expense  -  (1,738)  (1,247)  (8,014)  (10,999)

 Balance at 30 June 2021  -  (19,948)  (18,902)  (89,149)  (127,999)

 Carrying amounts 

 at 30 June 2020  95,402  55,547  9,536  142,074  302,559 

 at 30 June 2021  109,117  44,878  8,598  135,086  297,679 

     

WALA obtained valuations from Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) for land to support the carrying value included in 
infrastructure, property, plant and equipment. Based on their estimated market value at 1 January 2021; market value of freehold land at  
30 June 2021 was $465,727,000 (2020: $491,062,000). 
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
   

NOTE 7 LEASES - RIGHT OF USE ASSETS      

Buildings/
Equipment Vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Right of use assets

As at 1 July 2019  8,159  239  8,398 

Additions/modifications of right of use assets  972  135  1,107 

Depreciation charge  (2,325)  (157)  (2,482)

As at 30 June 2020  6,806  217  7,023 

Additions/modifications of right of use assets  249  124  373 

Depreciation charge  (2,336)  (161)  (2,497)

As at 30 June 2021  4,719  180  4,899 
 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period. 

Jun-21 Jun-20

$’000 $’000
Lease liabilities

As at 1 July  7,354  8,398 

Accretion of interest  138  167 

Payments  (2,548)  (2,306)

Modifications/new assets  370  1,095 

As at 30 June  5,314  7,354 

Current  2,496  2,311 

Non current  2,818  5,043 

 5,314  7,354 
  

Right of use assets predominately relate to long- term property leases. Additions during the year were for leased equipment and vehicles. 
Modifications refer to adjustments in lease terms.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021  

NOTE 8 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
    

Jun-21 Jun-20

$’000 $’000
 

 Non current 

 Deferred tax asset  50,187  46,224 

 Deferred tax liability  (18,001)  (18,555)

 Net deferred tax asset  32,186  27,669 

     

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities and movement in temporary differences during the year are attributable to the following:  
   

2021
Opening 
balance

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss

 Under (over)  
provision in 

prior year 
 Closing 
balance 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

 Temporary differences

 Inventories  14,515 -  (404)  14,111 

 Intangible assets  24 - -  24 

 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  (201)  (852)  161  (892)

 Right of use assets  (2,106)  637 -  (1,469)

 Accrued expenses  2,526  6,363  427  9,316 

 Provision for superannuation  27  25 -  52 

 Provision for annual leave  801  305 -  1,106 

 Provision for long service leave  1,267  142 -  1,409 

 Provision for doubtful debts  742  (993) -  (251)

 Provision for future development obligation  15,578 -  (591)  14,987 

 Accrued income  (1,283) - -  (1,283)

 Income received in advance  (8,379)  166 -  (8,213)

 Right of use liabilities  2,206  (612) -  1,594 

 Recognition of long leases  4,925  (229) -  4,696 

 Prepayments  117 -  1  118 

 Partner development costs  (3,090)  (29) -  (3,119)

 27,669  4,923  (406)  32,186 
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NOTE 8 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CONTINUED

2020
Opening 
balance 

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss 

Under (over)  
provision in 

prior year 
 Closing 
balance 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

 Temporary differences

 Inventories  15,552  (8)  (1,029)  14,515 

 Intangible assets  24  -  -  24 

 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  767  (795)  (173)  (201)

 Right of use assets  -  (2,106)  -  (2,106)

 Accrued expenses  3,809  (1,073)  (210)  2,526 

 Provision for superannuation  25  2  -  27 

 Provision for annual leave  632  169  -  801 

 Provision for long service leave  1,321  (54)  -  1,267 

 Allowance for doubtful debts  55  720  (33)  742 

 Provision for future development obligation  16,362  -  (784)  15,578 

 Accrued income  (2,439)  1,156  -  (1,283)

 Income received in advance  7,637  1,167  (17,183)  (8,379)

 Right of use liabilities  -  2,206  -  2,206 

 Recognition of long leases  (12,143)  (115)  17,183  4,925 

 Prepayments  97  -  20  117 

 Partner development costs  (3,063)  (27)  -  (3,090)

 28,636  1,242  (2,209)  27,669 
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NOTE 9 OTHER ASSETS

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 Current 

 Deposit bonds  1,326  925 

 Prepayments  2,724  5,945 

 Total current other assets  4,050  6,870 

 Non-current 

 Deposits for land acquisitions (i)  37,079  25,096 

 Prepayments (ii)  6,028  3,186 

 Total non-current other assets  43,107  28,282 

     

 (i)  Non-current deposits relate to large government land acquisitions   

 (ii)  Non-current prepayments contain development and Native Title payments to be utilised in a period greater than one year     
 

     

NOTE 10 PAYABLES 

 Current 

 Trade payables  5,660  3,649 

 Accrued expenses  14,659  16,082 

 GST payable  2,449  3,851 

 Total current payables  22,768  23,582 

     

NOTE 11 TAX LIABILITIES

 Current 

 Income tax payable  7,172  657 

 Total current tax liabilities  7,172  657 
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NOTE 12 PROVISIONS

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 Current 

 Employee benefits  7,761  4,737 

 Provision for remediation (i)  3,898  6,141 

 Other provisions (ii)  21,866  - 

 Total current provisions  33,525  10,878 

 Non-current 

 Employee benefits  1,426  2,156 

 Total non-current provisions  1,426  2,156 

     

(i)  Provision for remediation refers to current obligations as a result of sale and development infrastructure works

(ii)  Development costs not yet incurred in relation to the regional land stimulus funding, were provided for as there is a present obligation to deliver stimulus to the   
 regions. Settlement of the provision will occur when the development costs are incurred.        

 Movements in each class of provision during the period 

 Employee Benefits 

 Carrying amount at start of period  6,893  6,511 

 Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised  5,330  2,074 

 Payments  (3,036)  (1,692)

 9,187  6,893 

 Provision for Remediation 

 Carrying amount at start of period  6,141  5,690 

 Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised  (2,243)  536 

 Payments  -  (85)

 3,898  6,141 

 Other Provisions 

 Carrying amount at start of period - -

 Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised  21,866  1,786 

 Payments  -  (1,786)

 21,866 - 
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NOTE 13 OTHER LIABILITIES

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000
 Current 

 Contract liabilities (i)  7,730  4,735 

 Unearned revenue (ii)  7,197  6,250 

 Total current other liabilities  14,927  10,985 

 Non-current 

 Unearned revenue (ii)  23,005  25,386 

 Contract liabilities (i)  4,901  1,424 

 Other (iii)  10,000  10,000 

 Total non-current other liabilities  37,906  36,810 

(i)   Contract liabilities include deposits received on sale of land.

(ii)  Unearned revenue is rent received in advance for leased properties. Non-current unearned revenue refers to revenue received in advance for capital leases that 
compensates for periods greater than one year

(iii)  Other liabilities relate to development bond monies           
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 NOTE 14 BORROWINGS

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 Current 

 Working capital facility  -  46,100 

 Debt portfolio manager(i)  11,775  - 

 Total current borrowings  11,775  46,100 

 Non current 

 Debt portfolio manager  176,625  189,400 

 Total non current borrowings  176,625  189,400 

 Total loans and borrowings  188,400  235,500 

(i)  Repayments due for the debt portfolio manager in the next 12 months are classified as current.

WALA currently holds two debt facilities with the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC); a five year rolling Debt portfolio manager 
facility and a Working capital facility for short-term lending.       

Under the Debt portfolio Manager facility WALA has the ability to repay a maximum of 20% of the balance per year.   

During the year WALA closed the unsecured bank overdraft facility with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. 

 Financing facilities 

 Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call: 

 Amount used  -  - 

 Amount unused  -  2,000 

 -  2,000 

 Secured loan facilities with Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) 

 Amount used  188,400  235,500 

 Amount unused  89,500  46,994 

 277,900  282,494 

     

 As part of the State Budget, Government has approved WALA’s borrowing projections based on cash flow estimates. The limits are as follows:   
   

 Borrowing limit at 30 June   277,900  282,494 

 “Intra-year” peak borrowings*  332,800  515,612 

* The Treasurer advises the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) of a peak borrowing requirement which is based on WALA’s forecast cash flow estimates. 
WALA’s request for borrowing is managed within the confines of this approved limit throughout the year.   
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 NOTE 15 EQUITY
Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 

 Contributed equity 

 Capital contributed on formation  113,957  113,957 

 Capital contributed by State Government during prior years  437,830  299,413 

 Capital contributed by State Government during the current year  150,034  138,417 

 Total contributed equity  701,821  551,787 

 Asset transfers from Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation  -  25,270 

 Asset transfers from Metropolitan Land Authority  -  113,147 

 Asset transfers from Housing Authority  135,034  - 

 Department of Treasury equity contribution  15,000  - 

 Total capital contributed by State Government during the year  150,034  138,417 

     

During the year a transfer of Housing assets from the Housing Authority was processed through equity at book value $135,034,000. The assets 
were transferred to inventory refer Note 5.

During the year $15,000,000 was contributed by the Department of Treasury for the Ocean Reef Marina project.
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NOTE 16 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 (a)  Reconciliation of cash      

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial 
position as follows:    

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000
 Cash and cash equivalents  68,531  19,483 

 (b) Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

 Profit for the year  8,810  2,331 

 Adjustments for: 

 Accrued income  (3,841)  13,103 

 Loss on sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  -  -   

 Employee benefit expense (non-cash component)  (470)  156 

 Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  13,496  12,405 

 Impairment loss/(gain)on trade receivables  (1,502)  2,414 

 Finance interest paid  2,815  4,280 

 Income tax expense  3,883  1,201 

 23,191  35,890 

 Assets (increase)/decrease 

 Receivables  11,030   (15,969)

 Inventories  204,757   (7,400)

 Other assets  (12,005)  2,276 

 Liabilities increase/(decrease) 

 Payables  (685)   (6,528)

 Provisions  22,387   (2,360)

 Other liabilities  6,231  5,119 

 Cash generated from operating activities  254,906  11,028 

 Net income tax paid  1,999   (1,982)

 Net cash from operating activities  256,905  9,046 

     

WALA  
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2190 



WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021      
     

NOTE 16 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED
 (c)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities         

 New 
borrowings / 

(payments) 
 Non-cash 

movement 
 Closing 
balance 

 New 
borrowings / 

(payments) 
 Non-cash 

movement 
 Closing 
balance 

2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

 Short-term borrowings  -     (38,900)  46,100  -     (34,325)  11,775 

 Long-term borrowings  10,000  38,900  189,400   (47,100)  34,325  176,625 

 Lease liabilities   (2,306)  9,660  7,354   (2,548)  508  5,314 

 Total liabilities from financing activities  7,694  9,660  242,854   (49,648)  508  193,714 
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition     

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost.  

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and 
all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.  
    

WALA’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables and Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation (WATC) bank borrowings. WALA has limited exposure to financial risks as detailed below.

Receivables are present valued, to reflect the time value of money, when they have repayment terms greater than one year. 

WALA receivables are valued at amortised cost and impaired by the appropriate expected credit loss ratio.    

 WALA financial assets and liabilities 2021 2020

$’000 $’000
 Financial assets 

 Cash and cash equivalents (at amortised cost)  68,531  19,483 

 Trade and other receivables (at amortised cost) 17,836  59,394 

 Total financial assets 86,367  78,877 

 Financial liabilities 

 WATC loans/borrowings (at amortised cost)  188,400  235,500 

 Trade and other payables (at amortised cost)  22,768  23,582 

 Lease liabilities (at amortised cost)  5,314  7,354 

 Total financial liabilities  216,482  266,436 

     

Financial risks and risk management      

WALA has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

(i)  credit risk       

(ii)  liquidity risk       

(iii)  market risk

The information below represents information about WALA’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.     

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has established the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. The committee reports 
regularly to the Board on its activities.  
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by WALA, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and WALA’s activities. WALA employs policies and procedures and ongoing staff training to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees and monitors compliance with WALA’s risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by WALA. The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
is supported in its role by regular, thorough and varied internal audit processes conducted by external accounting firms. These internal audits 
include both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.    

 (i) Credit risk      

Credit risk occurs where there is a possibility of WALA’s customers with outstanding receivable balances defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to WALA.

The majority of WALA’s revenue is received and recognised at the time of settlement of sale. WALA’s customers are required to meet the 
contractual obligations of a sale (being transfer of sale funds to WALA) in order for the ownership of the WALA asset to transfer to the customer. 
As a result receivables make up a small proportion of WALA’s overall customer base.

The majority of WALA receivable balances are made up of rental revenue receivable amounts from various Government and commercial tenants. 
Policies are in place to ensure that goods and services are provided to customers with an appropriate credit history. WALA trade receivables 
are both short and long term in nature. Interest can be charged on any outstanding balances to compensate the entity for the use of their funds. 
Receivable balances are monitored on an on-going basis with the result that WALA’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.

Bad debts (impairments) are written off against the allowance account when it is highly unlikely or not economically viable to recover the debt. At 
the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  

Exposure to credit risk      

AASB 9 contains two approaches to assessing impairment - the simplified approach (applied to trade receivables without a financing 
component) and the general approach (applied to most loans and debt securities). The standard allows a policy election to apply the simplified 
approach or general approach for lease receivables and trade receivables with a significant financing component.   
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Summary of WALA financial asset impairment approach 

WALA has reviewed trade receivables by categorising customers into one of three portfolios of customer and subsequently risk, as shown in 
the tables below. WALA has applied the simplified approach in accounting for the Government and Commercial/Rental portfolio. Mortgages are 
considered to carry an inherently higher risk, given their value and term, and have therefore been assessed using the general approach. Under 
the general approach to assessing risk, there mortgages will be reviewed on a 12 month basis rather than applying a lifetime expected credit loss 
ratio. WALA has used historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses (ECL) as 
at 30 June 2021, by portfolio of debtor, as shown below:         

 WALA Asset 
Impairment 
approach 

 ECL  
Type 

 2021   
ECL % 

 2020   
ECL % 

 Cash  Simplified N/A 0% 0%

 Trade receivables 

 Mortgage receivables  General  12 month 0.001% 0.607%

 Government agency receivables  Simplified  Lifetime 0% 0%

 Commercial receivables  Simplified  Lifetime 0.033% 0.039%

     

 

 Receivable Portfolio
Total 

$’000s  Govt.  Commercial  Mortgage 

 30 June 2021 

 Expected credit loss rate 0% 0.033% 0.001%

 Estimated gross carrying amount at default 18,003 12,461  4,858  684 

 Expected credit losses  2  -    2  - 

 30 June 2020 

 Expected credit loss rate (2019/20 rates applied) 0% 0.039% 0.607%

 Estimated gross carrying amount at default  61,912  8,398  13,751  39,763 

 Expected credit losses  246  -    5  241 
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables 2021 
 $’000 

2020 
 $’000 

 Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables: 

 Balance at start of period  2,518  185 

 (Decrease)/Increase in general ECL provision for the year  (244)  246 

 (Decrease)/Increase in provision for mortgage risk (i)  (343)  346 

 (Decrease)/Increase in provision for rental revenue risk (ii)  (106)  153 

 (Decrease)/Increase in provision for interest revenue risk (iii)  (1,665)  1,665 

 Amounts written off during the period  -  (9)

 Provision raised/ (reversed) during the year (iv)  7  (68)

 Balance at end of period  167  2,518 

WALA has assessed all receivable balances for risk on a case by case basis to determine the expected impact of COVID-19. Results of these allowances are represented in 
the following three risk allowances.    

(i) Mortgage risk provision. Based on borrower repayment behaviour, negotiation status at end of financial year and market risk due to COVID-19 it is expected that 
there is a risk that some mortgages will not be settled in 2021/22. Given that the land title remains with WALA for these mortgaged properties the risk is calculated at 1% 
($3,000) which represents the loss of potential earnings in addition to the land values which would be recoverable.

(ii) Rental Revenue risk provision. Tenants of properties owned by WALA have experienced a similar impact to the commercial and residential rental markets in general 
as a result of COVID-19. It is necessary to make an allowance for the anticipated risk to these rental payments. A direct allowance of 5% has been applied to the expected 
rental receipts for 2021/22 entitlement ($47,000). 

(iii) Interest Revenue risk - A full balance impairment has been applied against a debtor, considered very uncertain, ($1,665,260) was provided for in 2019/20. This debt 
was settled during 2021 and the provision reversed. 

(iv) In addition to the ECL provision, WALA assess all accounts receivable balances that are 180 plus days past due. A $7,325 provision was recognised for a specific 
doubtful debt in addition to the ECL. During 2018/19 an additional provision of $9,462 and $68,750 was recognised for specific doubtful debtors in addition to the ECL. 
During 2019/20 $68,750 of this amount was received and $9,462 was written off as a bad debt. 
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
The carrying amount of WALA’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. WALA’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date was: 

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
 Trade and other receivables 18,003  61,913 

 Cash and cash equivalents  68,531  19,483 

86,534  81,396 

     

(ii)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that WALA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. WALA’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and adverse conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to WALA’s reputation.

WALA limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counter-parties that have a credit rating of AA- from 
Standard & Poor’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counter-party to fail to meet its obligations.

WALA uses market value to cost its land, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return on investments. 
Typically WALA ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 30 days, including the 
servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as 
natural disasters.

In addition, WALA maintains the following lines of credit:   

•  $277,900,000 (2020: $282,494,000) provided by Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) that can be drawn down to meet short and 
long-term financing needs. WALA utilises a Working Capital Facility product for short term lending. Interest is calculated on a simple interest 
rate basis and is payable on maturity. For long term borrowing WALA utilises the Debt Portfolio Manager Service (DPM), which provides 
a diversified portfolio of twenty maturity dates over five years. Interest rates are reset each quarter. A Guarantee fee, charged by the 
Department of Treasury, is applied at a rate of 0.7% on loan balances and is also payable quarterly.     

•  On request by WALA, guarantees are issued by Commonwealth Bank of Australia to various Government entities as security against any 
adverse contract performance outcomes. The guarantee facility, up to a value of $20,000,000 (2020: $20,000,000), is secured by WALA’s 
underlying land assets. At 30 June 2021 $7,500,000 (2020: $6,000,000) of the facility has been used as security on civil contracts, leaving a 
balance of $12,500,000 (2020: $14,000,000)in the facility.  
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
WALA’s contractual maturities of financial liabilities (including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements) 
are as follows:    

Weighted Average 
effective interest 

rate %

 Carrying 
 Amount 

 Contractual 
 cash flows 

 6 months 
 or less 

6-12
 months 

 More than 
 1 year 

2021  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

 Trade and other payables  22,768  (22,768)  (21,601)  (88)  (1,079)

 WATC loans/borrowings 0.42%  188,400  (194,253)  (1,060)  (12,806)  (180,387)

 Lease liabilities Note 7 2.10%  5,314  (5,459)  (1,309)  (1,289)  (2,861)

 216,482  (222,480)  (23,970)  (14,183)  (184,327)

2020

 Trade and other payables  23,582  (23,582)  (22,679)  (279)  (624)

 WATC loans/borrowings 0.51%  235,500  (242,430)  (23,884)  (24,722)  (193,824)

 Lease liabilities Note 7 2.10%  7,354  (7,635)  (1,249)  (1,240)  (5,146)

 266,436  (273,647)  (47,812)  (26,241)  (199,594)

     

(iii)  Market risk     

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect WALA’s income or the value 
of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

WALA currently has no derivative arrangements.    

All WALA borrowings are due to the WATC and are repayable at fixed rates with varying maturities determined as part of overall cash 
management processes. WALA’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the long-term debt obligations.

Interest rate risk     

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of WALA’s interest-bearing financial instruments.     

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
 Variable rate instruments 

 Financial assets  68,531  19,483 

 Financial liabilities  (188,400)  (235,500)
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments:    

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/ (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts 
shown below.    

2021 
$’000

 Profit or loss 

 100 bp 
increase 

 100 bp 
decrease 

 Financial assets  685  (685)

 Financial liabilities  (1,884)  1,884 

2020 

$’000
 Financial assets  195  (195)

 Financial liabilities  (2,355)  2,355 

     

Fair values     

Fair values versus carrying amounts     

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of financial position, are as follows: 
    

30 June 2021 30 June 2020

 $’000 
 Carrying 

amount  Fair value 
 Carrying 

amount  Fair value 

 Trade and other receivables(i) 17,836 17,836  61,913  61,913 

 Cash and cash equivalents  68,531  68,531  19,483  19,483 

 Trade and other payables  (22,768)  (22,768)  (23,582)  (23,582)

 WATC loans/borrowings  (188,400)  (188,400)  (235,500)  (235,500)

 Lease liabilities  (5,314)  (5,314)  (7,354)  (7,354)

 (130,115)   (130,115)  (185,040)  (185,040)
     

(i) Trade and other receivables inclusive of the ECL and excluding GST.

Capital Management 

Under Section 19 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, WALA is required to act on commercial principles. The Board’s policy is to 
maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain shareholder, creditor and market confidence and to sustain the future development of the 
business.      

WALA has agreed to a dividend policy with its shareholder, the State Government, based on a set formula. WALA retains the cash balance as a 
source of capital funding for ongoing activities. 

There were no changes to WALA’s approach to capital management during the year.
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NOTE 18 LAND SALES CONTRACTS 

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
Unsettled sales contracts excluding GST (i)  220,803  82,072 

Total unsettled sales contracts  220,803  82,072 
     

(i)  Unsettled sales contracts have not been included in revenue since neither title nor possession has been transferred. This treatment is in accordance with the 
Accounting Policy explained in note 1(u).    

NOTE 19 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments expenditure

Development of land (i)  242,159  48,767 

Operating subsidy (project funding received in advance)  27,378  27,932 

 269,537  76,699 

Capital commitments relate to development of land and large infrastructure projects under development.

(i) Bank guarantees are held for security over high value civil works, undertaken for State and Local Governments for contracts included in the development of land. 
Refer to Notes 17 (ii).

(b) Operating lease commitments 

Short term and low value operating lease commitments are disclosed in Note 24(a). Right of use assets are disclosed in Note 7.

NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
WALA is a wholly-owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia. 

Related parties of WALA include:

• State Government Cabinet Ministers, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities    

• All directors and senior officers of WALA, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities    

• Other departments and statutory authorities, including their related bodies, that are included in the whole of government consolidated 
financial statements  

• Associates and joint ventures of an entity that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements   

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
Material Transactions with Ministers, senior officers and their related parties

Current WALA Non-Executive Directors are: George McCullagh, Simon Read, Jane Bennett, Dale Page, Rebecca Field, Simon Reed and Alan 
Carpenter. Alan Carpenter was a Board Member for part of the year from 30 September 2020. During the year Kylie Schoonens was a Board Member 
form 1 July 2020 to 30 September 2020. All WALA Non-Executive Directors are also Non-Executive Directors of the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority. 

During the current year WALA received project income of $11,665,052 (2020: $5,820,915) from the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority. This 
project income included recovery of costs for seconded staff members and transition costs. WALA paid Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
$16,708,050 (2020:nil) for developer contribution plan contributions. No asset transfers with a book value of nil (2020: $113,146,965) occurred 
through equity during the year. 

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage, is the WA State Government department that encompasses the West Australian Planning 
Commission. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, is a member of the West Australian Planning Commission.   

During the year WALA incurred $239,155 (2020: $251,662) in land acquisitions costs, $31,387 in administrative costs (2020: $17,557), and received 
$296,103 in secondment recovery (2020: $742,977 project costs) from the Department of Planning, Land and Heritage. At 30 June 2021 WALA held 
a deposit for land of $31,827,551 (2020: $21,844,771). During the year WALA incurred $115,988 (2020: $54,782) in application fees to the Western 
Australian Planning Commission. 

Sponsorship, research, professional development and application fees totaling $71,579 (2020: $56,149) were incurred during the year to Urban 
Development Institute of Australia. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive Director of WALA, is a member of the Council of the Urban Development 
Institute of Australia.

Consultancy Fees totaling $4,329 (2020: nil) were incurred during the year to CLE Town Planning and Design. Jane Bennett, a Non-Executive 
Director of WALA, is a Director and 50% Shareholder of CLE Town Planning and Design.  

Dale Page is a Non-Executive Director of WALA, and is the Director of Planning and Development at the City of Joondalup. During the year WALA 
paid $21,518 in project fees to the City of Joondalup (2020: $54,198). 

Alan Carpenter is a Non-Executive Director of WALA. During the year a family member purchased land from WALA for $348,708. The price 
reflected the publicly available list price for the land.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

WALA has determined that the Key Management Personnel of WALA includes all Cabinet Ministers, the directors and senior officers of WALA. 

WALA is not responsible for the Cabinet Ministers compensation. Disclosures in relation to a Minister’s compensation may be found in the Annual 
Report on State Finances.       

Jun-21 Jun-20

$’000 $’000
Short-term employee benefits  3,001  2,960 

Post-employment benefits  327  321 

Other long-term benefits  88  87 

Total compensation of key management personnel (excluding Ministers)  3,416  3,368 
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
Significant transactions with Government - Related Entities  

WALA transacts with a number of Western Australian State Government authorities, agencies and government trading enterprises. Total 
annual transactions that are deemed significant include:    

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
Receipts

Entity Nature

 Department of Fire and Emergency Services  Contaminated sites management grant  -  660 

 Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation  Project management and consultancy fees  34,464  3,164 

 Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development 

 Consultancy fees  1,098 - 

 Department of Treasury  Grants to fund operating subsidy projects (recurrent) 169,595  72,939  

 Department of Treasury  Grants to fund operating subsidy projects (capital) 15,000  - 

 Department of Treasury  Regional land stimulus  166,336  - 

 Fremantle Port Authority  Property lease and on-costs  -  10,962 

 Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority  Project and transition costs  11,665  6,478 

 Water Corporation of WA  Rent  -  2,969

 Western Australian Treasury Corporation  Borrowings  -  40,000 

 Western Power Corporation  Project management and consultancy fees  -  2,665 
   

Payments

Entity Nature

 Commissioner of State Revenue Stamp duty  (17,747)  (4,313)

 Department of Finance Land tax and state fleet  (44,701)  (41,815)

 Department of Transport Recovery fees  -  (640)

 Department of Treasury Recovery of residual funds  (1,206)  - 

 Department of Treasury Dividends  (168,666)  (8,443)

 Department of Treasury Local government rates equivalent tax  (7,765)  (9,491)

 Fremantle Port Authority Rent  (1,870)  (1,382)

 Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)  Superannuation  (2,188)  (1,980)

 Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Developer contribution plan contributions  (16,708)  - 

 Risk cover Insurance  (1,636)  - 

 Synergy Power supplies  (3,283)  (2,251)

 Water Corporation Water services and rates  (4,901)  (3,209)

 Western Australian Treasury Corporation Repayment of borrowings  (47,100)  (70,000)

 Western Australian Treasury Corporation Interest and fees on borrowings  (1,397)  (8,900)

 Western Power Corporation Electrical connections and services  (14,289)  (3,975)
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED     

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
Balances outstanding at the year end:

Assets

Entity Nature

 Department of Parks and Wildlife Receivable for prepayment for environmental offset land  2,021  2,021 

 Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage Receivable for deposit for land  32,760  21,845 

 Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Receivable for recovery of project costs  2,176  - 

 WA Country Health Service  Receivable for deposit for land acquisition based on land 
exchange

 2,318  2,318 

Liabilities

 Western Australian Planning Commission Land exchange adjustment  (2,751)  (757)

 Western Australian Treasury Corporation Accrued interest and borrowings  (187,905)  (236,125)

     

NOTE 21 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of audit fees during the year:

Audit of the financial report  177  140 

Audit of Royalty for Regions reports  15  24

 192  164

NOTE 22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
During the ordinary course of development activities WALA periodically has to undertake remediation works. WALA have land sites classified 
as contaminated on the Contaminated Sites Report issued by the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation, as at 30 June 2021. There 
is insufficient information available to assess the financial impact of remediation required on any contaminated land held, which has yet to be 
developed. The uncertainties are due to the impact of development, current and future use which impacts the nature of any potential obligation, 
if any, and the level of contamination. Any costs that arise relating to remediation and decontamination activities are ultimately incurred as part 
of development activities, form part of WALA’s development costs and will impact Inventory. Refer to Note 5.

DevelopmentWA is signatory to the Yamatji Nation Indigenous Land Use Agreement. The Agreement was registered by the National Native Title 
Tribunal on 30 July 2020 and placed on the Register of Indigenous Land Use Agreements. The Agreement was Conclusively Registered on 26 
October 2020. DevelopmentWA has commercial and industrial land commitments under this agreement triggered by  events not wholly in control 
of by DevelopmentWA.

With regards to the Subsequent event (ii) for assets transferred from the Housing Authority, WALA will also take-on obligations that are attached 
to specific assets as part of this Agreement.

The estimated value of these obligations is intrinsically linked to market forces and demand and could be up to $17 million.
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NOTE 23 DIVIDENDS

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
Recognised amounts

Normal dividend  2,330  8,443 

Special dividends:

- Regional Land Booster  166,336  - 

 168,666  8,443 

WALA’s dividend policy it to pay a percentage of prior year net profit after tax to the State Government. This has ranged from 125% in 2019/20, 
100% in 2020/21 and 75% in 2021/22. The dividend policy is endorsed by the Expenditure Review Committee. 

At the August 2020 Board meeting, the Board approved the recommendation to the Minister of a final dividend for 2019/20 to be paid in 2020/21 
of $2,330,000. The dividend reflects a net profit after tax calculation of 100%. The dividend was paid in December 2020.  

As part of the State Government response to the COVID-19 pandemic a regional land stimulus was announced whereby $166,336,000 was 
provided to WALA in the form of a subsidy to reduce land prices in regional areas to stimulate the economy. Part of this agreement included the 
expectations the cash provided would be returned to the State via a special dividend. 
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NOTE 24 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

Jun-21 Jun-20

 $’000  $’000 
 (a) Short term and low value leases  

No later than 1 year  39  39 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  1  1 

Later than 5 years  2  4 

 42  44 

     

(b) Operating lease receivables 

WALA holds certain land and buildings for strategic purposes only. Such holdings are rentable properties and are treated as operating lease 
receivables. Total future lease receivables are as follows:

No later than 1 year  28,695  26,421 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  96,427  92,161 

Later than 5 years  277,024  282,148 

 402,146  400,730 
     

Leases are negotiated with terms between two to five years with the exception of a number of contracts with terms of 50 years. Rental income 
is subject to future assessment based on the terms of the lease arrangements. Outstanding operating leases are based on existing rates and do 
not include the extension periods under option.    

NOTE 25 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
(i)  On 23 September 2019, there was an administrative merger of Western Australia’s land development agencies, WALA and the Metropolitan 

Redevelopment Authority. Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority assets are progressively being transferred to WALA. Approvals were 
granted in June 2021 to transfer $9,932,465 of land and buildings from MRA to WALA. The asset transfer will be effective when WALA obtains 
titles.

(ii)  In July 2021, as part of a State Government initiative to streamline government land development activities, several land development 
projects and apartment projects were transferred from the Housing Authority to WALA. The projects will continue to be delivered by private 
sector developers in partnership with WALA. The financial impacts of the transfer are subject to ongoing due diligence which is anticipated 
to be completed during the year 2021/22.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 
(WA) from proper accounts and records to present fairly the 
financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 
2021 and the financial position as at 30 June 2021.  
 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances 
which would render the particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate. 

The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA)  has 
pleasure in presenting its audited general purpose financial 
statements for the financial reporting period ended 30 June 
2021 which provides users with the information about the 
MRA’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

George McCullagh Simon Read
Board Chairperson Audit and Risk Management Committee Chairperson
31 August 2021  31 August 2021 

Fiona Barclay
Chief Financial Officer

31 August 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S OPINION
2021

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (Authority) 
which comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2021, and the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended 

 Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are: 

 based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results 
and cash flows of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 June 
2021 and the financial position at the end of that period 

 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of my report. 

I am independent of the Authority in accordance with the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) 
that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have also fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible for: 

 keeping proper accounts

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions

 such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for: 

 assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

 disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

 using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government 
has made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Authority.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  

Report on the audit of controls 
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of 
controls exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority. The controls exercised by the 
Authority are those policies and procedures established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring 
of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control objectives).

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2021.
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The Board’s responsibilities
The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the 
incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control 
objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on 
Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard 
requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably 
designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation 
of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including an assessment 
of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures 
included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the 
overall control objectives. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the 
controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall 
control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of 
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may 
become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 June 2021. The key performance 
indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency 
indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering 
services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2021.
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The Board’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such internal control it determines necessary to enable the preparation of key 
performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key 
performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.

Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key performance 
indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with 
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating 
to assurance engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and 
guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and 
the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In 
making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the reports on controls and key 
performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information is the information in the 
entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but not the financial statements, key 
performance indicators and my auditor’s report. 

My opinions do not cover the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements 
and key performance indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators 
of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 June 2021 included on the 
Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s 
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The 
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements, controls or key performance indicators. If users of 
the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to contact the entity to 
confirm the information contained in the website version of the financial statements, controls and 
key performance indicators.

Caroline Spencer 
Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia
1 September 2021
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note

JUN-21 JUN-20
 $’000  $’000 

INCOME

Sales revenue 2 3,177 18,032 

Developer Contribution Income (DCP) 27,962 3,115 

Interest 2 4,018 5,124 

Rechargeable Works 283 274 

Other Income 2 3,193 6,704 

Fair Value Increment for Distribution to owner  62 18,098 

Fair Value Increments on Investment Properties 975 3,080 

TOTAL INCOME 39,670 54,427 

EXPENSES

Cost of Goods Sold 2 12 11,657 

Employee Benefits 3 7,490 11,853 

Supplies and Services 3 12,624 6,630 

Depreciation and Amortisation 9,349 9,642 

Developer Contribution Expenses (DCP) 1,781 1,471 

Finance Costs 14 11,714 7,716 

Rechargeable Works Expenses 418 275 

Other Expenses 3 1,272 1,520 

Property Maintenance 4,334 7,802 

Sales and Marketing 218 1,479 

Infrastructure Development Expense 4,146 8,248 

Fair Value Decrements on Investment Properties 6,430 8,145 

Write Down of Inventories to Net Realisable Value 2  - 57,712 

TOTAL EXPENSES 59,788 134,150 

Net loss other than income from State Government (20,118) (79,723)

Income from State Government

Income from other Public Sector Entities 21 919 209

Resources received free of charge  21 179 181 

Grants and contributions from other government agencies  21 9,620 21,292 

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (9,400) (58,041)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability 220 (93)

Changes in asset revaluation reserve (70) -

Total Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) 150 (93)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (9,250) (58,134)

The statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

JUN-21 JUN-20
Note  $’000  $’000 

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4 20,466 13,847 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 4 60,720 38,047 

Inventories 5 1,113 6,140 

Assets held for distribution to owner 6 9,932 -

Receivables 7 10,034 38,597 

Other Current Assets 8 77 100 

Total Current Assets 102,342 96,731

Non-Current Assets

Inventories 5  - 1,555 

Receivables 7 17,979 21,556 

Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment 9 200,944 209,943 

Investment Properties 10 17,400 26,250 

Right of Use Assets 11 3,180 3,527 

Intangible Assets 12  - 4 

Total Non-Current Assets 239,503 262,835

TOTAL ASSETS 341,845 359,566 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 13 4,213 4,667 

Borrowings 14  - 211,692 

Lease Liabilities 11 674 449 

Other Liabilities 15 220 856 

Provisions 16 9,830 7,534 

Total Current Liabilities 14,937 225,198 

Non-Current Liabilities

Lease Liabilities 11 8,151 8,830 

Provisions 16 2,099 4,363 

Other Liabilities 15 986 728 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 11,236 13,921 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,173 239,119 

NET ASSETS 315,672 120,447 

EQUITY

Contributed Equity 17 680,294 475,819 

Reserves                                              17  - 70 

Accumulated Losses 17 (364,622) (355,442)

 TOTAL EQUITY 315,672 120,447

The statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Contributed 
Equity Reserves

Accumulated 
Losses Total Equity

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 553,655 70 (296,660) 257,065 

Initial application of AASB 15  -  - (394) (394)

Initial application of AASB 16  -  - (254) (254)

Restated Balance 1 July 2019 17 553,655 70 (297,308) 256,417 

Deficit - - (58,041) (58,041)

Other Comprehensive Income - - (93) (93)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period - - (58,134) (58,134)

Transactions with Owners in their Capacity as Owners

Contributions from Owners 56,716 - - 56,716 

Distributions to Owners (134,552) - - (134,552)

Balance at 30 June 2020 17 475,819 70 (355,442) 120,447 

Balance at 1 July 2020 17 475,819 70 (355,442) 120,447 

Deficit - - (9,400) (9,400)

Other Comprehensive Income - (70) 220 150 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period - (70) (9,180) (9,250)

Transactions with Owners in their Capacity as Owners

Contributions from Owners 211,539 - - 211,539 

Distributions to Owners (7,064) - - (7,064)

Balance at 30 June 2021 17 680,294  - (364,622) 315,672

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note JUN-21 JUN-20
 $’000  $’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Interest received  137  482 

Developer Contribution Plan receipts  27,962  3,115 

Receipts from customers  44,002  37,491 

Developer Contribution Expenses  (1,781)  (1,357)

Payments to suppliers and employees  (20,782)  (32,794)

Net cash from operating activities 18(b)  49,538  6,937 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for Capital Works  -  (11,317)

Payments for Capital Assets  -  (672)

Net cash used in investing activities  -  (11,989)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Repayments of borrowings  (214,344)  (56,466)

Proceeds from borrowings  2,652  20,201 

Interest and charges paid on Financing activities  (12,985)  (7,929)

Payment of Lease Liabilities  (719)  - 

Net cash used in financing activities  (225,396)  (44,194)

Cash Flows from State Government 

Grants and Subsidies  -  21,292 

Distribution to Owners  (6,389)  (21,405)

Contributions from owners  211,539  56,716 

Net cash provided by State Government  205,150  56,603 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  29,292  7,357 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2020  51,894  44,537 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2021 18(a)  81,186  51,894

The statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

ABOUT THESE STATEMENTS
The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (‘MRA’) is a Western Australian Government entity, controlled by the State of Western 
Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The Agency is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. 

 These financial statements were authorised for issue on 31 August 2021 by MRA’s Board.

a) Basis of Preparation

These general purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with:

 1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

 2) The Treasurer’s instructions (the Instructions or TI) 

 3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) - Reduced Disclosure Requirements

 4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions take precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions 
to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Development Contribution Plans (DCP) are included within MRA’s financial statements, as MRA is deemed to have control over the operations and 
financial decision making of the DCP’s. Transactions and balances between MRA and the DCP are not presented in MRA’s financial statements as 
they are transactions within the same economic entity. DCP expenses are recognised when incurred. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings 
(including investment property) and artworks which have been measured at fair value. The accounting policies adopted in the preparation in the 
financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the Notes to the financial statements. 

Fair value  

Fair value within the scope of AASB13 Fair Value Measurement is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly arm’s length transaction with market participants at the measurement date, or estimated using another valuation technique.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, MRA takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Fair value for measurement or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions 
that are within the scope of AASB16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in AASB 102 Inventories or value in use in AASB136 Impairment of Assets.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within their fair value hierarchy 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

•  Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•  Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable

•  Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

Level 2 fair values are derived using the market approach. The market approach provides an indication of value by comparing the subject 
asset with identical or similar assets for which price information is available. Under this approach the first step is to consider the prices for 
transactions of identical or similar assets that have occurred recently in the market. If few recent transactions have occurred, it may also be 
appropriate to consider the prices of identical or similar assets that are listed or offered for sale provided the relevance of this information is 
clearly established and critically analysed.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

For market valued assets free of encumbrances, the value is measured by market transactions involving comparison and analysis of identical or 
comparable assets. For assets with encumbrances, the income approach was used which converts future cash flow amounts to a single current 
discounted amount to arrive at a fair value.

b) Functional and Presentation Currency

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is both the functional and presentation currency of MRA. All values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

c) Use of Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from the estimate.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised and in any affected future periods. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements 
are described in the following notes:

• Note 10 Investment Property with reference to fair value valuations

• Note 5 Inventories with reference to net realisable valuations

• Note 16 Employee Benefits with reference to actuarial adjustments 

• Note 17 Equity with reference to fair value of land and buildings transferred

• Note 19 Financial Instruments with reference to expected credit loss calculations

d) Application of New and Revised Accounting Standards

In the current year, MRA has reviewed all new and revised accounting standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2021 thus, relevant to this 
financial year end.

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement (a type of public private partnership) by a 
grantor that is a public sector entity by prescribing the accounting for the arrangement from the grantor’s perspective.

Timing and measurement for the recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the arrangement and the 
accounting for associated liabilities is determined by whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public service 
provided.

MRA does not maintain any public private partnership that is within the scope of the Standard.

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business

The Standard amends AASB 3 to clarify the definition of a business, assisting entities to determine whether a transaction 
should be accounted for as a business combination or as an asset acquisition.

There is no financial impact for MRA.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  Definition of a Material

The Standard principally amends AASB 101 and AASB 108. The amendments refine the definition of material in AASB 101. The 
amendments clarify the definition of material and its application by improving the wording and aligning the definition across 
AASB Standards and other publications. The amendment also includes some supporting requirements in AASB 101 in the 
definition to give it more prominence and clarifies the explanation accompanying the definition of material.

There is no financial impact for MRA.

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework

This Standard sets out amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other pronouncements to 
reflect the issuance of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) by the AASB.

There is no financial impact for MRA.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards implementation of AASB 1059

This standard amends AASB16 Leases and AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors, to add a practical 
expedient to grantors of a Service Concession Arrangement that AASB16 Leases not be applied to service concession assets 
under AASB 1059, and to clarify the liability of grantors that use the retrospective approach for adoption of AASB 1059.

MRA does not maintain any public private partnership that is within the scope of the Standard.

AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Interest rate Benchmark reform  

The Standard amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from 
the potential effects of the uncertainty caused by the interest rate benchmark reform.

There is no financial impact for MRA.

AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure of the effect of new IFRS standards not yet released in Australia

This amendment requires entities that assert compliance with IFRS standards to disclose information on the potential 
effect of an IFRS standard that has no yet been issued under Australian Accounting Standards.

There is no financial impact for MRA.

AASB 2021-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

This Standard amends AASB16 Leases to extend by one year the application period of the practical expedient added to 
AASB16 Leases by AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

There is no financial impact for MRA.

e) Changes in Significant Accounting Policies

There were no significant changes to MRA accounting policies during the year. There were no changes required upon implementation of 
AASB1059 to the results for the 2020-21 reporting period.

f)  Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued but not yet effective

MRA cannot ‘early adopt’ an AAS unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable, MRA plans to apply the following AASB’s from their application date. 

Operative 
for reporting 
periods 
beginning on 
or after

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts

AASB 17 replaces AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 102 General Insurance Contracts, and AASB 1038 Life 
Insurance Contracts.

MRA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2023

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or Joint Venture

Clarification of the treatment of a gain or loss on transfer to an associate or joint venture resulting from the 
sale or contribution of assets involved in a business, and when not involved in a business.

MRA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

Deferred 
indefinitely
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

This Standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify requirements for the 
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position as current or non-current.

The amendments clarify that a liability is classified as non-current if an entity has the right at the end of the 
reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. The 
meaning of settlement of a liability is also clarified.

MRA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2023

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018–2020 and Other Amendments

This Standard amends multiple standards from the issuance by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) in May 2020 of several IAS. 

This Standard amends:

(a) AASB 1 First-time adoption of Australian Accounting Standards to simplify the application of AASB 1 by a 
subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent in relation to the measurement of cumulative 
translation differences;

(b) AASB 3 Business combinations to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations;

(c) AASB 9 Financial instruments to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the terms 
of a new or modified financial liability is substantially different from the terms of the original financial 
liability;

(d) AASB 116 Property, plant and equipment to require an entity to recognise the sales proceeds from selling 
items produced while preparing property, plant and equipment for its intended use and the related cost in 
profit or loss, instead of deducting the amounts received from the cost of the asset;

(e) AASB 137 Impairment of assets to specify the costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a 
contract will be loss-making; and 

(f) AASB 141 Agriculture to remove the requirement to exclude cash flows from taxation when measuring 
fair value, thereby aligning the fair value measurement requirements in AASB 141 with those in other 
Australian Accounting Standards.

MRA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2022

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of 
Accounting Estimates

AASB 2021-2 amends AASB Standards to improve accounting policy disclosures and clarify the distinction 
between accounting policies and accounting estimates.

MRA has assessed and this standard has no financial impact.

1 January 2023

g) Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when MRA becomes obligated to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. Payables are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

h) Infrastructure, Property Plant and Equipment

Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more and with a useful life of more than two years are recognised as 
assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar 
items which are significant in total) and are held for more than two years of useful life.     
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the Authority uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land, buildings, artwork and 
public art, and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings, artwork and public art are carried at fair value less 
disposal costs. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of land, buildings, artwork and public art is determined on the basis of current market 
buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, 
the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market based evidence, the fair value of land, buildings, artwork and public art is determined on the basis of existing use. This 
normally applies where assets are specialised or where use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the 
cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of 
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately.

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by an external valuer and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period. Artwork and public art are deemed to be of a more subjective 
nature and are independently valued on a triennial basis.

Derecognition

Upon derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in 
the asset revaluation surplus. On disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is transferred to retained earnings. Transfers from asset 
revaluation reserve are not made through the profit or loss.

Depreciation    

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates based on the expected useful lives using the straight line method. 
Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready for use. Depreciation is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The depreciation rates for the various classes of non-current assets are as follows and are reviewed annually:

Class Useful Life

Plant & Equipment 3 - 20 years 
Buildings 25- 40 years
Furniture & Office Equipment 3 - 10 years 
Computer Equipment 3 - 10 years 
Lease Improvements 10 - 15 years 
Infrastructure  15 - 50 years 

Land, Artwork and Public Art are not depreciated.

Loss on Disposal of Assets

Losses on the disposal of non-current assets are recognised when the consideration received is lower than the carrying value of the asset. 
Losses are recognised in Profit and Loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

i) Impairment

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that 
the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate 
any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
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j) Employee Benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by MRA in exchange for services rendered by employees or for the termination of 
employment. It includes salaries, superannuation, annual leave, long service leave, professional memberships, employee wellness program, 
staff training and fringe benefits tax. It does not include other staffing costs, Board Director allowances, other Board costs or contractors. 
These costs and the on-costs of providing employment such as payroll tax and workers compensation insurance which do not constitute a 
benefit to employees can be found under Other Expenses. 

Liabilities for wages, salaries, annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on the wage and salary rates, including related on-costs such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax 
that MRA expects to pay as at reporting date. Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits such as medical care and cars are expensed based on 
the net marginal cost to MRA as the benefits are taken by employees.

Liabilities for long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date plus related on-costs. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, and periods of service.

Unconditional long service leave provisions and pre-conditional leave entitled within 12 months are classified as current liabilities as MRA does 
not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The provision 
for conditional long service leave entitled later than 12 months is classified as a non-current liability, as MRA has an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Valuation    

The value of leave provisions are assessed annually by an independent actuary, PwC Australia.

Superannuation 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

MRA’s total superannuation liability has been actuarially assessed as at 30 June 2021, by PwC Australia and Mercer Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd.

Defined benefit plans

The employer-financed benefit is a pension benefit payable on retirement, death or invalidity, or a lump sum on resignation. The Pension Scheme 
operates under the State Superannuation Act 2000 (Western Australia) and the State Superannuation Regulations 2001 (Western Australia). 
Although the Scheme is not formally subject to the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) (SIS) legislation, the WA Government has undertaken 
(in a Heads of Government Agreement) to operate the Scheme in accordance with the spirit of the SIS legislation. As exempt public sector 
superannuation Schemes (as defined in the SIS legislation), the Schemes are not subject to any minimum funding requirements.  

As a constitutionally protected superannuation fund (as defined in the Income tax assessment legislation), the schemes are not required to pay 
tax.

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) is the Pension Trustee and is responsible for the governance of the scheme. As 
Trustee, GESB has a legal obligation to act solely in the best interests of scheme beneficiaries. GESB has the following roles:

• Administration of the scheme and payment to the beneficiaries when required in accordance with the scheme rules;
• Compliance with the Heads of Government Agreement (referred to above).     

There are a number of risks to which the Pension scheme exposes MRA. The most significant are:
• Legislative risk - The risk that legislative changes could be made which increase the cost of providing the defined benefits.
• Pensioner mortality risk - The risk that pensioner mortality will be lighter than expected, resulting in pensions being paid for a longer 

period.
•  Inflation risk - The risk that inflation is higher than anticipated, increasing pension payments, and the associated employer 

contributions.

There were no amendments, curtailments or settlements during the year to the schemes.
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A net defined benefit asset or liability is shown on the statement of financial position equal to:
• The present value of the accrued defined benefit obligation; less
• The fair value of the scheme assets; plus    
• Any adjustment for the limitation on the net asset.    

The defined benefit cost to be included in the statement of comprehensive income is made up of the following elements:
• Current service cost paid to the Government of Western Australia for the pension scheme expensed under the superannuation 

classification. 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

k) Contributed Equity     

AASB 1004 Contributions Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owner Public Sector Entities 
and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.    

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

Distributions to Owners are recognised at fair value based on external professional valuations. 

Repayments to the Consolidated Fund      

In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011, the Treasurer may direct the payment of any surplus, in part or whole, 
at the end of the financial year, to the Consolidated Fund. The amount of the surplus payment is determined by the Treasurer in conjunction with 
MRA.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

The Asset Revaluation Reserve is used to record increments and decrements on revaluation of non-current assets on a class of assets basis, 
specifically, Investment Property, Buildings, Plant, Public Artworks and Artworks.  Revaluation increments on the same class of non-current 
asset will be credited to the asset revaluation reserve, unless it reverses a revaluation decrement that has been expensed to the Statement of 
Comprehensive income, then it will be recognised as revenue. A revaluation decrement will be recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income except to the extent that a credit balance exists for the same class of asset in the asset revaluation reserve.   

l) Goods And Services Tax   

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset 
or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. The GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows. 

m) Inventory – Land Held For Sale

All land and buildings and capital works held for development and subsequent sale are regarded as inventory and are classified as such in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Development expenditure is capitalised with reference to the stage of completion of the project.

MRA recognises as inventory all of the costs which have been incurred in bringing developed land to a condition ready for sale. Such costs are 
typically accumulated on a project by project basis. MRA allocates development costs to individual lots within the project on a rational and 
consistent basis given the specific circumstances of the project. 

Land held for development and subsequent sale is classified as a current asset when development is completed and sales are expected to 
result in realisation of settled sales within 12 months based on management’s sales forecasts. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value (NRV). NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and, if 
appropriate, the estimated costs of making the sale.
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Cost includes the costs of acquisition development, holding and borrowing costs incurred during development. When development is 
completed, holding and borrowing charges are expensed as incurred. Holding and borrowing costs are also expensed if active development is 
interrupted for extended periods. 

n) Assets held for distribution

Assets are classified as held for distribution when the entity is committed to distribute the asset to the owners. They are measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal. For assets to be classified as held for distribution, they must be available for 
immediate distribution in their present condition and the distribution must be highly probable. Actions to complete the distribution must have 
been initiated and are expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification.

Assets classified as held for distribution will be transferred at current book value and no impairment loss or gain will be recognised. Assets will 
not be depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for distribution. 

Assets classified as held for distribution are presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current assets.    

o) Lease Arrangements 

Accounting for leases as Lessee    

MRA recognises these leases as a right of use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use. Lease 
payments and interest charges are recognised against the lease liability. The interest charge is recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the lease period to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.  

Office occupancy costs are variable outgoings for right of use assets recognised under AASB16 Leases. Operational expenses for other property 
are recorded within the property maintenance classification in the statement of comprehensive income.

Accounting for leases as Lessor

MRA is a lessor in a number of operating leases of commercial property, and also sub-leases the building previously occupied by MRA. These 
assets are recognised on the Statement of financial position as investment property. Refer to Note 1(s) and Note 1(x) for accounting treatment. 
   

p) Provisions    

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.  

q) Financial Assets  

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The fair value of trade receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value.

r) Intangible Assets 

Recognition and Measurement      

Acquired and internally generated intangible assets costing $5,000 with a useful life of more than two years or more are capitalised. The cost of 
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are expensed directly to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of 
acquisition.

Initial Recognition    

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

Subsequent Measurement    

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.
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Amortisation    

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the 
straight-line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by MRA have a finite useful life and zero residual 
value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Class   Useful Life  

Software (a)   3 - 5 years     

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.     

s) Investment Properties      

Recognition and Measurement    

Investment property, principally comprising freehold land and buildings, is not occupied by MRA and derives long term rental yields. Investment 
property is carried at fair value, as mandated by TI 954 Revaluation of Non-Current Physical Assets, representing open-market value determined 
annually by external valuers. Changes in fair value are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. Investment Property land and 
buildings were revalued by an independent external expert within the financial year.        

t)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of MRA’s operating account, which is a non-interest-bearing account.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are where the use of such assets is restricted, wholly or partially by regulations or other externally imposed 
requirements.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents predominantly represent funds held for Development Contribution Plans (DCP) held in an interest-bearing 
public bank account.

u) Interest Bearing Liabilities       

All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Finance costs reflected in the statement of comprehensive income comprise interest payable on borrowings. Borrowing costs are recognised 
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred except where they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset, in accordance with AASB 123 Borrowing Costs.    

Finance costs consist of those costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. They include interest on both short and long-term 
loans, interest components of lease liability repayments and the increase in financial liability due to the unwinding of discount to reflect the 
passage of time.  

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised 
when incurred for the purposes of the development of sale lots. 

Finance costs on lease liabilities are shown in Note 10.

v) Receivables

Trade Receivables   

Trade receivables and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value. Debtors are carried at the original amounts recognised due less an 
allowance for any uncollectable amounts. Trade debtors are generally settled within 30 days.

The value of the provision for impairment loss is assessed using an analysis of historical data to determine the level of risk and subsequent 
recovery of debts based on the age of amounts outstanding. Bad debts are written off when formally recognised as being irrecoverable.  

Other Receivables   

Other receivables predominantly relate to the discounted present value of land sales where timing of staged payments is uncertain and rental 
debtors. 
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Fair Value 

Management consider the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables represent their fair value. 

Expected Credit Loss      

Expected credit losses expense is recognised as the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses. The allowance for expected credit 
losses of trade receivables is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. MRA assesses the expected credit loss on 
each debtor individually and is adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtor, the economic environment and any held security. 

w) Revenue Recognition

Sales Revenue

Revenue from customers is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers when control is transferred. 

MRA recognises the sale of land at the transaction price when control of the land is transferred to the customer. This is normally on settlement of 
the transaction and transfer of legal title. For conditional exchanges, sales are recognised only when all the significant conditions are satisfied. 
For sales where part of the purchase price has been deferred, the fair value of the consideration will be the present value of future receipts, 
discounted at a market discount rate. It is MRA’s practice to maintain an option to repurchase land if the purchaser breaches any covenants in 
relation to the future development of the land.   

x) Income

Developer Contribution Plan    

Developer Contribution Plan (DCP) revenues are recognised when developers obtain clearance of development/subdivision conditions for land 
held within the DCP area or at the expiry of the DCP, unless administration of the DCP is transferred to another party.

Interest Revenue    

MRA recognises interest as it accrues. Interest recognised on deferred payments for land sales relates to the increase in the value of the 
receivable as a result of the time value of money. As such, MRA’s interest revenue is derived predominantly from nominal interest applied in 
respect of staged sales proceeds. 

Development Applications, Planning Fees/Charges

MRA receives fees from developers and the community in relation to development applications, subdivision clearances, zoning certificates, 
scheme amendments and providing planning documentation.

The charges and fees are in accordance with Part 6, Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Regulations 2011. The fees and charges are recognised 
when they are received. 

Rental     

MRA operates a number of commercial tenancies. Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term and is recognised as income in the periods in which it is earned. 

Tenant Recoverable Outgoings    

Tenant recoverable outgoings represent funds received from tenants for expenditure directly related to their tenancies. These were initially paid 
for by MRA when the expenses were incurred and are recorded within the statement of comprehensive income in accordance with the nature of 
the expenditure’s classification. 

Services Received or provided Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost

Services received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair value. Where the resource 
received represents a service that MRA would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in 
the statement of financial position. Services provided free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised within the 
statement of comprehensive income as an expense under the appropriate category, with an equal and corresponding revenue recorded under 
sponsorship.

Levies and Charges

Levies and charges are received from land owners to fund place making activities in the Central Perth Redevelopment Area. Levies and charges 
are recognised as income in the period in which they are earned.    
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Contributions    

Contributions are only recognised as revenue when they do not represent contributions by owners. Revenue is recognised at fair value when MRA 
obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions. If the contributions are in the form of cash, control is usually obtained when cash 
is received. If the contributions are in the form of land or buildings, control is usually obtained when settlement of the acquisition occurs and title 
is transferred. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if 
not donated.

Service Appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as income at the fair value of consideration received in the period in which the Agency gains control of 
the appropriated funds. During the year all appropriations were paid to Western Australian Land Authority (WALA). Appropriation Income is 
recognised in MRA to the extent of the recovered expenses paid by WALA, as an agent for MRA. 

No gifts of public property were provided by MRA.  

y) Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year. 
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NOTE 2 SALES REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Sales Revenue 3,177 18,032

       Cost of Sales:

       Opening Inventory at NRV 7,695 132,551

       Purchases 650 10,536

       Goods Available for Sale 8,345 143,087

       Distribution to owners (7,220) (66,023)

       NRV Write-Down of Inventory  - (57,712)

       Closing Inventory at NRV (1,113) (7,695)

Cost of Goods Sold 12 11,657

Trading Profit 3,165 6,375

Interest Income

Interest income consists of the following items:

Interest

       MRA Interest Revenue  - 52

       Development Contribution Plan Interest 127 323

       Interest Recognised on Deferred Payments 3,891 4,749

Total Interest Income 4,018 5,124

Other Income

Other Income consists of the following items:

Other Income

       Development Applications and Planning 

       Fees/Charges 89 381

       Venue Hire 9 373

       Rental Income (41) 1,456

       Tenant Outgoings - Recoverable 871 1,519

       Levies & Charges 150 705

       Other Revenue 2,115 2,270

Total Other Income 3,193 6,704
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NOTE 3 EXPENSES
  

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Employee Benefits Expenses

       Wages and Salaries  7,057 10,848

       Superannuation  389 932

       Staff Training and Memberships  9 40

       Fringe Benefits Tax 35 33

Total Employee Benefits Expenses 7,490 11,853

Supplies and Services

       Administration  535 153

       Communication  46 388

       Consultants and Contractors  3,365 3,541

       Insurances  737 754

       IT Software and Licences  57 497

       Office Occupancy Costs  341 695

       Other Supplies and Services  6 76

       Property and Estate Management  7,537 526

Total Supplies and Services Expenses 12,624 6,630

Other Expenses

Expected Credit Losses 863 332

Impairment Expense  - 209

Loss on Disposal of Asset 8                   -   

Payroll Tax 381 670

Other Expenditure  - 43

Penalty and Interest  - 2

Board and Land Redevelopment Committee Expenses 20 264

Total Other Expenses 1,272 1,520
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NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20,466 13,847

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

 - Public Art Fund (i) 469 586

 - Parking Cash-in-Lieu Account (ii) 528 528

 - Wungong Urban Water DCP Account 41,295 36,673

 - Champion Drive DCP Account  - 260

 - Forrestdale East DCP Account  6  - 

 - Forrestdale West DCP Account 18,199  - 

 - Scarborough DCP Account 223  - 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 60,720 38,047

Total Current Cash and Equivalents 81,186 51,894

(i)  Holds the balance of the Public Art Fund to be used by the Authority for the provision of public art in accordance with the development policies of MRA Redevelopment  
 Areas. See Note 16.    

(ii)  Holds the balance of payments received from developers in lieu of car parking in accordance with MRA Redevelopment schemes See Note 16.   
   

The below Developer Contribution cash balances refer only to the Cash held within the Restricted Cash Bank Account for each Redevelopment 
Area, they do not reflect the actual balance of the Developer Contribution Plan.     

Wungong Urban Water DCP Account

Holds the net of developer contribution receipts collected from landowners within the Wungong Urban Water Development Contribution Area, 
as set out in Appendix 1 of the Armadale Redevelopment Scheme 2, less development costs. 

Balance at the start of the period 36,673 34,357

Receipts 6,336 3,292

Payments (1,714) (976)

Balance at the end of the period 41,295 36,673
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NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONTINUED

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Champion Drive DCP Account

Holds the net of developer contribution receipts collected from landowners within the Champion Drive Precinct Development Contribution 
Area, as set out in Appendix 1 of the Armadale Redevelopment Scheme 2, less development costs. 

Balance at the start of the period 260 259

Receipts 3

Payments (260) (2)

Balance at the end of the period - 260

     

Forrestdale Park East DCP Account

Holds the net of developer contribution receipts collected from landowners within the Forrestdale Project area precinct 7 and 7A as defined by 
the Armadale Redevelopment Scheme 2, less development costs. 

Balance at the start of the period  -  - 

Receipts 6  - 

Payments  -  - 

Balance at the end of the period 6  - 

   

Forrestdale West DCP Account

Holds the net of developer contribution receipts collected from landowners within the Forrestdale Project Area precinct Area 8 and 8A, as 
defined by the Armadale Redevelopment Scheme 2, less development costs. 

Balance at the start of the period  - 

Receipts 18,470  - 

Payments (271)  - 

Balance at the end of the period 18,199  - 

Scarborough DCP Account

Holds the net of developer contribution receipts collected from landowners within the Development Contribution Area, as set out in chapter 7 
of the Scarborough Redevelopment Scheme, less development costs. 

Balance at the start of the period  -  - 

Receipts 237 19

Payments (14) (19)

Balance at the end of the period 223  - 
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NOTE 5 INVENTORIES

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Developed Land

Current 1,113 6,140

Non-Current  - 1,555

Total Inventories 1,113 7,695

Reconciliation of Inventory Movements

Balance at start of period 7,695 132,551

Cost of Sales (12) (11,657)

Additional works 650 10,535 

Write-down Inventory to Net Realisable Value  - (57,712)

Reclassification to Distribution to Owner (6,607) -

Restatement to Fair Value for Distribution to Owner 62 18,098 

Distribution to Owner - (Public Transport Authority)  (675)  - 

Distribution to Owner - (WALA) - (84,120)

Total Inventories 1,113 7,695

 

Valuations of undeveloped land held for sale have been determined based on advice from independent valuers. The most recent valuations were 
performed on land held during the last 3 months. The valuations were performed by McGees Property.    

At 30 June 2021 the write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to $nil (2020: $ 57,712,000).   

During the year inventory held for $612,801 was transferred under a Treasury designation to Public Transport Authority, for the fair value of 
$675,000.     

During the year inventory with a book value of $6,607,465 was re-classed to assets held for distribution to owner.

NOTE 6 ASSETS HELD FOR DISTRIBUTION TO OWNER

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Inventory 6,607 -

Investment Property 3,325 -

Total 9,932 -

  

Assets held to be transferred to WALA in 2022 at book value, having received an exemption to treasury instruction 955. Refer to Note 5 and  
Note 11.
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NOTE 7 RECEIVABLES
   

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current

Trade receivables 3,064 3,486

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (38) (38)

GST receivable 149 269

Other receivables 8,473 36,703

Allowance for impairment of other receivables (1,179) (455)

Present value discount of other receivables (435) (1,368)

Total Current Receivables 10,034 38,597

Non-Current

Other receivables  22,186 28,050

Present value discount of other non-current receivables (4,207) (6,494)

Total Non-Current Receivables 17,979 21,556

Total Receivables 28,013 60,153

       

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for trade receivables is the carrying amount of the asset inclusive of any 
expected credit loss as shown in the table at Note 19 “Financial Instruments”. Refer Note 19 for further discussion of financial risks associated 
with receivables.       

  

NOTE 8 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current

Prepayments 77 100

Total Current Other Assets 77 100
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 9 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

 

Freehold 
Land Buildings

 Infra- 
structure  WIP 

 Public 
Artworks Equipment Total

$’000 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

 Cost or deemed cost 

 Balance at 30 June 2019  209  1,041  204,250  1,805  3,775  31,429  242,509 

 Additions  -  -  242  674  27  180  1,123 

 Impairment Loss  (209)  -  -  - -  -  (209)

 Transfers of WIP  -  -  -  (679) -  -  (679)

 Distributions to owner  -  -  -  - -  (313)  (313)

 Balance at 30 June 2020  -  1,041  204,492  1,800  3,802  31,296  242,431 

 Disposals - - - - - (73)  (73) 

 Balance at 30 June 2021  -  1,041  204,492  1,800  3,802  31,223  242,358 

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Balance at 30 June 2019 -  -  (14,031)  -  -  (9,474)  (23,505)

 Distributions to owner  -  -  - - -  118  118 

 Reclassification - - - - - 47 47

 Depreciation expense -  -  (4,956)  -  -  (4,192)  (9,148)

 Balance at 30 June 2020 -  -  (18,987)  -  -  (13,501)  (32,488)

 Disposals - - - - - 72 72

 Depreciation expense - -  (5,238)  -  -  (3,760)  (8,998)

 Balance at 30 June 2021 -  -  (24,225)  -  -  (17,189)  (41,414)

 Carrying amounts 

 at 30 June 2020  -  1,041  185,505  1,800  3,802  17,795  209,943 

 at 30 June 2021  -  1,041  180,267  1,800  3,802  14,034  200,944

Land, Buildings and artwork are measured on the revaluation model as per Note 1(h). 
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Investment Property at Fair Value

Carrying amount at start of period 26,250 59,970

Additions  - 176

Disposals - (28,831)

Reclassification to distribution to owner (3,325) -

Net loss from fair value adjustment (5,525) (5,065)

Total Investment Property 17,400 26,250

During the year a fair value assessment was undertaken on MRA Investment assets. Valuations were performed by Collier International (WA) Pty 
Ltd. A revaluation decrement of $5,525,000, $975,000 recognised as income and $6,500,000 as expenses (2020: $5,065,000) was required. The 
impact on to the statement of comprehensive income is $5,455,000 as a $70,000 revaluation reserve was used to offset this class of assets. 
Refer to Note 17.

During the year $3,325,000 of investment property was restated to assets held to distribution to owner, in preparation for the transfer to WALA in 
2022. Refer to Note 6. 

Assumptions in estimating fair value are made when assessing the highest and best use of assets. Professional judgement by the valuer is 
required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 11 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

 Office 
Accommodation Vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

1 July 2019

Gross carrying amount 3,825 69 3,894

Accumulated depreciation (326) (41) (367)

Carrying amount at start of period 1 July 2020 3,499 28 3,527

Deprecation (326) (21) (347)

Net Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2021 3,173 7 3,180

    

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Lease Liabilities

As at 1 July  9,279 9,098

Accretion of interest  265 266

Payments (719) (85)

As at 30 June 8,825 9,279

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period

Current  674  449 

Non Current  8,151  8,830 

8,825 9,279

MRA leases office accommodation, car parking bays and vehicles. Subsequent to the administrative merger between MRA and the WALA and 
relocation to 40 The Esplanade, MRA sub-let its leased office space at the GPO Building, Perth to the Minister for Works.  
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Software Total

$’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2021

Carrying amount 2,012 2,012

Accumulated amortisation (2,008) (2,008)

At 30 June 2020 4 4

Additions                   -                     -   

Amortisation expense (4) (4)

At 30 June 2021 0 0

Year ended 30 June 2020

Carrying amount 2,012 2,012

Accumulated amortisation (1,881) (1,881)

At 30 June 2019 131 131

Additions - -

Amortisation expense (127) (127)

At 30 June 2020 4 4

NOTE 13 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current

Trade Payables 515 17

Accrued Expenses 3,626 3,426

Accrued Salaries 64 117

Other Payables 8 1,107

Total Current Payables 4,213 4,667
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 14 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES  
 

  

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current

Western Australian Treasury Corporation  - 211,692

Total Current Borrowings  - 211,692

During the year MRA received an equity injection to repay up to $211,539,000 in debt held by MRA. In June 2021 the remaining borrowings of 
$2,651,749 were repaid to the Western Australian Treasury Corporation. Refer to Note 17.

Finance costs consist of those costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. They include interest on both short and long-term 
loans, interest components of lease liability repayments and the increase in financial liability due to the unwinding of discount to reflect the 
passage of time.  

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised 
when incurred for the purposes of the development of sale lots. Refer to Note 5 Inventories.

Western Australian Treasury Corporation finance costs increased in 2021 due to the early repayment of the loan, the total repayment cost of 
$11,739,000 included $337,442 of interest and $10,920,823 repayment premium.  

Finance costs on Lease Liabilities are shown in Note 11.

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Finance Costs

Interest - WATC Borrowings 546 7,429

Repayment Premium 10,921 -

Lease Interest Expense  265 266

Other Interest (18) 21

Total Finance Costs 11,714 7,716
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 15 OTHER LIABILITIES
2021 2020

$’000 $’000
Current

Rental Income in Advance 220 32

Other Income in Advance - 2

Rechargeable Works - 822

Total Current other liabilities 220 856

Non-Current

Non Refundable Development Bond 986 728

Total Non-Current Other Liabilities 986 728

NOTE 16 PROVISIONS

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current Provisions 

Annual Leave  432  1,109 

Long Service Leave  396  975 

Superannuation  75  193 

Employee oncosts  58  143 

Total Employee provisions  961  2,420 

Public Art provision  469  586 

Parking Provision  528  528 

Other provisions (i)  7,872  4,000 

Total Current provisions  9,830  7,534 

Non-Current Provisions

Long Service Leave  200  426 

Superannuation  22  47 

Employee oncosts  13  34 

Total Employee provisions  235  507 

Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans  1,864  2,141 

Future Development Obligations  -    1,715 

Total Non-Current provisions  2,099  4,363 

(i) other provisions contains legal and contamination provisions in relation to Central Perth Redevelopment Area     
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 16 PROVISIONS CONTINUED
Movements in each class of provision during the period     
Employee Provisions    

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the leave liabilities is expected to occur as follows:   

  

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Annual Leave

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 318 789

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 184 496

502 1,285

Long Service Leave

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 183 454

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 512 1,189

695 1,643

Employee Benefits

Carrying amount at start of period  2,927  3,124 

Additional provisions/(reversals of) provisions recognised (850) 919

Payments (881) (1,116)

Carrying amount at end of period  1,196  2,927 

   

Defined Benefit Plans   

Reconciliation of the Net Defined Benefit Liability   

Carrying amount at start of period 2,141 2,090

Within Statement of Comprehensive Income

Interest costs (unwinding of discount) 18 29

Within Other Comprehensive Income

Net actuarial losses recognised (220) 93

Benefits paid (75) (71)

Carrying amount at the end of the period 1,864 2,141
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 16 PROVISIONS CONTINUED
2021 2020

$’000 $’000
Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Scheme Assets

Carrying amount at start of period                     -                     - 

Employer contributions 75 71

Benefits paid (75) (71)

Carrying amount at the end of the period                   -                     - 

Public Art Contributions

Carrying amount at start of period 586 617

Amounts received during the period  - 39

Amounts used during the period (117) (70)

Carrying amount at end of period 469 586

A provision for public art contributions is recognised when a third party becomes obligated under the planning conditions of the development 
area to provide a cash-in-lieu contribution. These funds are held and applied by MRA for the provision of public art within or immediately adjacent 
to the same project area as the contributing site.     

Parking Contributions

Carrying amount at start of period 528 528

Amounts received during the period  -                    -    

Amounts used during the period  -                    -    

Carrying amount at end of period 528 528

A provision for parking contributions is recognised when a developer becomes obligated to pay a parking contribution to MRA as a result of 
not fulfilling minimum parking requirements in their particular development plans. These contributions are held by MRA to be applied for the 
provision of public parking, cycling, pedestrian facilities or public transport within the redevelopment area.   

Other provisions

Carrying amount at start of period 4,000  - 

Additional provisions recognised 3,500 4,000

Reclassifications 1,800 -

Amounts used (1,428)                   -   

Carrying amount at end of period  7,872  4,000 

Future development obligations

Carrying amount at start of period 1,715 1,694

Reclassification (1,800)                   -   

Unwind of discount 85 21

Carrying amount at end of period  - 1,715

A current provision has been recognised for future contractual payments in respect of environmental remediation, and infrastructure expenses 
to be incurred within the Central Perth Redevelopment Area, these are listed under other provisions.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 17 EQUITY

 2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Contributed Equity

Balance at start of period 475,819 553,655

Contributions by State Government  211,539 56,716

Distributions to Owners:

     Repayments to the Consolidated Fund (6,389) (21,405)

     Assets Transferred to the WALA - (113,147)

     Assets Transferred to the Public Transport Authority (675)  - 

Balance at end of period 680,294 475,819

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at start of period 70 70

Net revaluation (decrements)/increments (70)  - 

Balance at end of period  - 70

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit)

Balance at start of period (355,442) (296,660)

Initial application of AASB 15  - (394)

Initial application of AASB 16  - (254)

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period (9,400) (58,041)

Net revaluation of Defined Benefit Scheme 220 (93)

Balance at end of period (364,622) (355,442)

Total Equity at End of Period 315,672 120,447

During the year Treasury contributed to equity $211,539,000 for the repayment of MRA debt. Refer to Note 14.

During the year inventory was transferred to the Public Transport Authority, for the fair value of $675,000 by a distribution to owner. Refer to 
Note 5.       
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 18 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 (a)  Reconciliation of cash        

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial 
position as follows:        

        

 2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents  81,186  51,894 
    

        

(b)  Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities        

Loss for the period other than income from State government   (19,199)   (79,514)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  9,349  9,642 

Net (gain) on sale of assets   (8)   (18,098)

Revaluation decrement  5,455  5,065 

Expected credit loss  863  331 

Unwinding of discounts   (3,881)   (4,749)

Finance costs expensed  11,714  8,195 

Appropriation from WALA 9,620 -

Other expenses  2,060   (181)

Assets (increase)/decrease

Receivables  36,429  15,853 

Inventories   (637)  69,369 

Other current assets  23  4,158 

Liabilities increase/(decrease)

Payables   (1,091)   (7,088)

Provisions   (1,417)  3,844 

Other Liabilities  258  110 

Net cash from operating activities  49,538  6,937 
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 18 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED    
 

(c)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities        

Opening 
balance

New 
borrowings/ 

(payments)
Non-cash 

movement
Closing 

balance

New 
borrowings/ 

(payments)
Non-cash 

movement
Closing 

balance

2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term borrowings  58,300  20,201  133,191  211,692   (211,692) -  -   

Long-term borrowings  189,657   (56,466)   (133,191)  -   - -  -   

Lease liabilities  -     (85)  9,364  9,279   (719)  265  8,825 

Total liabilities from financing activities  247,957   (36,350)  9,364  220,971   (212,411)  265  8,825

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition         

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost.  

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and 
all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

MRA’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables/payables and Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation bank borrowings. MRA has limited exposure to financial risks as detailed below.

Receivables are present valued, to reflect the time value of money, when they have repayment terms greater than one year. 

MRA receivables are valued at amortised cost and impaired by the appropriate Expected Credit Loss ratio. 

MRA financial assets and liabilities

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

 Financial assets 

 Cash and cash equivalents  81,186  51,894 

 Financial assets at amortised cost  27,865  68,240 

 Total financial assets  109,051  120,134 

 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 8,825  220,971

 Trade and other payables  4,213  5,395 

 Total financial liabilities  13,038  226,366
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED     

Financial risks and risk management 

MRA has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:   

 (i) credit risk    

 (ii) liquidity risk    

 (iii) market risk          

The information below represents information about MRA’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.        

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has established the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. The committee reports 
regularly to the Board on its activities.         

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by MRA, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
MRA’s activities. MRA employs policies and procedures and ongoing staff training to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment 
in which all employees understand their roles and obligations   

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees and monitors compliance with MRA’s risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by MRA. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is 
supported in its role by regular, thorough and varied internal audit processes conducted by external accounting firms. These internal audits 
include both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. 

 (i)  Credit risk          

Credit risk occurs where there is a possibility of MRA’s customers with outstanding receivable balances defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to MRA.  

The majority of MRA’s revenue is received and recognised at the time of settlement of sale. MRA’s customers are required to meet the 
contractual obligations of a sale (being transfer of sale funds to MRA) in order for the ownership of MRA asset to transfer to the customer. As a 
result receivables make up a small proportion of MRA’s overall customer base.   

The majority of MRA receivable balances are made up of rental revenue receivable amounts from various commercial tenants. Policies are in 
place to ensure that goods and services are provided to customers with an appropriate credit history. MRA trade receivables are both short 
and long term in nature. Interest can be charged on any outstanding balances to compensate the entity for the use of their funds. Receivable 
balances are monitored on an on-going basis by external property managers.

Bad debts (impairments) are expensed against the allowance when it is highly unlikely or not economically viable to recover the debt.   

Exposure to credit risk           

AASB 9 contains two approaches to assessing impairment - the simplified approach (applied to trade receivables without a financing 
component) and the general approach (applied to most loans and debt securities). The standard allows a policy election to apply the simplified 
approach or general approach for lease receivables and trade receivables with a significant financing component.  
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Summary of MRA financial asset impairment approach     

MRA has reviewed trade receivables by assessing each debt individually for risk. MRA has used historical experience, external indicators and 
forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses (ECL) as at 30 June 2021 as shown below:    
 

 MRA Asset 
 Impairment 

approach  ECL Type  2021 ECL %  2020 ECL % 

 Cash  Simplified N/A 0% 0%

 Trade Receivables 

 Mortgage receivables  General  12 month 0.000% 0.000%

 Commercial receivables  Simplified  Lifetime 24.325% 4.624%

     

     

 Receivable Portfolio

 $’000  Total  Mortgage  Commercial 

 30 June 2021 

 Expected credit loss rate 0.000% 24.325%

 Estimated gross carrying amount at default  29,081  24,082  4,999 

 Expected credit losses  (1,217)  -    (1,217)

 30 June 2020 

 Expected credit loss rate (2019/20 rates applied) 0.000% 4.624%

 Estimated gross carrying amount at default  61,912  62,600  10,488 

 Expected credit losses  (493)  -    (493)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables

2021 2020 
$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables:

Balance at start of period  493  162 

Increase in general ECL provision for the year  856  405 

Amounts written off during the period  (132)  (74)

Balance at end of period  1,217  493

 
During 2020/21 the amount of $132,144 was written off as a bad debt following approval by the Minister. 
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
(ii) Liquidity risk          

Liquidity risk is the risk that MRA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. MRA’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and adverse conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to MRA’s reputation.   

MRA limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counter-parties that have a credit rating of AA- from 
Standard & Poor’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.  

MRA uses market value to price its land, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return on investments. 
Typically MRA ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 30 days, including the 
servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as 
natural disasters.        

MRA’s contractual maturities of financial liabilities (including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements) are 
as follows:      

 Weighted 
 average 

 effective  
 interest rate 

 % 

 Carrying 
 Amount 

 Contractual 
 cash flows 

 6 months 
 or less 

6-12
 months 

 More than 
 1 year 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

2021

 Trade and other payables  -   4,213  (4,213)  (4,208)  (4)  -   

 WATC loans/Borrowings  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Lease Liabilities 2.10%  8,825  (10,206)  (457)  (465)  (9,285)

 13,038  (14,419)  (4,665)  (469)  (9,285)

2020

 Trade and other payables  -    5,338  (5,338)  -    -    -   

 WATC loans/Borrowings 1.78%  211,692  (211,692)  (19,224)  (27,522)  (164,946)

 Lease Liabilities 2.10%  9,279  (10,927)  (254)  (464)  (10,209)

 226,309  (227,957)  (19,478)  (27,986)  (175,155) 

(iii)  Market risk          

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect MRA’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.       

MRA currently has no derivative arrangements.     

As at 30 June 2021 MRA has no borrowings, during the year all MRA borrowings were paid back to Western Australian Treasury Corporation.  
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Interest rate risk       

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of MRA’s interest-bearing financial instruments 

 JUN-21 JUN-20
$’000 $’000

 Variable rate instruments 

 Financial assets  109,051  120,134 

 Financial liabilities 13,037  226,366 

     

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments:     

A change of 100 basis points (bp) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts 
shown below.        

2021  Profit or loss 

$’000  100 bp 
increase 

 100bp 
decrease 

 Financial assets  1,091  (1,091)

 Financial liabilities  (130)  130 

2020 
$’000
 Financial assets  1,201  (1,201)

 Financial liabilities  (2,264)  2,264

 

Fair values     

Fair values versus carrying amounts     

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of financial position, are as follows: 
    

30 June 2021 30 June 2020

 $’000  Carrying amount  Fair value  Carrying amount  Fair value 

 Cash and cash equivalents 81,186 81,186 51,894 51,894 

 Trade and other receivables 27,865 27,865 68,240 68,240 

 Trade and other payables (4,213) (4,213) (5,395) (5,395)

 WATC loan  -  - (211,692) (211,692)

 Lease Liabilities (8,825) (8,825) (9,279) (9,279)

 96,013  96,013  (106,232)  (106,232)

148 
MRA  

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 147 



METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 20 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

 2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Auditing of the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 87 69

87 69

NOTE 21 RELATED PARTIES
MRA is a wholly-owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia.      

Related parties of MRA include        

•  State Government Cabinet Ministers, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities.    

•  All directors and senior officers of MRA, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities.    

•  Other departments and statutory authorities, including their related bodies, that are included in the whole of government consolidated 
financial statements.     

•  Associates and joint ventures of an entity that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements.   

•  The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

Significant transactions with government related entities include;         

 •  Funding received from the Department of Treasury $211,539,000 and capital payments of $6,389,000  (refer to Contributions by and to State 
Government included in Note 17), and payments for Defined pension (included in Note 16).      

•  Payments to the West Australian Treasury Corporation of $225,739,943 for repayments of borrowings and interest and fees (refer to Note 2 
and Note 14).        

•  Sublease of office accommodation to the Minister of Works, of $919,239 (2020: $209,000) included in income from other public sector 
entities in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

• Services free of charge were received from the State Solicitors Office to the value of $179,000 (2020: $181,000).   
 

Material Transactions with Ministers, senior officers and their related parties      

Current MRA Non-Executive Directors are: George McCullagh, Simon Read, Jane Bennett, Dale Page, Rebecca Field, Simon Reed and Alan 
Carpenter. Alan Carpenter was a Board Director for part of the year from 30 September 2020. During the year Kylie Schoonens was a Board 
Member form 1 July 2020 to 30 September 2020. All Non-Executive Directors of MRA are Directors of the WALA.  

During the current year MRA received developer contribution plan income of $16,708,050 (2020: $nil) from the WALA, and appropriation grants 
of $9,620,000 (2020: $nil) were received. MRA paid $11,665,052 (2020:$5,920,350) to WALA for project expenses. The project expenses included 
recovery of costs for MRA assets and transition costs.     

Compensation of Key Management Personnel        

MRA has determined that the Key Management Personnel of MRA includes all Cabinet Ministers, the directors and senior officers of MRA.   

MRA is not responsible for the Cabinet Ministers compensation, disclosures in relation to a Minister’s compensation may be found in the Annual 
Report on State Finances.  

MRA Board Directors were not paid any fees by the MRA during the financial year. This decision was associated with administrative streamlining 
an efficiency measure for the operation of DevelopmentWA.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 21 RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED

 Compensation Band ($) 2021 2020 
 $150,000-$160,000 1 -

 $160,001-$170,000 1 -

 $170,001-$180,000 1 -

 $180,001-$190,000 1  2 

 $190,001-$200,000 -  1 

 $210,001-$220,000 -  2 

 $220,001-$230,000 -  - 

 $240,001-$250,000 1  1 

 $290,001-$300,000 -  - 

 $360,001-$370,000 -    1 

 5  7

 2021 2020
$’000 $’000

 Short-term employee benefits          1,005         1,547

 Post-employment benefits               80            120

 Other long-term benefits              19             (24)

Termination benefits             232            222

 Total compensation of key management personnel (excluding Ministers)          1,336         1,865
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 22 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS      
For assets that MRA controls there are no capital commitments as at 30 June 2021.   

NOTE 23 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES      
MRA and a developer have been in extensive discussions to reach a commercial resolution of a dispute, regarding excessive settlement costs in 
the Central Perth Redevelopment Area. If an agreement is reached, a Deed of Variation of the Project Agreement and a Deed of Settlement will be 
entered into. The MRA’s objective is for an outcome which will safeguard the MRA from any ongoing financial risk and liability. 

During the ordinary course of development activities MRA periodically has to undertake remediation works. MRA have sites classified as 
contaminated on the Contaminated Sites Report issued by the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation, as at 30 June 2021. In 
addition, these are properties requiring investigation for possible contamination. There is Insufficient information available to assess the 
financial impact of remediation required on any contaminated land held, which has yet to be developed. The uncertainties are due to the impact 
of development, current and future use which impacts the nature of any potential obligation, if any, and the level of contamination. Any costs 
that arise relating to remediation and decontamination activities are ultimately incurred as part of development activities, form part of MRA’s 
development costs and will impact Inventory. Refer to Note 5.

NOTE 24 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Operating lease receivables

MRA holds certain land and buildings for strategic purposes only. Such holdings are rentable properties and are treated as operating lease 
receivables. Total future lease receivables are as follows: 

No later that 1 year  1,480  765 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  6,318  3,323 

Later than 5 years  4,199  4,425 

 11,997  8,513 

Leases are negotiated with terms between two to five years with the exception of a number of contracts with terms of 20 years. Rental income 
is subject to future assessment based on the terms of the lease arrangements. Outstanding operating leases are based on existing rates and do 
not include the extension periods under option.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 25 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 23 September 2019 there was an administrative merger of Western Australia’s land development agencies, MRA and the WALA. Further MRA 
assets will be transferred to the WALA and to other State and local government agencies in 2022. Gifting assets to Local Government will result 
potentially in future financial impacts for MRA.

Approvals were granted in June 2021 to transfer the value of $9,932,465 in land and buildings from MRA to the WALA. The land will be transferred 
by a distribution to owner, at book value. MRA obtained an exemption from Treasury Instruction 955 requirement for equity transfers to transfer 
at fair value in accordance with AASB 13. Transfer will be effective on transfer of titles.

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT 
Part 1 - Statement of Comprehensive Income
These statements below provide details of any significant variations between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved Operational Plan 
2020/21) and actual results for 2021 and between the actuals results for 2021 and 2020 are shown below. Significant variations are considered to 
be greater of 10% and 1% of Total Expenses, for the statement of comprehensive income  (ie. 1% of $59,788,000).

Major Estimates versus Actual Narratives         
1.  Sales Revenue is lower than estimated and prior year due to asset transfers to WALA.    

2.  Developer Contribution Income is higher than estimated and prior year, due to more activity in the Forrestdale Business Park  
redevelopment area. 

3.  Interest is higher than estimated due to the recognition of interest on deferred payments of sales lots in relation to the Central Perth and 
Subiaco Redevelopment Areas pursuant to Australian Accounting Standards.    

4.  Other Income is lower than estimated due to lower rental and event income.   

5.  Fair Value for Distribution to owner is nil compared to prior year. Prior Year, Fair value adjustments were for asset transfers to WALA.  

6.  Fair Value Increments on Investment Property were less than prior year due to downward revaluations in 2021.   

7.  Costs of Goods Sold was lower than estimated due to sales in the 2020/21 financial year being lower than budgeted. Sales were lower in 2021 
compared to the prior year, hence cost of sales were lower. Refer to comment on Sales Revenue.    

8.  Employee Benefits were lower than estimated due to a reduction in the number of FTE’s.   

9.  Supplies and Services are higher than estimated and prior year, due to an unbudgeted legal settlement in Central Perth Redevelopment 
area. 

10.  Development Contribution Expense was lower than estimated and prior year, due to a lower works completed.   

11.  Finance Costs are higher than estimated and prior year, due to the early repayment premiums paid to retire legacy debt.  

12.  Property Maintenance expenses decreased from the prior year due to cost rationalisation and asset transfer.   

13.  Sales and Marketing are lower than estimate as this work is now undertaken by the WALA.   

14.  Infrastructure Development Expense was higher than estimated due to the inclusion of a provision for future contractual payments in 
respect of environmental remediation.   

15.  Fair value decrements of investment property are not included in the approved estimates as they are a function of market movements and 
therefore cannot be reliably estimated, refer to Note 1(s).   

16.  Write Down of Inventory to NRV is not included in estimates as per above and the prior year movement was related to Fair value adjustments 
for Asset transfers to WALA.   

17.  Grant funding is higher than estimates as the costs attributable to the MRA entity were higher than expected, and it was lower than the prior 
year as more of MRA previous project activities are undertaken by WALA.   
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED

Variance
Note

Actual 
2021

Estimate 
2021

Actual
2020

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2021  

and 2020 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

INCOME

SALES INCOME

Sales 1 3,177 8,600 18,032 (5,423) (14,855)

Developer Contribution Income (DCP) 2 27,962 9,728 3,115 18,234 24,847 

Interest 3 4,018 1,867 5,124 2,151 (1,106)

Rechargeable Works 283  - 274 283 9 

Other Income 4 3,193 8,678 6,704 (5,485) (3,511)

Fair Value for Distribution to owner 5  975  - 18,098  975 (17,123)

Fair Value Increments on Investment Property 6 62  - 3,080 62 (3,018)

TOTAL INCOME 39,670 28,873 54,427 10,797 (14,757)

EXPENSES

Cost of Goods Sold 7 12 2,531 11,657 (2,519) (11,645)

Employee Benefits 8 7,490 8,975 11,853 (1,485) (4,363)

Supplies and Services 9 12,624 523 6,630 12,101 5,994

Depreciation and Amortisation 9,349 8,884 9,642 465 (293)

Developer Contribution Expenses (DCP) 10 1,509 10,698 1,471 (9,189) 38 

Finance Costs 11 11,986 3,036 7,716 8,950 4,270 

Rechargeable Works Expenses 419  - 275 419 144 

Other Expenses 1,272 727 1,520 545 (248)

Property Maintenance 12 4,334 4,659 7,802 (325) (3,468)

Sales and Marketing 13 218 1,082 1,479 (864) (1,261)

Infrastructure Development Expense 14 4,145 598 8,248 3,547 (4,103)

Fair Value Decrements on Investment Property 15 6,430  - 8,145 6,430 (1,715)

Write Down of Inventory to Net Realisable Value 16  -  - 57,712  - (57,712)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 59,788 41,713 134,150 18,075 (74,362)

Net loss other than income from State Government (20,188) (12,840) (79,723) (7,278) 59,605

Income from State Government

Income from other public sector entities 919 - 209 - 710

Resources received free of charge 179  - 181 179 (2)

Grants and contributions from other government agencies 17 9,620 7,948 21,292 1,672 (11,672)

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (9,400) (4,892) (58,041) (4,508) 48,641

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation reserve (70) - - (70) (70)

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability 220  - (93) 220 313 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 150  - (93) 150 243 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD (9,250) (4,892) (58,134) (4,358) 48,884
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
Part 2 - Statement of Financial Position
These statements below provide details of any significant variations between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved Operational Plan 
2020/21) and actual results for 2021 and between the actuals results for 2021 and 2020 are shown below. Significant variations are considered to 
be the greater of 10% and 1% of Total Assets, for the statement of financial position (ie. 1% of $341,845,000).  

Major Estimate versus Actual Narratives        
1.  Cash and Cash equivalents is greater than estimated and the prior year due to receipt of deferred sale payments. 

2.  Restricted cash has increased compared to estimates and the prior year, as more Developer Contributions have been received in 2021. 

3.  Current Inventory balances are higher than estimated as Tranche four asset transfer was not completed in 2021, and higher than prior year 
due to a reclass of non current inventory.

4.  Assets held for distribution represent assets to be transferred to WALA in the next 12 months. This imminent transfer was not budgeted or 
presented in the prior year as it was expected to be transferred.

5.  Current receivables are higher than estimated as non current receivables were reclassed to current, and less than prior year due to 
repayment of deferred receivables. 

6.  Non Current receivables are lower than estimated as non current receivables were reclassed to current, and less than prior year due to 
repayment of deferred receivables. 

7.  Infrastructure plant and equipment has decreased from the prior year, and as per estimates, as there has been a reduction of assets due to 
disposals. 

8.  Investment properties decreased in comparison to estimates and prior year due to fair value adjustments, and reclassification of assets 
held for distribution, refer to comment 4 above.

9.  Borrowings are less than prior year and estimates as they were repaid in 2021. 

10.  Current provision increased in comparison to estimates and prior year due the recognition of contamination claims.  

11.  Equity contributions have increased due to capital equity funding provided by Treasury to repay MRA borrowings.  

12.  Accumulated Losses increased by the 2021 loss compared to prior year.
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED       
 

Variance
Note

Actual
2021

Estimate
2021

Actual 
2020

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2021  

and 2020

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1  20,466 2,799 13,847 17,667 6,619 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 2  60,720 25,319 38,047 35,401 22,673

Inventories 3 1,113 1,248 6,140 (135) (5,027)

Assets held for distribution to owner 4 9,932 - - 9,932 9,932

Receivables 5  10,034 2,528 38,597 7,506 (28,563)

Other Current Assets  77 2,513 100 (2,436) (23)

Total Current Assets 102,342 34,407 96,731 67,935 5,611

Non-Current Assets     

Inventories  -   - 1,555 - (1,555)

Receivables 6  17,979 35,872 21,556 (17,893) (3,577)

Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment 7  200,944 205,981 209,943 (5,037) (8,999)

Investment Properties 8 17,400 23,925 26,250 (6,525) (8,850)

Right of Use Assets  3,180 4,366 3,527 (1,186) (347)

Intangible Assets  -   130 4 (130) (4)

Total Non-Current Assets 239,503 270,274 262,835 (30,771) (23,332)

TOTAL ASSETS  341,845 304,681 359,566 37,164 (17,721)

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables  4,213 4,438 4,667 (225) (454)

Borrowings 9  -   24,049 211,692 (24,049) (211,692)

Lease Liabilities  674 91 449 583 225 

Other Liabilities  220 220 856 - (636)

Provisions 10  9,830 2,452 7,534 7,378 2,296 

Total Current Liabilities  14,937 31,250 225,198 (16,313) (210,261)
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED

Variance
Note

Actual
2021

Estimate
2021

Actual 
2020

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2021  

and 2020

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables  - 2,145 - (2,145) - 

Lease Liabilities  8,151 7,679 8,830 472 (679)

Provisions  2,099 4,363 4,363 (2,264) (2,264)

Other Non-Current Liabilities  986 728 728 258 258 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  11,236 14,915 13,921 (3,679) (2,685)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  26,173 46,165 239,119 (19,992) (212,946)

NET ASSETS  315,672 258,516 120,447 57,156 195,225 

Contributed Equity

Equity Contribution by Owners 11  680,294 650,083 475,819 30,211 204,475 

Asset Revaluation Reserve                                               -   70 70 (70) (70)

Accumulated Losses 12 (364,622) (391,637) (355,442) 27,015 (9,180)

 TOTAL EQUITY  315,672 258,516 120,447 57,156 195,225
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METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED
Part 3 - Statement of Cash Flows
These statements below provide details of any significant variations between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved Operational Plan 
2020/21) and actual results for 2021 and between the actuals results for 2021 and 2020 are shown below.  Significant variations are considered to 
be the greater of 10% and 1% of Total Expenses, included on the statement of comprehensive income (ie. 1% of $59,788,000).

Major Estimate versus Actual Narratives     
1.  Developer Contribution receipts have been impacted by increased works in the Redevelopment Areas of Forrestdale - this has produced 

more cash receipts than estimated and the prior year.   

2.  Receipts from Customers decreased as there has been less sales, compared to estimates and the prior year.    

3.  Developer Contribution Expenses decreased due to normalisation activities in Developer Contribution Areas compared to estimates and 
prior year.

4.  Payment to Suppliers and employees are reduced compared to estimates and prior year, due to the reduction in employees in the MRA and 
the reduction of activity in the MRA projects.

5.  Payments for Capital assets is less than estimates and prior year as all capital work is now undertaken by WALA.   

6.  Repayment of borrowings has increased compared to prior year as MRA repaid all borrowings in 2021.   

7.  Proceeds from borrowings increased compared to estimates as a small increase in borrowing was required in the year, prior to the full 
repayment of the loan, and decreased compared to the prior year due to less activity at MRA. 

8.  Interest charges were higher than prior year and estimates due to the extra fees and charges for early repayment of borrowings to WATC. 

9.  Lease liability payments were higher than prior year as there was a rent free period so no payments were made.   

10.  Grants or subsidies was reduced compared to estimates and prior year, as they were not paid directly to MRA in 2021 they were paid to WALA 
and oncharged to MRA.  

11.  The remaining cash to be distributed was lower than estimate and last year actual as MRA had higher than estimated expenses to be 
incurred.  

12.  Contributions to owners was greater than prior year due to a large Equity cash receipt was received in 2021 to repay MRA borrowings.  
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 26 EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTINUED       

Variance
Note

Actual 
2021

Estimate 
2021

Actual 
2020

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2021  

and 2020

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Interest received  137 - 482 137 (345)

Developer Contribution Plan receipts 1  27,962 9,728 3,115 18,234 24,847 

Receipts from customers 2  44,002 54,910 37,491 (10,908) 6,511 

Developer Contribution Expenses 3 (1,781) (10,965) (1,357) 9,184 (424)

Payments to suppliers and employees 4 (20,782) (35,162) (32,794) 14,380 12,012 

Net cash from operating activities  49,538 18,511 6,937 31,027 42,601 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for Capital Works

Payments for Capital Assets 5 - (1,839) (11,317) 1,839 11,317 

Proceeds/(Payments) for property, plant and equipment - - (672) - 672 

Net cash used in investing activities - (1,839) (11,989) 1,839 11,989 

 -    -   

Cash Flows from Financing Activities  -    -   

Repayments of borrowings 6 (214,344) (213,996) (56,466) (348) (157,878)

Proceeds from borrowings 7 2,652 - 20,201 2,652 (17,549)

Interest and charges paid on Financing activities 8 (12,985) - (7,929) (12,985) (5,056)

Payment of Lease Liabilities 9 (719) (643) - (76) (719)

Net cash from financing activities (225,396) (214,639) (44,194) (10,757) (181,202)

Cash Flows from State Government 

Grants and Subsidies 10 - 8,523 21,292 (8,523) (21,292)

Distribution to Owners 11 (6,389) (22,095) (21,405) 15,706 15,016 

Contributions from owners 12 211,539 211,539 56,716 - 154,823 

Net cash provided by/(used) State Government  205,150  197,967  56,603  7,183 148,547

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 29,292 - 7,357 29,293 21,935 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2020 51,894 (2,996) 44,537 54,890 7,357 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2021 81,186 (2,996) 51,894 84,183 29,292
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